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Business Model

An individual with care
requirements reguires a home.

The local authority designs a care
package, identifying a care provider
and property for the individual.

The care provider is paid the full
amount for the care package and
pays rent to the Approved Provider,
or the Approved Provider is paid
the rent directly.

The Approved Provider pays Civitas
amounts due under the lease.

What We Do

Social Housing Pioneers

CSH is a leading provider of care-based community
housing in the UK.

CSH belleves that access to a decent home is a basic

human right from which so much more can be achieved,

particularly for people who are living with a life-long
disability. With millions of pecple stuck on housing
waiting lists across the UK, or irapped in long stay
hospitals, CSH became the first public company to bring
large scale equity investment into the sector.

The Company has the dual objectives of achieving hoth
positive financial returns and large scale measurable
social impact
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Our Portfolio
as at 31 March 2023

Company Overview
as at 31 March 2023

# Alternative Performance Measures Terms are defined in the Glossary




Financial Highlights
as at 31 March 2023

How We Performed

Basic and Profit Before Tax EPRA EPS*
Diluted EPS: -42.0% £25.5m -43.1% 4.43p -8.1%
Pence £ milicn Pence

2023 2023 2023

(419 | EX [ 943
2022 2022 2022

7.23 44.8 4.82
2027 202! 2027

5.B0 361 4.93
NAV per share* NAV NAV increase since
109.16p -1.0% £661.9m -2.0% IPO#* -9.5%
Pance £ miinon Percent
2023 2023 2023
{1096 | | 6619 ]
2022 2022 2022

110.30 §75.5 12.6
2021 202 202%

108.30 873.5 10.6
Investment Dividends declared ?otal Shareholder o
property? (Ordinary shares) Return®
£978.1m +1.0% 5.70p +2.7% -16.5%
£ mithon fence Percant
2023 2023 2023
E2EE I BT
2022 2022 2cz2

968.8 5.55 11.6
2021 2021 202

915.6 5.40 26.5

# Alternative Performance Measures. Terms are defined in the Glossary.
1on an Ordinary share held since launch (percentage not annualised)
2 investment property independently valued. See note 150 of the Consoclidated Financial Statements for details of the valuation
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Key Achievements
Operational Highlights

CIVITAS SOCIAL HOUSING PLC
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o

697 properties £835 million 4,594 tenants based on suppaortied by across 178 local
acquired’ mvested! with dependable leng-term 131 care authority partners
accommedation leases signed with providers
19 Approved
Providers

The Good Economy, the social impact advisory firm, in its semi annual independent
Social Impact Report in Novemlber 2022 on Civitas, has classified Civitas assets

as ‘Contributes to Solutions’ according to the internationally recognised Impact
Management Project (IMP) dimensions of impact. TGE also notes that Civitas’
funding contributes to increasing the supply of specialist housing, easing the
hurden on residential or inpatient {acilities.

1 over the iife of the Company as at 31 March 2023

Levered IRR* since IPO
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This is our sixth Annual Report, covering the year to

31 March 2023 1 am pleased to report that, despite a
difficult economic backdrop in the UK, cur pertfolio has
continued to perform strongly, delivering on average a
5% increase in rental income derived from our inflation
adjusted leases.

Our [nvestment Adviser, Civitas Investment Management
Limited (*CIM"), has continued to work closely with our
Approved Providers to enhance further the quality of the
portfolio and to assist where needed in the process of
ensuring our rental income is received on a timely basis,

The net asset value of the Company at 31 March 2023 was
109.16 pence, a small decrease of 1.03% from 110.30 pence
per share as at 31 March 2022,

The Board declared a final dividend of 1.425p, bringing
the full year dividend to 5.70p, 1n line with the minimum
stated intention.

A difficult challenge during the year was the sharp
ncrease in interest rates. I am pleased that in february
2023 the Company entered into a new debt facility for
E£70.9m, which was partly used to repay the loan facility
with Lloyds. In addition, we also fixed our interest rate
exposure to provide greater certainty. However, the
overal] re-financing was achieved at a material increase
in ongoing interest costs. Full details are included in the
Investment Adviser's Report.

Our share price has been disappointing over the year
under review, reflecting in part the broad derating of
real estate investments, higher interest rates and investor
concern ahout our sector. The Board has been reviewing
a number of pessible actions to address this position.
The Company has continued to buy back shares - over
the past 12 months it has acquired 6,050,000 shares at an
average of 76 85 pence per share for a total investment

of £4 65 million This has enhanced the NAV by .30% and
benefited the EPRA earnings.

Continuation Vote

At the annual general meeting on 15 September 2022,
58.85% of those shareholders who voted have voted in
favour of the continuation of the Company.

Offer for the Company

Following the year end, on § May 2023 the Board
announced a rtecommended offer {or the Company at 8Cp
per share in cash, from a subsidiary of CK Asset Holdings
Lirnited (CKA).

Whilst the Board believes that the Offer undervalues the
long-term prospects of Civitas as expressed by net asset
value we also recognise that Civitas, and its sector as a
whole, {aces a number of challenges {n sentiment which
the public markets are unlikely to overcome in the short to
medium term.

The Offer provides liquidity to shareholders with the
opportunity to exit 1n full and in cash at a significant
prermium to the current share price, in a time of
macroeconomic uncertainty.

Moreover, CKA as a current investor in the social housing
sector, has a detailed understanding of the attractive
fundamentals of the real estate and the expertise of the
management team. CKA does not expect there tc be

any disruption to tenants as a result of the Otffer and will
ke focused on the continuation of relationships with
Approved Providers, care providers and the Regulator

of Social Housing following the completion of the Offer.
The Board therefore considers the terms of the Offer to be
fair and reasonable and we have recommended it 1o our
sharehclders.

Outlook

Demand for the type of properties within the Company's
portfolio remains strong with independent forecasts
predicting that there will be continued growth for

many years to come in the need for additional units

of adapted accommodation. The Board remains
confident in the strength of the portfolio and 1ts potential
revenue generation

Michael Wrobel

Chairman

28 June 2023
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Our Portfolio

By UK Region as at 31 March 2023
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Our Portfolio

By Approved Provider as at 31 March 2023

Annualised Contracted Rent Roll (%)
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Investment Adviser’s Report

In the yzar"to March 2023, CIM continued to work clbsely with the Board to manage
a high-performing portfolic.

Social Impact

4,594 high-quality bed spaces
£127.0 million savings to the public purse?
5 charitable relationships

Phase two work with £.ON

Centinued work across identified properties

Targeting 25% reduction in carbon emissions
Continued access to government grant funding sources
Targeting minimum EPC "A-C” by 2030

Highly Experienced Team
The asset management team set up to work with and assist our Approved Providers have

specialisms from:

CIVITAS SOCIAL HOUSING PLC
REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2023

Local authority commissioning of specialist supported housing
Senior level rents and housing benefit advisers

Housing management and compliance

Property asset management

Commissioning of care

1. Source: The Good Economy, Civilas Social Housing PLC, Annual Impact Report 2021, June 2021

—
o




Introduction

Civitas Investment Management Limited {“CIM" is the Investment Adviser to Civitas Social Housing PLC ("C3H') and is

the leading provider of care-based housing in the UK CIM cornprises a tearn of 39 individuals with a range of expertise
in specialist supported housing, real estate management and complex care needs CIM has the capacity and specialist
knowledge to manage the CSH portfclio at a granular level and has cultivated strong professional relationships across

the sector over the last decade

Overview of Results

In the UX prior to the launch of the Company, equity

and private capital played a very small part in the social
housing sector. Over time, UK dernographics changed and
the number of adults with long-term. complex care needs
has been steadily increasing.

This is reflected in a number of institutional investors
including aspects of social housing withun their
investment strategies.

Results Highlights

s Six years of consistent rental growth and progressive
dividend payments that have increased from an initial
3.00p per share to 5.70p per share for the year ended
31 March 2023.

» Aretained high-quality investment credit rating from
Fitch Ratings of A secured and A- unsecured since
March 2021, which CSH was the first to secure in
this sector.

e+ An actively managed portfolio of operational real
estate with a sector-leading team of professionals
assisting and enabling high quality and longevity of
homes and income.

e Professional support to enable Approved Froviders to
enhance the quality of their delivery and demonstrate
long-term financial and operaticnal independence.

s Targeting investments and homes which enable
the delivery of higher end care as this is where the
greatest need exists and where the applicability of
exempt rents is clearly demonstrated.

e« An active and continuing programme working
with E.ON to permanently reduce carbon emissions
across the portfolio, leading to lower energy costs for
residents and a more carbon neutral portfolio.

s Sector-leading partnerships with national and lacal
charities delivering real change and continuing to
enhance CSH's reputation as the most experienced
investor in social infrastructure in the UK

e (M has a highly experienced asset management
tearmn which has overseen some £25 million of physical
improvements to the portfolio since inception, largely
paid for by the vendors of the properties.

Sector-Leading Social Outcomes
ESG

Our ESG Policy is located at www.clvitassocialhousing.com.
It provides an overview of the Company's investment
procedures and sets out the Board's commitment to a
continuous improvement process in its approach to

ESG integration

ESG Rating Providers

CIM engages with the leading ESG rating providers to
set put the activities that are undertaken by CSH and

tc ensure these are profiled and evaluated correctiy.
Notably. active participation in the 2022 GRESB Public
Disclosure Assessment has resulted in CSH retaining

an A score previgusly attained in 2021, whilst the peer
group average score has moved up to B CSHis up

to second paosition within its Comparison Group (UK
Residential) Meanwhile, the Risk Rating Score for CSH by
Sustainalytics rerains at 14.9 (Low Risk) as was reported
in February 2023.
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Investment Adviser’s Report
Continued

The latest independent report by The Good Economy
on CSH was published in November 2022 and notes
CSH's continued progress in delivering measurable
social impact, Social value analysis by The Good
Economy, carried out in March 2021 found that, overal},
the portfclio generated £127 million of social value

per year, including fiscal savings to public budgets of
£75.9 million per year.

Of particular note with respect to the porticlio:

e 41% of CSH's 697 properties have been brought into
the specialist housing sector for the first time

e CSH continues regular engagement with 11s Approved
Providers to rmonitor the guality of its stock

s Improvement works have enhanced the energy
efficiency of homes

® 87% of respondents to the survey of residents carned
cut by CIM in March 2021 reported that they were
satisfied with the quality of their home

e C5H Approved Provider partners have reported $9%
statutory cempliance - considerably better than the
wider affordable housing sector

Environmental: Carbon Reduction/

Energy Cost Savings

CIM continues to work with E.ON (a leading UK energy
and solutions company) under a national framewaork
agreement in parmership with CSH tenants. to improve
the environmental performance of the portfcho The
“fabric first” approach to reducing the portfolio's
carbon footprint includes the installation of cavity wall
mnsulation, loft insulation, external wall insulation, air
source heat pumps and sclar PV and battery storage to
identified propernties within the portfclio The installation
of these energy efficient measures. utilising available
government grants and cther funding sources, will
optimise value for the Company, our counterparties
and our shareholders. The collaboration with EON 15
delivering significant environmental enhancements
without any cost 1o our Approved Providers.

The Phase 2 retrofit surveys will help to refine the
implementaticn programme and identfy the best
method for reducing the total carbon dioxide

emissions (and fuel costs) asseciated with individual
properties overl the medium or long term. The overall
energy performance of the portiolic, as identified

on Environmental Performance Certificates ("EPC”)
reports data has improved over the last 12 months. The
proportion of properties with EPC Rating A-C is currently
<.55% and the carbon footprint (estimated from property
charactenstics) has reduced by 2% per Civitas tenancy
{from 2.65 tonnes of CO;/tenancy in March 2022 to

2.61 tonnes of COx/tenancy) The whole social housing

sector, and indeed the whole housing secter, continues
10 require significant public investment if it is to meet the
current government guidelines on achieving net zero
carbon emissions by 2050

Government Policy and Regulation
Reforming the Mental Health Act

Current mental health legislation results in many people
with mental health issues or learning disability needs being
detained in large institutions that are often inappropriate
for the individuals. It is estimated by NHS Digital that there
was arse in annual mental health detentions from 45,864 in
2016/2017 1o over 53 238 in 2020/2021

Once people are sectioned into an institution it becomes
very difficult and costly to move them into a supported
living community setting.

As a result of these concems. the Government commissioned
an independent bedy chaired by Professor Sir Simon
Wessley in 2017 Currently in draft form in the Houses

of Parhament, the Mental Health Reform Act seeks to

raise the threshold for detaining people with a learning
disability and/or autism unless they have a coexisting
psychiatric disorder.

We believe that this Act will drive even rore demand for
community housing and care settings which are already in
short supply. further secunng the value and importance of
the CSH pontfolic,

The CSH portfolio will further benefit from the following
broader market dynamics:

Social Housing Regulation Bill 2023

The overall regulation of social housing is under review
with the main objective of delivering transfcrmational
change for social housing residents and fulfilling the
Government's 2019 manifestc pledge to “empower residents.
provide greater redress, better regulation and improve the
quality of social housing™

The implication of this review for CSH's portfclio is
expected 1o be positive as 1t aims 10 bring landlords cleser
to their tenants and more focused on addressing their
needs quickly Our Approved Providers are very close 1o
their residents’ needs and work in partnership with care
providers tc ensure good quality service outcomes, all
suppor.ed by the granular asset management provided by
CIM every day.



Investment Adviser’s Report
Continued

Supported Housing (Regulatory Oversight) Bill

This bili, which is under review, seeks to improve

the regulation and outcomes of supported exempt
accommodation. This follows reported cases, particularly
of temporary housing, that should not qualify as

exempt accornmodation,

Financial Review

As at 31 March 2023 the Net Asset Value of the Company was
£661.9 million, being 109.16 pence per share, a 1.03% decrease
on the 110.30 pence per shate af 31 March 2022 A net

fair value gain on investment properties of £2.6 million

(2022: £12.3 million) was recorded in the year.

Operational cash flows increased moderately to

£39.5 millicn (2022: £39.1 millicn). Ongoing rental collections
throughout the year supperted the Company’'s healthy
operating cash flows despite further increases to the cost of
deht as all facilities were put onto a fixed basis.

Rental Growth and Dividend

The portfolio generated rental income (excluding
any insurance and service charge rechargeables)
of £531 million, representing ¢.5% increase over the
corresponding period last year

The contracted rent roll now increases through indexation
only as no new equity has been raised and therefore no
new investments have been made 111 the period

During the year, the Company declared and paid four
dividend distributions including one dividend of 13875p
and three instalments of 1.4250p.

Debt Fixing and Reducing Risk

CIM arranged the following debt facilities which fixes debt
on the portfoiio at an average rate of 392% until August 2024
as is prudent in the current interest rate environment.

Remaining
Term at Loan
31 Mar 23 Principal
_Lenders 7_ Facility (years} _f£000 .&lj in rate
Scottish Widows Fixed 459 52,500 2.99%
Deutsche Bank Fixed 4.85 70875 5.69%
AG, London
Branch
HSBC Fixed by 267 100.000 460%
Interest
rate cap
NatWaest Fixed by 1.38 60,000 260%
Interest
rate swap
ME&G Fixed 491 84,5530 314%

3.67 367,925

We have received terms from lenders to refinance the
NatWaest facility which is due 1o expire in August 2024.

Governance

CIM continues to engage actively with the Company's
Approved Provider partners and care providers, offering
advice and shared learning.

The Board, comprised of five independent non-executive
Directors, carries out an annual Board performance
evaluation exercise and hosts periodic strategy sessions
in addition to regular planned Board meetings

Summary

CIM continues to closely and proacuvely asset manage
the largest porticlio of specialist care-based housing in
the UK

There is demonstrable demand in excess of supply

and significant further legislation that is likely to
continue to increase dernand for the properties in the
Company's portiolic

We continue to undertake cur work with a view to both
enhancing the value of the portfolio and protecting the
interest of our underlying tenants.

Civitas Investment Management Limited
Investment Adviser

28 June 2023
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Asset Management Initiatives

The Asset Managernent Team understand the value of a good home With nearly 100 years’ experience between them
working in the housing field, there is a lot of knowledge we can share

As part of our active asset management of the CSH poertfolio, we work with and support our partners tackling issues and
finding solutions to help sustain the tenancies of the most vulnerable peopie living in our homes.

A recent example of this was with Cole Street and Hampden Road. These properties are managed by Trinity Housing
Association and are popular properties with long standing residents. However, Trinity had struggled 1o meet its housing
benefit potential Officers from the team worked closely with Trinity and supported them to put the informaticn and
evidence together for tnbunal. Trinity won the tribunal and the matter was resolved with a full backdate and rent
agreed, This was a great result for the teamn and for the tenants at the schemes

Case Study

York Mews, Clacton-on-Sea

A detached two storey block of seven self-contained flats

constructed around the 1950s. Some external waorks were Before After

identified as being required and a review was undertaken Flat1 D b

at the asset. Assessment reports obtained suggested Flat 2 D T C

that replacing the heaters within the flats and other e R

minor works would improve the energy efficiency and, Flat 3 D C

in most cases, improve the EPC ratings at the same time, Flat 4 ) D D

We therefore tendered a programme of works over two - .

phases - the first phase just before the previous Winter Flat 5 D (&

period to replace the existing heaters with high heat . T -
Flat6 D [

reteniion storage heaters - the second phase during the

following Spring/Summer period was to undertake the Flat 7 E D

external works to remove the existing render, replace and
decorate to improve the exterior of the building.

CIVITAS SOCIAL HOUSING PLC
REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2023
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Corporate Social Responsibility Report

Sustainability

The business model of the Company is tc provide long-
term suitabie homes for individuals with care needs:
actihg in a sustainable manner is key to achieving

this aim. Properties that are owned by the Company
are tailored to meet the future needs of the tenants
and, where required, are actively asset managed

to provide long-term functionality and value to the
wider community.

Environment

During the investment due diligence phase, the Company
looks closely at the environmental impact of each
potential acguisition, and encourages a sustainable
approach for maintenance and upgrading properties.
Through collaborating with specialist developers and
vendors, the high standards the Company expects from
each investment in the care-based housing sector is
adopted by other companies in the sector.

Once within the portiolio, the properties of the Company
are actively managed, and the Investment Adviser
assesses whether there are opportunities to improve the
environmental efficiency of the properties, 1n addition to
other asset management initiatives. The Company has an
Environment, Social and Governance Policy which can be
found on the Company’s website This goes into further
detail about the Company's ESG approach and how it
integrates with investment strategy. Further details on the
Company's £SG approach can also be found on pages 37
10 46

The Board has considered the requirements to disclose
the annual quantity of emissions; further detail on this is
included in the Report of the Directors on page 52.

Diversity

The Company does not have any employees or office
space and, as such, the Company does not cperate a
diversity policy with regards to any administrative and
management functions.

Whilst recognising the importance of diversity in the
boardroom, the Company does not consider it to be

in the interest of the Group and its shareholders to set
prescriptive diversity criteria or targets. The Board has
adopted a diversity policy in respect of appointments

t0 be made to the Beoard and will continue to monitor
diversity, taking such steps as it considers appropriate
to maintain its position as a meritocratic and diverse
business. The Board's objective 1s to maintain effective
decision making, including the impact of succession
planning. All Board appointments will be made on merit
and have regard t¢ diversity regarding factors such as
gender, ethnicity, skills, background and experience.
This includes Director appointments to the Audit and
Manhagement Engagement Committee and Nomination
and Remuneratuon Commitiee. See Corporate Governance
Statement on page 56

The Board comprises three male and two

female non-executive Directors. Throughout the year.
the Company complied with the Hampton-Alexander
Review's target of a minimum 33% representation of
women on FTSE 350 boards.

The Board is aware of the recommendations of the
Parker Review, which will be taken intc consideration as
part of the Board's succession planning. See Corporate
Governance Statement on page 56.

The Board of Directors of the Company's subsidiaries.
which are non-cperational, each comprise one female
and up t¢ four male Directors.

Human Rights

Given the Company's turnover {or the year under review,
it now falls within the scope of the Modern Slavery

Act 2015. The Company published its modern slavery
statement on 22 September 2021

The Board is satisfied that to the best of its knowledge,
the Company's principal advisers, which are listed in
the Company Information section, comply with the
provisions of the UK Modern Slavery Act 2015.

The Company's business is solely 1n the UX and therefore
is considered (o be low risk with regards o human
rights abuses.

Community and Employees

The Cornpany's properties enable the provision of care

to some of the most vulnerable people in the community,
ensuring safe and secure accomrmodation, tailored to
meet individual care needs. The Company has increased
the provision of care-based housing, bringing new
supply t© the sector and providing homes to over 4,500
people All of the Company's properties enable the
provision of high levels of care, generating local jobs anad
helping to support local econormies.

The Company has no employees and accordingly no
requirement 1o separately report on this area.

The Investment Adviser is an equal opportunities
employer who respects and seeks to empower each
individua!l and the diverse cultures, perspectives, skills
and experiences within its workforce.



Section 172 (1) Statement and Stakeholder Engagement

Overview

The Directors' overarching duty is to act in good faith and
in 2 way that is most likely to promote the success of the
Company as set out in section 172 of the Companies Act
2006. In doing so, Directors must take inte consideration
the interests of the various stakehoiders of the Company.,
the impact the Company has on the community and the
environment, take a long-tenm view on conseqguences

of the decisions they make, as well as aim t¢ maintain a
reputation tor high standards of business conduct and
fair treatment between the members of the Company.

Fulfilling this duty naturally supports the Company

in achieving its investment cbjective and helps to
ensure that all decisions are made in a responsible and
sustainable way. In accordance with the requirements
of the Companies (Miscellanecus Reporting) Regulations
2018, the Company explains how the Directors have
discharged their duties under section 172 below.

To ensure that the Directors are aware of, and
understand, their duties, they are provided with the
pertinent information when they first join the Board

as well as receiving regular and cngoing updates and
training on the relevant matters. Induction and access
to training is provided for new Directors. They also
have continued access to the advice and services of
the Campany Secretary and, when deemed necessary,
the Directcers can seek independent professional advice
at the Company's expense. The Schedule of Matters
Reserved for the Board, as well as the Terms of Reference
of its committees, are reviewed regularly and further
describe Directors’ responsibilities and obligations and
mclude any statutory and regulatory duties, The Audit
and Management Engagement Committee has the
responsibility for the ongoing review of the Company’'s
risk management systems and internal controls and,

to the extent that they are applicabkle, risks related to
the matters set cut in section 172 are included in the
Company’s risk register and are subject 1o periodic and
regular reviews and monitoring.

Long-term Success

The strategy of the Company can be found on pages

26 10 29, Any deviaticn from, or amendment to, that
strategy is subject 1o Beard and, if necessary. shareholder
approval. The Company's business model, which can be
found on page 26, provides that the Board considers the
long-term consequences cf its investment decisions.

The Company grants long-term leases, generally 20 years
in length. to its tenants. The Company seeks to maintain
lasting relationships with its tenants and supporis its
tenants in adapting properties to meet their needs,
particularly improving and enhancing propertes. Further
details can be found on pages 37 10 46.

Stakeholders

A company'’s stakehclders are normally considered to
comprise its shareholders, its employees, its customers
and its suppliers as well as the wider community in
which the company operates and impacts. The Company
is different in that as an investment trust it has no
employees and, in terms of suppliers, the Company
receives professional services frorn a number of different
providers, principal among them being the Investment
Adviser

Through regular engagement with its stakeholders,

the Board aims to gain a rounded and balanced
understanding cf the impact of 1ts decisions. Feedback
from stakeholders is gathered by the Investment Adviser
in the first instance and communicated to the Board in its
regular quarterly meetings and otherwise as required.

The importance of stakeholders is taken into account

at every Board meeting, with discussions invelving
careful consideration of the longer-term consegquences
of any decislons and their implications for stakeholders.
The foliowing section explains why these stakeholders
are considered of importance 1o the Company and the
actions taken to ensure that their interests are taken into
account by the Board as part of its decision making.
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Section 172 (1) Statement and Stakeholder Engagement

Continued

Our stakeholders Key areas of interest
Shareholders e Current and
Continued future financial
shareholder performance on
support and both a NAV and
engagerment are share price basis

critical ta the » Strategy and
existence of the business model
business and the
delivery of the

long-term strategy
of the business. e ESG performance

and sustainability

e Corpoerate
governance

» Climate Change
s Dividend

How we engage

The Board welcomes shareholders views and places great importance

on comrnunication with the shareholders of the Company. The Board is
respensibie for the content of communicaucn regarding corporate issues
and for communicating its views to shareholders The Board auns to ensure
that shareholders are provided with sutficient information to understand
the risk/reward balance ¢ which they are exposed by the holding of

shares in the Company. Active engagement with shareholders is carried out
throughout the year and regular communication 15 undertaken to ensure that
they understand the performance of the business. The Board is committed
to malntaining apen channels of communication and to engaging with
shareholders in a manner which they find most meaningful, in order to gain
an understanding of the views of shareholders. These channels include.

Annual General Meeting - The Company welcomes and encourages
attendance, voting and participation from shareholders at the AGM, at which
shareholders have the opportuntty to meet the Directors and Investment
Adviser and to address questians to them directly. The Invesunent Adviser
attends the AGM and provides a presentation on the Group's perfermance and
its future outlook. The Company values any feedback and questions 1t may
receive from shareholders ahead of and during the AGM and takes action,

as appropriate. The Board was pleased to note that all resclutions proposed at
the Company's AGM on 15 September 2022 were approved by sharehaolders.

Publications — The Annual Report and Half-Year Results are made available

on the Company's website. These reports provide shareholders with a clear
understanding of the Group's portfolio and financial pesition. In addition to the
Annual and Half-Year Reports. reqularly updated information is available on
the Company website. inciuding quanierly factsheets. key policies, the investor
relations policy and details of the investment property portfolio. Feedback and/
or questions the Company recejves from the shareholders help the Company
evolve its reporting alrmung to render the reports and updates transparent and
understandable

Shareholder meetings - Shareholders are able 1o meet with the Investment
Adviser and the Company's joint Brokers throughout the year and the Investment
Adviser provides information on the Company on the Company's website.
Feedback from all shareholder meetings with the Investment Adviser and/or the
Joint Brokers, and shareholders’ views, are shared with the Board on a regular
basis. The Chairman and other members of the Board, including the Senior
Independent Directer and Chalr of the Audit and Management Engagement
Cornmittee, are avalabie 10 meet with shareholders to understand their views on
governance and the Company's performance where they wish tc do sa.



Section 172 (1) Statement and Stakeholder Engagement

Continued
Qur stakeholders Key areas of interest
Shareholders s Cyrrent and
Ceontinued fhature financial
shareholder performance on
support and both a NAV and
engagemernt are share price basis
critical to the « Stategy and
existence of the business model
business and the
delivery of the Corporate
governance

long-term strategy
of the business. s ESG performance

and sustairability
e (Climate Change
s Dividend

How we engage

Shareholder concerns — The Board gives due consideration to matters

raised by shareholders. In the event shareholders wish to raise issues or
concerns with the Board or the Investment Adviser, they are weicome (o
write to the Company at the registered office address set out on page 131

In line with increasing shareholder focus on Environmental, Social and
Governance ("'ESG") matters, the Board requests regular updates from the
Investment Adviser. The Board retains overall responsibility for ESG issues
and the Company's operational performance. Implementation of ESG
matiers are undertaken by the Investment Adviser on behalf of the Board.

Furthermore, ESG reporting has been disclosed on pages 37 to 46 in the
Annual Report and the Board is open to discussion with shareholders on
this topic if requested.

Investor relations updates — The Board regularly monitors the
sharehoclder profile of the Company. With the majority of shareholders
being a combination of institutional investors and private client brokers,
the Board receives regular updates on investors' views and athitudes
from the Company's Brokers and the Investment Adviser. The results of
these meetings are reported to the Board as part of the formal reporting
undertaken by both the Investment Adviser and Brokers

Included in the Report of the Directors on page 51 are details of
substantial shareholdings in the Company.

On a regular basis (sometimes weekly) and at Board meetings, the
Directors receive updates from the Company's Brokers on the share

trading activity, share price performance and any shareholders' feedback.

as well as an update from the Company's Investor Relations adviser,
Buchanan. and the Investment Adviser on any publications or comments
by the press. To gain a deeper understanding of the views of its
sharehoiders and potential investors, the investment Adviser maintains
regular contact with them and alsc undertakes investor roadshows.

Any relevant feedback is taken intc account when Directors discuss any
possible fundraising or the future dividend policy.

Following the year end, the Board recemmended an cffer to sharehelders
of 80 pence for each share held in the Company from Wellness Unity
Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of CK Asset Holdings Limited). During
the Takeover Offer process. the Board engaged with shareholders and
received their views on the Takeover Offer. which it took into account
during its discussions. Further informaticn cn the Board's decision in
relation tc the Takecver Offer can be found on pages 25 and 52.
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Key areas of interest How we enpage

Cur stakehalders
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Other service

an investment
vehicle through
which they can
cbtain exposure
to the Company's
portfolio of
properties. The
Investment
Adviser's
performance

is critical for

the Company

to successiully
deliver it
mvestment
strategy and
meet its objective
to provide
shareholders
with an attractive
level of income,
together with

the potential for
capital growth.

providers

In order to
functicn as a RE[T
with a premium
listing on the
London Stock
Exchange, the

Company relies on
a diverse range of
reputable advisers

for support
in meeting
all relevant
obkligations.

objectives with
the Company
Operational
excellence
Long-term
development of
1ts business and
TESOUICEs

ESG performance
and sustainability

Investment Current and The asset management of the Company's portfolic is delegated to
Adviser future financial the Investment Adviser, which manages the assets in accordance
Heldirg the performance with the Company's objectives and policies. At each Board meeting,
Company’s shares Shared representatives from the Investment Adviser are in attendance to present
offers investors commercial reports to the Directors covering the Company's current and future

activities, portfolio of assets and its investment performance over the
preceding period.

Maintaining a close and constructive working relationship with the
Investment Adviser is crucial as the Board and the Investment Adviser
both aim to continue to achieve consistent long-term returns in line
with the Company's investment objective. Important components of the
culture of hoth the Company and the [nvestment Adviser are:

operating in a fully supportive, co-operative and open environment
and maintaining ongoing communication with the Board between
formal meetings;

e encouraging open discussion with the Invesiment Adviser, allowing
time and space for original and innovative thinking;

s recognising that the interests of stakeholders and the investment
Adviser are for the most part well aligned, adopting a tone of
constructive challenge;

s drawing on Board members’ individual experience and knowledge to
support the Investment Adviser in its monitoring of and engagement
with other stakeholders; and

e willingness to make the Board members’ experience available to
support! the Investment Adviser in the sound long-term development
of {ts business and resources, recognising that the long-term health
of the Investment Adviser is in the interests ¢f shareholders in the
Company.

Current and

future financial
performance

Shared
comrmercial
ohijectives with
the Company
Operational
excellence

Long-term
development
of the service
providers’
businesses

Sustainabihty

The Company's main functions are delegated to a number of service
providers, including the Administrator, the Company Secretary. the AIFM,
the Registrar, the Corporate Brokers and the Depositary, each engaged
under separate contracts. The Board maintains regular contact with its
key external providers and receives regular reporting from them, both
through the Board and Comimittee meetings, as well as outside of the
regular meeting cycle Their advice, as well as their needs and views,
are routinely taken into account. Through its Audit and Management
Engagement Committee, the Board formally assesses their performance,
fees and continuing appointment at least annually to ensure that the
key service providers continue to function at an acceptable level and
are appropnately remunerated to deliver the expected level of service.
The Audit and Management Engagement Committee also reviews and
evaluates the contral environment in place at each key service provider.



Section 172 (1) Statement and Stakeholder Engagement
Continued

Our stakeholders Key areas of interest How we engage

Care providers » Current At the outset, it is important to note that the Company does not have
and future any legal or operational responsibility for the delivery of care in the
perfermance properties within the portfolic. However, the Board and the Investment

Adviser have taken the view that they wish to have a detailed
understanding of the delivery of care and the interaction with the major
care providers who deliver this care. Accordingly, the Investment Adviser
maintaing an active dialogue with many of the care providers to build
= Void constructive and informed relationships.

management

»  Welfare of
tenants

» Lease obligations

At the same time, as part of transaction due diligence at the time of
acquisition of properties, the Investment Adviser undertakes due
diligence with respect to the operational and financial performance of
all care providers who are proposed to deliver care into the particular
properties. This includes the financial standing of the care provider. its
CQC rating and the nature of the SLA agreement covering voids between
the care provider and the Approved Provider.

The Investment Adviser is noted as having demonstrated considerable
expertise and understanding of the care taking place within its

properties.
Tenants » Greater The Company's properties are adai)téd for the use of individuals with

independence leng-term care needs within a community setting with the specific

s Maintaining high §1’m qf achieving better personal outcomes and independence for the
level of care individuals.

= Improved The sector in which the Company operates is regarded as having
personal achieved significant success in delivering these positive outcomes
outcomes compared to long-term older style remote institutional care.

On a regular basis. members of the Investrnent Adviser visit properties
accompanied by Approved Provider and care provider partners to see
first hand the nature of the housing and care provision that is being
delivered. Whilst this process has slowed as a result of the pandermnic.
the Investment Adviser has continued (o engage with its tenants This
is supported by the regular Approved Provider seminars at which the
wellbeing of tenants is discussed in detail.

In addition, the Company undertakes resident case studies and surveys
through careful and considered interaction via the care provider to
assess the positive impact our properties and associated specialised care
have had on the individual and their wellbeing.
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Section 172 (1) Statement and Stakeholder Engagement

Continued
Qur stakeholders Key areas of interest How we engage
Approved s Current The Company's Approved Provider partners are an important part of the
Providers and future investment model as the responsibility for collection of housing benefit
performance and subsequent payment of rent, the maintenance of the properties
s Sustainability under the full repairing and insuring leases and, most impertantly, the
. safeguarding of the underlying tenants through the above means, lies
s Compliance ) )
with the Approved Providers.
and property
management The Investment Adviser works closely with the Company's Approved
o  Welfare of Provider parners to improve standards and governance and to introduce
tenants practices and procedures that make the Company's investment processes
» Lease obligations €Ver more robust
The Investment Adviser has a regular open dialogue with the Approved
Provider partners, liaising monthly on compliance, health and safety.,
maintenance and future-procfing schemes. as well as hosting quarterty
seminars to discuss current themes/trends affecting the sector and to
troubleshoot This serves as an opportunity 1o build relationships and
share best practice.
The Investment Adviser is supported by the establishment of The Social
Housing Family CIC, a not-for-profit comrmunity interest company
operated independently of the Company whose stated aim is to enable
Approved Providers holding the Company's leases to increase skilis and
experience and to provide funding 10 promote enhanced performance.
Membership is cpen to any Approved Provider that holds Civitas leases
and the effect of membership is to transfer ownership of the Approved
Provider 1o the social housing family. Auckland Homes Solutions was the
first Approved Provider 1o join and has now recruited a very experienced
and senior executive team and board of management. Qualitas
community benefit society has also joined the CIC.
Regulator o e Financial and The Company is not itself regulated by the RSH, but it 1s imponant 1o
Saocial Housing operational maintain open and regular dialogue to ensure that the Company and the
(RSH) viability RSH are working together to improve the sector.

» {Governance

s Compliance with
health and safety,
and regulatory
standards

s Safety and
wellbeing of
underlying
tenants

The Investment Adviser has a regular and ongoing dialogue with the RSH
and with the Approved Provider partners regulated by the RSH

The Company also publishes responses to the regulatory judgements of
the RSH regarding the Approved Providers working with the Company as
part of the RSH's general review of Approved Providers engaged in the
provision of property services for vulnerable people as announced

1in May 2018, This demonstates the Company's desire to rnaintain a
dialogue with the RSH and its desire to see that the positions improve
where needed.




Section 172 (1) Statement
Continued

Qur stakeholders Key areas of interest

Other regulatory e Compliance
authorities with statutory
The Company can and regulatory
only operate with requirements

the approval of e« Covernance

its regulators who based on best
have a legitimate practice guidance

interest in how
the Company
gperates in the
market and treats
its shareholders.

e Better reporting
to shareholders
and other
stakeholders

Local autherities e Frovision of
safe and secure
properties of a
high quality

e Sustainability
for leng-term

placements
Lenders e Cyrrent axg T
Availability of future financial
funding and performance of
liquidity are the business
crucial to the e Openness and
Company's ability transparency
1o take advantage .
) Proactive
of investment approach 1o
opportunities as pE c : .
communication

they arise.
» Operational

excellence

and Stakeholder Engagement

How we engage

The Company regularly considers how it meets various regulatory and
statutory obligations and tollows voluntary and best practice guidance,
and how any governance decisions it makes can have an impact on

its shareholders and wider stakeholders, both in the shorter and in the
longer-term.

The Board receives quarterly regulatory compliance monitoring updates
from the [nvestment Adviser.

The Beard receives quarterly compliance updates from the AIFM regarding
the Company's compliance with its invesiment policy and the Investment
Adviser's compliance with the Investrnent Management Agreement

The Board also has access to the advice of the Company Secretary who
provides updates and advice on regulatory, statutory and governance
matters for consideration by the Board at its quarterly meetings and as
and when required.

It is important for the Company to build and maintain relationships with
local authorities as they have an important rele in identifying areas

of high demand, agreeing rents and referrals to the Company's asset
management initiatives.

The Company will engage with the local authority commissioner either
directly, or through specialist consultants, Approved Provider and care

provider partners as part of the Company's due diligence to ensure that
each property being acquired has been commissioned by the relevant

local authority and that rent levels have been discussed and agreed

The Company has arranged debt facilities from a wide range of lenders
and engages with these on a regular basis through regular meetings and
presentations to ensure they are informed on all relevant areas of the
business. The continual dialogue helps to support the credit relationships.

The Company has reaffirrned its Investrent Gracde High Credit Guality
Rating from Fitch Ratings Limited of “A” (senior secured) and a Long-Term
IDR (Issuer Default Rating) of "A-" with a Stable Outlook.

This wili enable the Company to pursue iis strategy in relation to debt
funding. in addition to continuing to work with the Company's existing
lenders, with whom the Company has built sttong relationships.

During the year, the Board considered and closed a five year termn debt
facihity with Deutsche Bank AG. Further information can be found on
page 25.
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Section 172 (1) Statement and Stakeholder Engagement

Continued

Our stakehalders

Communities

The Company's
dassets rely on a
strong, positive

connection
with the local

communities in

which its business

Operates.

aarity ﬁartners

Key areas of interest

Acceptance

of care in the
community
Availability of
local facilities for
tenants

How we engage

A key component of the Company’s portfolio is that the properties within
it are set within community environments so that individuals are able as
part of their care plan to interact with the local community rather than
being isclated.

This is achieved in consuitation with local authorities in determining
that the initial settings are appropriately diversified within the respective
comrunity and are not clustered in a way that would {ead 1o isolation.

This assists the individuals and also ensures appropriate integration
within the community. On a day-to-day basis, care providers and
Approved Providers operate policies to ensure positive relationships
with neighbours and surrounding dwellings. The activities within the
Company's properties create employment within the local community for
both housing and care workers.

Delivering
needed support
1o vulnerable
adults

Improved
wellbeing of
vulnerable adults

ESG performance
and sustainability

The Company sdﬁpons a number of crganisations whose ébjectives
are to provide improved outcomes for vulnerable aduits affected by
homelessness and other care needs.

The Company commits targeted financial support tc fund specific
programmes which help those affected by homelessness by teaching
them skills and offering support to prevent them from being in that
position again.

The Company ensures regular calls and meetings with our charity
partners to update on progress and projects being undertaken. as well as
attending events in support of their work



Section 172 (1) Statement and Stakeholder Engagement

Continued

Principal Decisions

Principal decisicns have been defined as those that have
a material impact to the {roup and its key stakehoiders.

In taking these decisions, the Directors considered their
duties under section 172 of the Act. Principal decisions
made during the year were as [ollows:

New Regulatory Clause Initiative

In 2022, the Board considered and agreed a new
approach to the Company's lease model with the geal
of supporting additional regulatory compliance and
addressing perceptions of risk. The new regulatory
clause enables Approved Providers to achieve greater
alignment between income receipts and lease liabilities,
sat achievable capital solvency requiremernts against
lease obligations and demonstrate a further degree of
risk sharing.

The new |lease clause has, following detailed negotiation
including legal input, received approval from the boards
of two initial housing associations with whom it had
been discussed. The Company had previousiy sought
and cbtained forma! written confirmation from itg
valuers that the inclusion of a clause of this type within
the Company's new and existing leases will not of itself
cause a diminution in the value of those leases or in the
underlying assets.

Takeover Dffer

As announced on 9 May 2023, the Board made the
decision to recommend to sharehelders an all-cash offer
of 80 pence for each share of the Company by Wellness
Unity Limited (a2 wholly owned subsidiary of CK Asset
Holdings Limited).

Although the Board believes the offer undervalues

the long-term prospects of the Company, the Board
recognises that the Company and the sector in which

it operates faces a number of challenges in light of the
current macro environment and outlock This includes
the considerable negative sentiment in the puklic
markets towards the Company and the sgcial housing
sector which the Board believes are unlikely 1o be
overcome in the short to medium term and will continue
1o have a material impact on the Company's share price
prospects. [n addition. despite delivering on revenue,
NAV and dividend growth since IPO, the Company's
shares have traded for some time at an entrenched
discount to NAV

On 23 June 2023, the Offer became unconditional

Up<ates to Debt Arrangements

Durnng the year. the Board considered and closed a new
five year term deht facility of ¢.£71 million with a major
European bank lender.

The facility was deployed in full to redeem the
Company's existing facility with Lloyds Bank of

£60 million as well as providing additional liquidity. As a
result, all of the Cormpany's debt facilities are at 100% fixed
or capped rates.

Buyback Programme

During the yvear the Board monitored the decline in the
Company's share price and in response, the Board agreed
the implementation of a share buyback programme
under certain parameters. which is being operated by the
Cormpany's Joint Brokers.

Further information on the Company’s buyback
programme can be found on page 50
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Strategic Overview

Purpose of the Company

The Company was established in 2016 with the purpose
of delivering long-term responsible, stable returns to
investors and achieving positive measurable social
impact and ESG benefits on a large scale. It should
achieve this as a result of introducing long-term equity
capital into the social housing sector with a particular
focus on care-based community housing. By doing so,
this would form a bridge between equity investors and
the social housing sector and bring together aspects of
healthcare with social housing.

The Company has since developed the largest port{clio
of care-based community housing in the UK that provides
long-term homes for more than 4,500 individuals across
half the local autherities in England and Wales.

As a result of this success, the Company extended its
mandate 1o be able to enter into transacuons directly
with the NHS and with leading charities with an interest
in the provision of specialist housing that kas a strong
care or support element, is consistent with public policy
and whose costs are met by the public purse for which it
offers value for money

Investment Objective

The Company's investment objective 1s to provide
shareholders with an attractive level of income, together
with the potential for capital growth from investing in a
portfolio of Social Homes, which benefits from inflation
ad)usted long-term leases or cccupancy agreements with
Approved Providers and to deliver, an a fully invested
and geared basis, a targeted dividend yield of 5% per
annurn!, which the Company expects to increase broadly
n line with inflation

Investment Policy

The Company’s investment policy 15 to invest in a
diversified portfolio of Social Homes throughout

the United Kingdom. The Company intends to meet

the Company's investment objective by acquiring,
typically indirectly via Special Purpose Vehicles,
portfolios of Social Homes and entering into long-term
inflation adjusted leases or occupancy agreemernts

for terms primarily ranging from 16 vears to 40 years
with Approved Providers. where all management

and maintenance obligations wili be serviced by the
Approved Providers. The Company will not undertake
any development activity or assume any developrnen: or
construction nsk. However, the Company may engage in
renovating or customising existing homes. as necessary

The Company may make prudent use of leverage (o
iinance the acqusition of Social Homes and 1o preserve
capital on a real basis

The Company is focused on delivering capital growth
and expects to hold its Portfolio over the long term and
therefore it is unlikely that the Company will dispose
of any part of the Porticlic. In the unlikely event that a
part of the Portfollo is disposed of, the Directors intend
1o reinvest proceeds from such disposals in assets in
accordance with the Company's investment policy.

Investment Restrictions

The Company invests and manages the Portfolio with the
objective of delivering a high quality. diversified Portiolio
through the following investment restrictions:

e the Company only invests in Social Hornes located in
the United Kingdom;

e the Company only invests in Social Homes where the
counterparty to the lease or occupancy agreement is
an Approved Provider:

e nolease or occupancy agreement shall be for an
unexpired period of less than 10 years, unless the
shorter leases or occupancy agreements represent
part of an acquisition of a portfolic which the
Investinent Adviser intends to recrganise such that
the average term of lease or occupancy agreernent is
increased 1o 15 years or above;

s the aggregate maximum exposure to any single
Approved Provider is 25% of the Gross Asset Value,
once the capital of the Company is fully invested;

e noinvestment by the Cormnpany in any single
geographical area, in relation to which the houses
and/or apartment blocks cwned by the Company are
located on a contigucus or largely contiguous asis,
exceeds 20% of the Gross Asset Value of the Company:

e the Company only acquires completed Social Homes
and will not farward finance any developiment of new
Social Hames;

e the Company does not invest in other alternative
investment funds or ciosed-end investment
companies; and

= the Company is not engaged in short selling.

The investment limits detailed above apply at the time of
the acquisition of the relevant investment in the Portfchio
once fully invested. The Company would not be required
to dispose of any iInvesiment or 10 rebalance the Portiolio
as a result of a change 1n the respective valuations of 1ts
assets.

Gearing Limit

The Directors seek ‘o use gearing to enhance equity
returns. The level of borrowing is set on a prudent basis
for the asset class and seeks to achieve a low cost of
funds. whilst maintaining the flexibility 1in the underlying
security requirements and the structure of both the
Porifolio and the Company

1 The dividend yield is based on the onginal [PO price of 100 pence per Ordinary share The target dividends are targets only and do not represent a protit forecast
There can be no assurance that the targets can or will be met and should not be taken as an indication of the Company 3 expected or actual future results
Accordingly, potential investors should not place any reliance on these 1argets 1n deciding whether or not to 1nvest in the Company or assurne that the Company
will make any distnibutions at all, and should decide for themselves whether or not the target dividend yields are reasonable or achievable



Strategic Overview
Continued

The Company may, following a decision of the Board,
raise ¢tebt from banks and/or the capital markets and the
aggrogate borrowings of the Company is alwaye subject
to an absolute maximurm of 40% of Gross Asset Value
calculated at the time of drawdown. Current gearing is
35.61% (2022: 34.43%)

Debt 1s secured at asset level, whether over a particular
property or a holding entity for a particular series of
properties, without recourse to the Company and also
potentially at Company leve! with or without a charge
over the Portfolio (but not against particular assets),
depending on the optimal structure for the Company and
having consideration to key metrics including lender
diversity, cost of debt, debt type and maturity profiles.
Otherwise there will be no cross-financing between
investments in the Portiolio and the Company will not
operate as a common treasury function between the
Company and its investments.

Use of Derivatives

The Company may choose to utihse derivatives for
efficient partfolio management. In particular, the
Directors may engage in full or partial interest rate
hedging or otherwise seek to mitigate the risk of interest
rate increases on borrowings incurred in accordance
with the gearing limits as part of the management of the
Portfolhe.

Cash Management

The Company invests in cash, cash equivalents, near
cash instruments and money market instruments

Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)

Explananon

_Measure

REIT Status

The Directors conduct the affairs of the Company so as to
enable it to remain qualitied as a REI'L tor the purposes
of Part 12 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 {and the
regulations made thereunder).

Culture

The Directors agree that establishing and maintaining

a healthy corporate culture amoeng the Board and in its
interaction with the Investment Adviser. shareholders
and other stakeholders will support the delivery of its
purpose, values and strategy. The Board seeks to promate
a culture of openness, debate and integrity through
ongoing dialogue and engagement with its service
providers, principally the Investment Adviser.

As detailed in the Corporate Governance Statement,
the Company has a number of policies and procedures
in place to assist with maintaining a culture of good
governance, including those relating to diversity and
Directors’ conflicts of interest. The Board assesses and
monitors compliance with these policies as well as the

general culture of the Board through Board meetings and,

in particular, during the annual evaluation process which
is undertaken by each Direcior {for more informaticon, see
the performance evaluation section on pages 56 and 57).

The Board's culture itself is cne of gpenness,
collahoration and constructive debate to ensure the
effective contribution of all Directors, particularly in
respect of the Board's decision making. Consideration
of our stakeholders is embedded in the Board's decision
making process. Please see our section 172 Statement on
pages 17 to 25.

Increase in NAV Target to achieve capltal appremanon whilst

NAV increase of 11.2p per share 114%

per share

Dividends per
share

Number of loca]
authorities,
Approved
Providers and
care providers

Loan (o]
Gross Assets
(Leverage)

rmaintaining a low risk strategy from enhancing
the gquality of cash flows from investments. by
physical improvement of properties and by
creating a significantly diversified. high-quality
portfollo

For the year endéd 31 March 2023 the Company
targeted a dwldendrof 5.70p per ;hare -

Target nisk mitigation through a diversified
portiolic {once fully invested) with no more
than 25% exposure to any one local authority or
single Approved Provider and no more than 20%
exposure to any single geographical area. once
the capital of the Company is fully invested.

Targeted total debt drawn no more than 40% of '
gross assets.

from IPO (2022: 12.3p per share 12.6% from [PO).

Total dmdend of 8. 7Dp per share dectared for t-he'
year to 31 March 2023 (2022: 5. 5.55p)

As at 31 March 2023

e 178 local authority partners (2022: 178 local
authority partners)
19 Approved Prowviders (2022 18 Approved Providers])
131 care providers (2022: 130 carg providers)

The Company's largest single exposure 15 to Falcon

Housing Association CIC and currently stands at 19%
2022:19%). The largest geographical concentration 18
in the South West, bemg 14% (2022 16%)

Leverage: as at 31 March 2023 of 35 61% of gross
assets (2022: 34.43%).
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Definition

Purpose

Performance

Strategic Overview

Continued

EPRA

The Company is a member cf the European Public Real Estate Association ("EPRA"). EPRA has developed and defined
the following performance measures to give transparency. comparability and relevance of financial reporting

across entities which may use different accounting standards. The Company is pleased to disclose the following
measures which are calculated in accordance with EPRA guidance. These are all Alternative Performance Measures of

the Company.

EPRA Earnings

Earnings from operational
activities.

A key measure of a
company’s underiying
operating results and an
indication of the extent 1o
which current dividend
payments are suppcrted
by earnings.

EPRA Net Reinstatement
Value (“NRV™)

EPRA NAV metric which
assumes that entities never
sell assets and aimns to
represent the value required
to rebuild the entity.

EPRA Net Tangible Assets

(“NTA")
EPRA NAV metric which

assumes that entities buy

and sell assets, thereby

crystallising certain tevels of
unavoidable deferred tax

EPRA Net Disposal
Value (*“NDV")

EPRA NAV metric

which represents the
shareholders’ value under
a disposal scenario,
where deferred tax,
financial instruments and
certain other adjustments
are calculated to the full
extent of their liabihity, net
of any resulting tax.

The EPRA NAV set of metrics make adjustments to the NAV per the financial statements tQ
provide stakeholders with the most relevant information on the fair value of the assets and
liabilities of a real estate investment company, under different scenarios.

EPRA Earnings EPRA NRV
£ £
2023 2023
26,929,000 653,780,000
2022 2022
29,810,000 673,416,000
2027 202%
30,630,000 674,042,000
EPRA Earnings per share EPRA NRV per share
Basic and diiited, pence ‘diluted) pence
20E3 2023
107.82
2022 2022
4.82 109.96
262t 2028
4.93 108.38

EPRA NTA
£

2023
653,780,000

2022
673,416,000

2527
674,042,000

EPRA NDV

I

2023
673,645,000

2022
678,191,000

2020
671,476,000

EPRA NTA per share

‘diluted; Tence
2223
107.82
2022
109.96
202
108.38

EPRA NDV per share

fdiluted) pence
2023
2022
110.74
2022
107.97

Past performance is not a reliable indicater of future performance For detalled workings reconciling the above
measures to the [FRS results, please see Appendix 1 to these financial statements on pages 122 1o 125



Definition

Purpose

Performance

Strategic Overview

Continued

EPRA Net Initial
Yield (“NIY™)

Annualised rental
cuine based on the
cash rents passing
at the balance
sheet date, less
non-recoverabple
property operating
expenses, divided
by the market value
of the property
with {estimated)
purchasers’ costs.

EPRA Topped-up Net
Initial Yield (“NIY™)
This measure
meorperates an
adjustment to the
EPRA NIY in respect
of the expiration of
rent-free periods

{or other unexpired
lease incentives such
as discounted rent
periods and stepped
rents)

A comparable measure for portfolio
valuations. These measures should make it
easier for investors to judge themselves, how
the valuation of portfolio X compares with

portfclio Y.

EPRA NIY

EPRA Costs Ratio

Administrative and
operating costs
fincluding and
excluding costs

of direct vacancy)
divided by gross
rental income,

A key measure 1o
enable meaningful
measurement

of the changes

In a company’s
operating costs

EPRA Topped-up
NIY
%

2023
2022
5.28

2021
5.24

EPRA Costs Ratio?

%
2023
EXTN.
2022

20.20

2021
20.33

EPRA LTV

Debt (including net
payables byt net

of cash balances)
divided by the market
value of property
{including net
receivables).

A key (shareholder-
gearing) metric

to determine the
percentage of debt
cemparing to the
appraised value of
the properties.

EPRA Vacancy Rate

Estimated Markst
Rental Value {"ERV") of
vacant space divided
by ERV of the whole
portfolio.

A ‘pure” (%} measure of
Investment property
space that is vacant,
based on ERV.

EPRA LTV

EPRA Vacancy
Rate
%

2023

2022

]
<
::N o

Past performance is not a reliable indicator of future performance. For detailed workings reconclling the above
measures to the IFRS results, please see Appendix 110 these financial statements on pages 122 1o 125,

1 The ratios inclusive of vacancy costs are the same as the ratio exclusive of vacancy costs for 2022, 2021 and 2020.
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Principal Risks and Risk Management

The Board considers that the risks detalled below are the principal risks facing the Group currently, along with the risks
detailed in note 310 to the financial statements. These are the risks that could affect the ability of the Company o deliver
its strategy. The Board confirms that the principal risks of the Company, including those which would threaten its future
performance, solvency or liquidity, have been robustly assessed throughout the year ended 31 March 2023, taking into
account the emerging risks such as the longer term, climate change risk. cyber security risk and recruitment of staff at
counterparties risk, and that processes are in place to continue this assessment.

The Audit and Management Engagement Committee has divided the Company's risks intc the following risk type
categories:

s Strategy and Competitiveness;

e« Cperaticnal, including Cyber Crime;

s [nvestment Management; and

s Accounting, Legal and Regulatory.

Each risk contained in each category is reviewed for its impact and probability by the Audit and Management
Engagement Cormumittee at least twice durnng the year

The Audit and Management Engagement Committee takes responsibility for overseeing the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems on behalf of the Board and advises the Board on the principal risks facing
the business.

Further details of nsk management processes that are 1n place can be found in the Corporate Governance Statement
on pages 57 and 58 The principal and emerging risks and uncertainties relating to the Group are regularly reviewed
by the Board along with the internal controls and risk management processes that are used to mitigate these risks
The Board acknowledges that the Takeover by Weilness Unity Limited may result in increased risk both durning the
transition and subsequently. Specifically, the Directors have not had detailed visibility of the offeror's post completion
funding for the group or the detailed plans behind the intentions statements included within the announcement.
Oversight and monitenng dunng this period will take on critical importance. The Board has identified one new
principal risk during the year (as set out 1n the list of principal risks and uncertainties) The risk associated with a
disruption to share price due to negative sentment in the social housing sector was identified as having the highest
impact and hikelineod. The nsk asscciated with promoting the Company 1o generate investor demand was removed
as a principal risk by the Board during the year as the Takeover Offer by Wellness Unity Limited has reduced the need
for the Company to generate additional investor demand. Further details on this and the other principal risks and the
management of those 11sks are described below:

Very High

High
2
o, Medium
E
Low
Very Low
Very . < . Very
unlikely Unlikely Possible Likely Likely
Probability



Principal Risks and Risk Management

Continued

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Company's share price

is ciisrupted due to negative
sentiment towards the social
housing sector foliowing a
targeted attack by a short seller
and pollution from other events in
the sectar.

Thisg risk rermained at the same
level as the year ended 31 March
2022,

Z,_Stﬂgy;i@:umpemivaqess Tisk .
The Company and its operations
are subject to laws and regulations
enacted by national and local
governments and government
policy.

This risk rernained at the same
level as the year ended 31 March
2022.

3 _Stategy and competiiveness tigk
As a result of competition fram
other purchasers of social housing
properties, the Company's ability
to deploy capital effectively within
a reasonable timeframe may be
restricted or the net ininal yields at
which the Compahny can acquire
properties may decline such that
target IetuIns cannot be met.

This risk remained at the same
level as the vear ended 31 March
2022.

_ _lmpact

The Company is targeted
by a short seller or activist
shareholder leading to

a fall in the Company's
share price and a
widening of the discount
ta NAV.

Significant numbers of
shares may need to be
repurchased leading to
a fall in the size of the
Campany and Lguidity
implcations

. How managed/mihgated . .
The Board is comrmitted to maintaining
ohen channeis of communication with
shareholders and engaging in ways
shareholders find most meaningful, in
order to gain understanding of shareholder
views. Further information on the Board's
engagement with shareholders can be
found on pages 17 to 25

lrhf)ﬁct:
High

Probability:
Likely

The Board seeks to provide full disclosure
on the counterparties and the structure of
transactions so that all stakeholders are
kept reliably informed on the Company's
business dealings.

The Board regularly reviews the
Company's buyback policy to ensure this
is in alignment with the interests of the
Company and shareholders. The Board

is also mundful of the possibility to 1ssue
shares and regularly reviews its policy in
this area to ensure that it is consistent with
the Company's strategy. It receives regular
updates from the Company's brokers to
help inform 1ts decisions in this regard.

How managed/mitigated

mpact
Any change in the
laws, regulations and/

oI government pelicy
affecung the Company
and its operations may
have a material adverse
effect on the ability of the
Company to successfully
pursue its investment
policy and meet 1t
investment chjective

and on the value of the

_ Company and the shares.

Iml
The rate of capital
deployment would drop.
decreasing returns to
shareholders.

_Impaci:
Very high

The Company focuses on niche real estate
sectors where 1t believes the regulatory
framework and underlying demand
dynamics to be robust

Probability:

The Investment Adviser has strong industry Unlikely

contacts and has good knowiedge on
policy opinlon and direction

The Board obtains regular updates
from professional advisers to monitor
developments in regulation and legislation.

HEL"““‘.LE—")ME‘.’_; - . o
The Company has strong links with vendors  Impact:

and a robust pipaeline of future acquisttions.  High

The Board regularly reviews the pipeline

of potential acquisitions and monitors the Probability:
market landscape. Unlikely

The Board 1s aware of the current
competituve soclal housing market and
recognises the impact this may have on
the Company's ability 1o deploy capital
effectively
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Principal Risks and Risk Management

Continued

4 Invesuneni management nsk Impact . _ . How managed/mitigated _ L - R
Tenant defaulting under the terms  Loss of rental income 1n The portiolio is highly diversified to reduce  Impact:
of a lease. the short term. the impact of default. Extensive diligence is  Medium

undertaken on all assets, which is reviewed
This risk remained at the same and challenged by the Board.
12%\;? as the year ended 31 March The Investment Adviser works proactively z‘robahlllty.
; ikely
with Approved Providers to address any
potential concerns.
The Board is provided with regular updates
on the tenants with any concerns raised for
discussion.
The Board has noted that the Company's
historic level of defaults has been
immaterial.

5 lnvestment management Hsk Impact How managed/mitigated . o
The value of the investments made The valuation of the The Company invests in projects with Impact:
by the Company may change from Company's assets would stable. predetermined, long term leases in High
ume to ume accerding o a variety  fall, decreasing the place with CPl or CPI plus 1% indexauon
of factors, including movements NAV and yie'ds of the and 1ts strategy is not focused on sale of
in interest rates, inflation and Company properties Probability:
general market pricing of similar The Board receives regular updates on Possible
Investments.

factors that might impact investment
This risk remained at the same valuations
level as the year ended 31 March
2022.

£ Invesiment management [isk o __Impacr o How managed/mitigated o
The current macreeconomic Less favourable borrowing The [nvestrnent Adviser. AIFM and Impact:
environment has increased the terms increase the Depositary monitcr covenants in place with  Medium
level of sk around the Company's  financing costs reducing debt providers and present to the Board an
financing arrangements regarding  returns to shareholders. a quarterly basts.
porrowing lerms and covenants. The Investment Adviser leverages the g:;l:if;;my'
This was identified as a new risk relationships it already has in the market
during the year to form long term parmerships with debrt

providers at rates it already has achueved
on similar projects within the same

macro market.

The Investment Adviser reports to the
Board on discussions with banks which will
highhight a* the earliest opportunity 1f this
sk has increased.

7 Investmentmanagementnsk _ lmpaet Haw d/mitigated . R R _ L . _
Duie diligence may not reveal all The Company would The Company undertakes detailed due Impact:
facts and circurnstances thar may cverpay for assets diligence cn the properties, theiwr condition.  High
be relevant in connectuon with an impairing sharehclder the proposed rental levels — benchmarking
investment and may not prevent value reducing rental agalnst comparable schemes using bcth
an acquisiicn being rmatenally income and therefore external consultants where required and Probability:
cvervalued or rental streams being  jetyrns 1ts cwn propretary database - and on the Unlikely
al risk. Apprcved Providers and care providers

invclved in each property to ensure that the
This risk remained at the same purchase price 1s ropust.
level as the year ended 31 March
2022 The Beard considers the due dihgence

undertaken when approving acguisiticns



Principal Risks and Risk Management

Continued

8. lnvestment management risk .
Loss of key staff at the Investment
Adviser.

____lmpact

Negative investor
sentiment leading tc a
reduetion in share price.
Reduction in ability to
source off market and
favourable deals.

This risk remained at the same
level as the year ended 31 March
2022

9. Suategy and compguluveness
The Company fails to respond 1o
issues related to climate change,
either directly as enhancements
1o properties ar indirectly via its
climate change reporting.

impact

the Company's assets and
A negarive impact an the
Company's share price.

This risk remained at the same
level as the year ended 31 March
2022,

10. Operational, including cyber ¢rime

Sericus accident or poor
management amongst Approved
Providers due to staff shortages
and loss of competence.

Jmpact . . .
Reputatonal damage for
the Company.

This risk remained at the sare
level as the year ended 31 March
2022

Emerging risks

Emerging nsks are considered during the regular

risk review, and would be specifically discussed and
evaluated as they arise during the year. lnput from the
[nvestment Adviser on emerging risks is considered by
the Audit and Management Engagement Committee.

Key emerging risks identified and considered during the
year include:

¢ Long-Term Climate Change - the impact of chimate
change. over the longer-term on the business. The
Company is committed to understanding ESG risk,
including the particular impact of climate change
on the business. Ciimate change poses an indirect
risk to the Company's operations, the environment
and society, and the Board is aware that appropriate
action is required to reduce its impact. The Board
uses the updates from the Investment Adviser as they
relate 1o the performance of the company and the
impact of leng-term climate change to help manage/
mitigate this risk.

Decrease in the value of

How managed/mingated

The Board considers the -risk of the " Im;ﬁact
Investment Adviser losing key staff and the  High
succession plans the Investment Adviser
has in place
. Probability:
The Board has ncted the ongoing Unlikely
expansion of the Investment Adviser's
support team.
Howmenagedtmigaes
Reqgular review and consideration by Impact:
the Board including the input of climate High
change specialists at the Investment Probability:
Adviser. Unlikely
Advice recejved from external professional
advisers.
 Howmanagedimugaed _ _ _ __ _____ __ _
Reporting from Approved Providers and Impact:
moenitoring of Approved Providers by the High
Investment Adviser. Probability:
Unlikely

s Cyber Security - the impact of a cyber security hreach
within the Company or its service providers The
Audit and Management Engagement Cornrmittee
reviews and maoniters the cyber security controls of
the Company's service providers on a regular basis to
manage/mitigate this risk.

Piease see the Company's ESG Report on pages 37 to 46
for further details.

The Listing Rules require premium-listed commercial
companies to disclose in their annual report whether
they have reported cn how climate change aftects

their business in a manner consistent with the
recocmmendations of the Task Force on Chmate-related
Financial Disclosures (TCFDY). and to provide an
explanatiocn and other information if they are unable

to do so. [n addition, the UK Gaovernment [ntends ta
introduce mandatory climate-related disclosures to
supplement the requirements under the Listing Rules. The
Beard has chosen not to adept the requirements early
and expects these to be applicable to the Company in the
financial year 2024.
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Going Concern and Viability Statement

Going Concern

The Board regularly reviews the position of the Company
and its ability to continue as a going concern at its
meetings. The financial statements set out the current
financial position cf the Company.

As at 31 March 2023, the Company held cash balances of
£35.6 million (net of operating and financing amounts
due). The Board has evaluated the financial position

of the Company which has maintained its premium
investment grade rating from Fitch Ratings Ltd - a well
established rating agency with a strong familiarity with
the alternative healthcare real estate space, which gives
the Company confidence in the ability to raise future
debt and/or eqguity capital in crder to fund the Company’s
investments for the long term and to facilitate the
payment of dividends to shareholders. Based on these,
the Board belleves that the Company is in a position 1o
manage its financial risks.

Various forms of sensitivity analysis have been
performed, in particular the financial performance

of tenants and a reduction in passing rent. As at

31 March 2023, the passing rent would have to drop by
approximately 11% hefore any of the Company’s interest
cover covenants are breached The property values
would need to fall by around 13% before breaching the
loan to value covenant.

The Company's performance in the event of severe
but plausible downside scenarios used for viability
are equally applicable for going concern. At the date
of approval of this report, the Company has sufficient
headroom within its financial loan covenants. The
Company also benefits from a secure income stream
from leases with long average unexpired term leases.

Leverage is prudently maintained at a level of less than
40% of Gross Asset Value.

The Company's articles of association include a
requirement for the Board to propoese an crdinary
resolution at the annual general meeting following the
fifth anniversary from the initiat public offering of the
Company for the Company to continue in 1ts current {form
{the Continuation Resolution). On 15 September 2022 at
the Annual General Meeting, sharehoiders representing
298,478,435 voted in favour of the continuation of the
Company being 98.85% of those who voted

On 9 May 2023 an announcement was made to the market
for an all-cash offer of the Company from Weilness Unity
Limited, a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of CK Asset
Holdings Limited (CXA). On 23 June 2023, when the offer
became unceonditional, CKA subseguently became the
ultimate controiling party of the Cormnpany, and a related
party under IAS 24. The Group's existing committed debt
facilities contain a standard change of control clause
which has now been triggered due to the offer becoming
unconditional. This could result in the existing committed
debt facilities being withdrawn. The Group does not have
visibility of the post completion funding for the Group at
this time. Therefore, this could create some uncertainty as
to the Group's going concern positicn. The Directors note
the detailed intenticns statemnent included within the
announcement on 9 May 2023 which states that CKA does
not envisage making any changes to the management
team hor any disrupton to any counterparties or

to the underlying tenants The conditions outlined

above indicate a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt upon the Group and the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The financal
statements do not include the adjustments that would
result if the Group and the Company were unable to
continue as a golng concern.

Having considered all of the above. the Board s of the
opinion that the going concern basis adopted in the
preparation of the consoclidated financial statements
1s appropriate

Viability Statement

The Directers present the Company's viability statement
which summarises the results of their assessment of
the Company's current position, its principal risks and
prospects aver a period to 31 March 2028.

The Company acquires high-quality property with a
particular focus on property providing care for the long
term. The properties acquired are on long-term full
repairing and insuring leases in a sector of the market
with very high levels of need The cost base of the
Company is proportionately low compared to revenue
and there 15 a high level of certainty over cost to be
incurred On this basis, the Company is expected tc be
viable well beyond the five year term considered in the
Company's testing below.

The assumptions underpinning the forecast cashflows
and covenant compliance forecasts were sensitised
to explore the resilience of the Company to the
potential impact of the Company's principal risks and
uncertainties.



Going Concern and Viability Statement

Continued

The prospects were assessed over a five-year period for
the following reasons:

i} the Company's long-term forecast covers a five-year
period;

ii) the length of service level agreements pbetween
Approved Providers and care providers is typicaily five
years; and

iii) the Company's leases are typically 25 years on fully
repairing and insuring leases, enabling reasonable
certainty of income over the next five years.

The Company's five-year forecast incorporates
assumptions related to the Company's investment
strategy and principal risks from which performance
results, cash flows and key performance indicatars are
forecast. The principal risks are set cut on pages 30 to 33,
Of these risks, those which are expected 1o have a higher
impact on the Company's longer-term prospects are
thase related to the current macroeconomic envircnment,
which has increased the level of risk around the
Company's financing arrangements regarding borrowing
terms and covenants. The risk associated with a
disruption to share price due to negative sentirnent in
the social housing sector being identified as having

the highest impact and likelihood. The Company has
considered {ts strategy over a longer term and, in light

of the inherent demand for the Company's properties
and the vulnerable nature of the ultimate tenant, the

risk of change in future housing pclicy is considered

to be limited. The principal risks are mitigated by the
Company's risk management and internal control
processes. which function on an ongoeing basis

The Board, via delegation to the Audit and Management
Engagement Committee, monitors the effectiveness of
the Company's risk management and internal control
processes on an ongoing basis, The monutering activities
are described in the Report of the Audit and Management
Engagement Committee on pages 60 to 62 and

include direct review and challenge of the Company’s
documented risks, risk ratings and controls, and review
of performance and compliance reports prepared by

the Company's key suppliers and the independent
external auditors,

The Board of Directors has carried out a robus?t
assessment ¢of the principal and emerging risks facing
the Company, including those that would threaten its
business model, future perfcrmance, solvency and
hguidity. Where appropriate. the Company's forecasts are
subject to sensitivity analysis, which invelves applying
severe {(but plausible) conditicns and flexing a number of
assumptions simultanecusly.

The sensitivities performed were designed to provide
the Directors with an understanding of the Company's
perfermance in the event of severe but plausible
downside scenarios, taking full account of mitigating
actions that could be taken to avoid or reduce the impact
or occurtence of the underlying risks outlined below:

s 10% of tenants defaulting under a lease The cutcome of
this scenario reduces profits on average over the five
year forecast by 18% per annum and reduces cash by
£20 million. However, the Board remains comiortable
that dividends could be paid and any liabilities could
be settled as there is still a sufficient level of cash in the
business. Therefore the business remains viable over
the five year period and

e deterioration in econcmic cutlook, or a change in
government housing policy which could impact the
fundamentals of the social housing sectar, including
a negative impact on valuations and a 5% reduction
in annual rents. The cutcome of the ‘'severe downside
scenario’ was that the Company's covenant headroom
on existing debt (the level at which the investment
property values would have to fall before a financial
breach occurs) reduces by 13%, pricr to any mitigating
actions such as asset sales, which indicates that
covenants on existing facitities would not be breached.

The remaining principal risks and uncertainties, whilst
having an impact on the Company's business, are

not considered by the Directors to have a reasonable
likelinood of impacting the Company's viability over the
five-year period, thetefore the scenarios cutlined above
are the only ones that have been specifically tested.

Based on the results of their assessment, notwithstanding
the material uncertainty arising from the offer from CKA,
the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the
Company will be able to continue in operation and meet
its liabilities as they fall due over the five-year period of
their assessment.

Michael Wrobel

Chairman
28 June 2023
i
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The Portfolio’s Carbon Footprint
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Tonnes (TCO,) per Civitas Tenancy

March 2023 March 2022

2.61 2.65

Source: Civitas retained EPC data

Energy Performance Certificates (EPCs) are issued All rental properties are legally required to have an EPC
following the energy survey of a property by an energy in the UK and a good energy rating indicates that the
assessor EPCs illustrate the energy efficiency of properties  residents of the property will benefit from:

and give a property an energy rating from A {very s Lower energy bills - energy efficient properties will
efficient) to G (inefficient). Each EPC s valid for 10 years and result in comparably lawer resident consumpnan and
includes a list of recommmendations that provide guidance therefore reduce energy bills

on how the energy efficiency of the property could be s Lower carbon footprint — increasing the energy

improved to reduce energy bills and carbon emissions. efficiency of the properties will lower carbon emissions

e Improve property value - improving the energy
rating will also {ikely enhance the vaiue and ensure
consistently low void levels at the properties.

Civitas EPC Distribution (Domestic/Non-Domestic}) — March 2023

Non-domestic/Higher Acuity Il Domestic/Homes

39.8%

431%
40.9%

Source: Civitas retained EPC data

Domestic/Homes

These refer 1o dwellings, ther a house or apartment,
one heating systern serves a single househaold
/itas. thes ) s have specialist adaplations

and care provision but are still regarded as domestic

flomes

Dom o properiies typically use nergy and have
I

lower pon footprints than non domestic/higher
acuily properties.
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Energy Performance/SAP Ratings

Carbon Reduction — EPC/SAP Ratings

Civitas continues to improve the overall energy performance, with a
continued focus on properties with EPC ratings D and E, through active asset

management, including property improvement works, renovations and

scheduled post-completion works.

ADZ2

C 411
D 342
EN1
FOO

GO0

Civitas 53H properties tend t¢ offer larger accommodation for tenants than conventonal social housing or other private

dwellings The properties are predaminantly strest properties built pre 1940 with solid walls

As shown in the table below. the energy performance of the Civitas portfolio compares favourably against the
performance across all housing tenures as reported in the 2020/21 English Housing Survey (EHS). Civitas SSH properties
have a larger proportion of detached and semi detached properties compared to social rented and private rented

dwellings,

Comparable EPC/SAP Ratings
by tenure (%)' (domestic/homes only)

Energy Performance Certification Band

Mean

SAP

A/B C D E F G Rating

Qwner occupied _ 28 400 468 78 2.2 035 857
Private rented o 3.0 415 417 8.2 37 12 649
Social rented N 35 632 281 2.3 07 0z 701
All tenures - 30 445 427 7.1 2.2 05 663
Civitas domestic (March 2023) 11.0 409 364 11.7 0.0 0.0 67.1

Source Enghsh Housing Survey (2021) Annex Table 28 Energy efficency rating bands, by tenure, 2021 & Annex Tahle 27 Mean SAP raning. by tenure, 2021



E.ON Partnership (Phase 2)

‘ON

The collaboration with EON has been based on the
adoption of a "fabric first" approach to reducing the
portfolio’s carhon footprint. Detailed retrofit surveys
identify the potential to install cavity wall insulation, loft
insulaticn, external wall insulation, air source heat pumps
and solar PV and battery storage at targeted properties.
The installation of these energy efficient measures (where
considered viable), utilising available government grants
and other funding sources, maximises value for the
Company and for our counterparties. The environmental
enhancements are being delivered at no cost to our
Approved Providers.

Bracken Hill, Mirfield

Working with Appraved Providers, the ongeing

Phase 2 retrofit surveys are being undertaken to refine the
implementation prograrnme and identify the best method
for reducing the total carbon dioxdde emissions (and

fuel costs) associated with individual properties over the
medium or long term. The overall energy performance of
the porifolio, as identified on Environmental Performance
Certificates (EPC) reports data, has improved cver the last
12 months. The proportion of properties with EPC Rating
A-C is currently ¢ 55% and the carbon footprint (estimated
from property characteristics) has reduced by 2% per Civitas
tenancy (from 265 tonnes of CO2/tenancy in March 2022 to
2.61 tonnes of CO2/tenancy).

A single storey cottage built during the late 1800s. Capital works were required to make some Improvements to the
general appearance of the property and deliver energy improvements to create an uplift in the energy rating.

CSH initiated two professional surveys - the first to understand the requirements to undertake necessary repairs and
improve the asset condition — the second to understand the energy improvement options available. The works were
carefully planned and resulted in an overhaul of the asset with some of the works listed below:

e New UPVC windows and front door installed

» External wall insulation

s Repairs to roof and loft space

e« Additional insulation into the loft space
Replacement modern kitchen
Decoration throughout including flooring upgrades

« Installation of high heat retention storage heaters

s« Additional ventilation installed

The EPC rating has improved from a G to an E.

(SH is in the process of installing a dual tariff electricity meter which will continue to improve the EPC rating to D.
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314 ONISNOH TVIDOS SYLIALD

(2]
V<]



CIVITAS SCCIAL HOUSING FLC
REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2023

o
[=]

Social Impact

Social Impact — Publication of The Good Economy Report — Published THE
November 2022

The Gaod Economy (TGE) — November 2022 GOOD

TGE, independent social impact advisory firm, assessed Civitas' performance against its stated

impact objective and the target outcomes to which the Company aims to contribute. ECONOMY
TGE ¢considers that “The portfolio continues to  “Civitas is systematically “Civitas has consistently
Civitas has made a provide homes for pecple improving the energy provided support for
meaningful contribution  with a range of support efficiency of older stock charitable organisations
to increasing supply needs, including learning by running a retrofit whose activities align with
to meet the high disabilities, physical programme alongside the Fund's core mission to
level of demand from disabilities and mental energy supplier EON.” deliver positive outcomes
commissioners for health diagnoses.” for individuals with
supported housing support needs.”

across the country.

Impact Objective Outcomes

B o8

Contribute
Towards

g (o

Social Need Supply Quality Wellbeing Value
Provide housing Increase the Improve the Improve the Offer value for
that meets an supply of gquality of social wellbeing of meney for the
identified social social housing housing residents public purse
need across the UK _—

——————— panicularly Civitas have worked 53% of respondents £3.51 is created
40% of residents for vulnerable with Approved reported an in social value
living in Civitas pecple Providers. signing improvement in for every £1
properties receive off on adaptions to their independence of annualised
aver 50 hours cf ensure properties between investment
care per week. 1% of pro;_:e]rues continue to meet the their previous

Eew to 50?3_’ . changing needs of accommodation and

82% of residents cusing at the point residents their current hame
aged berween of acquisition
20 and 49 B87% of respondents

69% of properties reparted that they
in the 40% most were satisfied with

deprived local the quality of their
authaorities homes

| W I




Social Impact
Charitable Partnerships

The Company has supported and worked with the following charities since [PO:

The Choir with No Name
The results of an anonymous 2022/23 survey about the experience of choir members at choir

w demonstirate the consistently positive impact and the value of CWNN work in improving the
““ lives of people impacted by homelessness:
* 89% reported a sense of belonging at ¢hoir
[ « 90% feel valued at choir and said choir improved their confidence

» 85% have made meaningful friendships at choir

= 84% said choir helps them feel less isolated

* 88% said choir helped them feel more optimistic about life

« 83% reported a greater sense of purpose and fulfilment as well as feeling motivated to try
new things

80% reported improved mental health

The House of The House of 5t, Barnabas
St Barnabas The House of St. Barnabas is a social enterprise member's club that helps London's homeless
e pecple back into werk, through its Employment Academy.

Employment Preparation Programine:

» 100% of working graduates are satisfied with their job hours

« 95% are satisfied with their job security

* 32% are satisfied with their pay

* 95% have overall job satisfaction

« 97% say our mentors have had a positive impact on their quality of life

WISH 7
4 WISH is a membership-based network for women working acrass every discipline of UK housing,
with a focus on champicning positive cutcomes for women working in the sector. Civitas support

r contributes to the championing of positive outcomes for women working in the sector

L-ttl Little Sprouts Health and Wellbeing Charity

1 e.. Little Sprouts Health and Weiibeing Charity is dedicated to improving the health and wellbeing

sprouts of our community through cooking workshops, recipe bags, comrnunity food shops, ‘check
and chatter” programmes and surplus food collection and distribution. Civitas supports
Little Sprouts with the operational costs of the charity, particularly during COVID-19. The funds
were used to open a further community shop which uses food as an engagement tool to help
address physical, social, mental and financial issues.

The Care Workers’ Charity

The Care Workers' Charity (CWC) exists to help care and support workers through crisis using
financial support and support centres. Civitas support funds training of mental health "first aiders”
to provide sach CWC member company, with the training and tools to provide better mental
health support to the care workers.

the
care
workers
charity

€208 SINNOIIV ANV I¥oddy
J1d HNISNIOH TYID0S 8YLIALD

b
-



CIVITAS SOCIAL HQUSING PLC
REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2023

o
N

Charity Partners Case Studies

The Choir with No Name
The Choir with No Name (CWNN) has been running choirs

invelving people impacted by homelessness sinee 2008
growing from a first rehearsal in London with just five
people, to six thriving choir communities, singing with
over 700 pecple and performing for tens of thousands of
people across the UK every year. We currently have choirs
in London, Liverpool, Brighton, Birmingham, Cardiff and
Coventry, with plans to launch more choirs over the next

few years.

The Choir with No Name formula is simple but it works:
weekly choir rehearsals all year round followed by a

hot meal together, and exciting, aspirational gigs for
everyone to work toewards and look forward to. Our cholrs
are supportive, safe spaces for people going through a
tough time, empowering them to feel more able (o tackle
the chalienges they face. We are currently evolving cur
way of working into a more co-produced and culiturally
democratic approach, with choir members getting more
involving in the design and delivery of their choirs, which
is a really exciting transformation for the organisation.

Creative programmes are extremely effective in achueving
positive outcomes for pecple impacted by homelessness.
They tackle inequality, increase social inclusion and
challenge prejudice, [t can help people 10 progress

their wider interests, which is especially important in
Teducing anxiety and loneliness that can often affect
people impacted by homelessness, even when they
move on to independent accommodation. We support
members to make friends, improve their welilbeing. build
confidence and skiils, and positively impact their personal
circumstances outside of choir

In our most recent 2023 member survey, 89% said they
felt a sense of belonging at choir, 90% said it helped
increase their confidence, 83% said being in cholr gave
them an increased sense of purpose and fulfilment and
75% reported that their participation in choir has helped
them achieve at least one positive life change outside
choir, inciuding securing housing, finding work or better
management of addictions. We are extremely proud of
these results

We established our partnership with Civitas Social
Housing Plc in 2017 and have been extremely grateful
recipients of cngoing support for the costs of delivering
our weekly rehearsals and foot stomping gigs every year.
Thanks to Civitas, we can keep cur doors open, the music
playing and our members singing: providing something
to look forward to every week and gigs to work towards; a
chance to socialise with their friends, eat a hot dinner, and
ultimately feel seen and heard.

A word from our choir members:

Ruthie’s Story

66

When I first started singing with CWNN I was really
nervous just standing there in the group singing.
Then, by the Christmas concert, 1 was grabbing

the mic and singing solo! My confidence has really
improved. I think it's because you just feel like you're
in a really safe space and that people genuinely care
about you. It just feels very loving and authentic.

There's been so many unforgettable moments and
S0 many emotional moments. It's amazing seeing
other people transform as well. I've made friends
and connections and, the big thing is, trust. It's been
a real big deal to me that people actually care. They
genuinely care and notice when you're missing. It
sounds a bit extreme, but people care if you're alive
and that you're alive and well. It's been consistent. It

doesn't stop. , ,

Richard's Story

66

I've sung all my life so when I heard about the Choir
with No Name 1 thought it could be for me. I was
living at the Salvation Army at the time. The best thing
about choir is the confidence it gives me. I've broken a
25-year cycle with drugs - I dont think I could've done
it without choir. When I talk to people who aren't sure
if CWNN is for them I say, ‘Come along once, I'll sit next
to you and if you don't like it you don’t have to come
back’. I've encouraged a few people to join and so far,
they've all come back! I'm so happy to have found
CWNN. In my first rehearsal I was so nervous, but by
the second 1 was singing my heart out. It's made such
a difference. I'm not existing anymore, I'm living, and

that's huge.
?




Charity Partners Case Studies

House of St Barnabas

The House of St Barnabas is a social enterprise and charity
that works to support people allected by homelessness
back into long-term employment. Our vision is of a future
where lasting good work, a secure home and a supportive
network are a reality {or those atfected by homelessness.

Underpinned by our vibrant members ¢iub in Soho, our
Employment Academy provides on site employment
and skills training for pecple who have experienced
homelessness.

We work with around 100 people every year and 79% of
graduates report their quality of life has improved since
participating in the Employment Acaderny.

Qur menteoring component is the key tc our success

and. thanks to support from Civitas, we are cioser to
succeeding in our mission of "Good Work, Good Home' for
all our graduates

Mentoring at the House of $t Barnabas is not traditional
in the way that professional mentoring requires 4 similar
set of knowledge and experiences. It is relaticnship-based
mentoring which is based around interpersonal skills

and communication. The purpose of the 1ole is 10 work
tegether with Employment Academy staff to support
people into work and help them progress.

Qur mentors have had a positive impact on quality-of-life
changes for 97% of respondents.

Jill and Ellen

Ellen began her journey as a mentor by participating

in our two-day training, which provides extensive
preparaticn for this very special role. She quickly followed
up by attending the mentoring "speed dating” event
where she met several recent graduates looking to be
paired with a mentor. However, she was contacted by

the Mentoring Team 10 ask if she would be interested in
mentoring someone she hadn't had the chance 1o meet
because they couldn't attend the "speed dating" event due
to childcare responsibilities.

This is how Ellen met Jill

Jill and her young daughter found themselves homeless
in 2021 hill didn't have a job and didnt know what she
wanted to do either. Unsure of where to go or what to

do. she turned 1o a soctal worker for help, who arranged
temporary accommodation for Jill and her daughter.

Then Jill was put in touch with House of St Barmmabas. After
graduating from the Employment Preparation Programme,
she had the opportunity to be paired with a mentor.

Elien and Jill met for their first mentoring session at the
British Library They quickly connected over the fact that
Jill had a five-year-old daughter and Ellen has experience
of bringing up young children in Londen. Ellen had lots
of suggestions for free activities for children. This built
Jill's confidence to attend galleries and museums with her
daughter, which she had never done before.

As they developed their mentoring relationship. Ellen
also helped Jill to update her CV and cover letter. She
also encouraged lill to sign up for free computer literacy
courses and previded support with Jill's apphcation for
a winter fuel allowance as well as making sure that she
received her Christrnas henefit bonus.

Jill has since secured a job as barista at a Soho members
club on a part-time basis so she can balance her childcare
responsibilities.

Jill's Story

66

1 didn’t know what to expect from the House of St
Barnabas, On the first day of the course, I thought it
wasn’t reaily for me. But after my first week, I loved it!
Everyone there understood what I was going through,
day by day I felt more confident and more comfortable
being there. It felt like being with family. You get

used to waking up and having no one to talk to, but
sutddenly I had people to talk to! It gave me a reason
to get up in the morning. Being at the House was a
lifesaver for me, it's definitely more than just a course.

2/
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Governance
Frameworks

In addition to the ESG indices, Civitas participates in the fﬁéﬁng?réﬁev:forks
which don't issue a grading.

CIVITAS SOCIAL HOUSING PLC
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IMPACT
MANAGEMENT
PROJECT

Impact Management
Project

The Impact Managemen: Project.

Is a global forum for buliding

consensus on how to measure,

manage and report impact

18 & practitioner community of

over 3,000 organisations ang

investors

Provides a set of norms

and a shared and holistic

understanding of impa:st

« Has five zore dimensions of
impac: What? Wha? How much?
Contribution and Risk

Sector Specific

Operating Principles for

* Impact Management

The Operating
Principles for Impact
Management

The Operating Principles are a
frarnework for invesicrs for the
design and implementation of their
IMpPac: managemeant sys ems;
* Znsuring tha: impac:
consideranions are ‘nfegrated
‘hroughout the investmen-
IHecycle
« .mplemented through diffarens
types Gf systems.
+ =ach of which can ge designed
T the needs of an indiwvidual
umen
= 2C norprescribe apecit
nd approaches ors :
mpact measurement framesworks
= ‘ndustry paricipants are
cxpected 'c continue ¢
learn rom 2ach osher ag they

mpleman: he Frincipls

.

<
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SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

G7:ALS

United Nations
Sustainable
Development Goals

In 2015, UN countries adopted
the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable
Development and its 17
Sustainable Development Goals
("SDGs").

The 3DGs call for woridwide
action among governments,
kusiness and civil society to end
poverty

Create a life of dignity and
opporiunity Ior all, within the
boundaries of the planet
Companies are encouragad ro
select which goals are aligned
wit thelr business acnivitles
and report 2n how they are
waorking to achieve them.

CSH is an early adopter of the Sustainability Reporiing Standard ‘or Social Housing {"he S-andard ). The Standard,
develcped through a collaboration between housing associations, banks lenders and inveso:s. has aver 100

signed up early adopters and endorsers

+« Over 190 signed up adop-ers and 20 endorsers
= 12 themes and 48 c¢riteria for ESG repoing by housing associations

« Qualitative and quantitative and are identified az core and enhanced

strong ESG periormance

sccial and goveraance (ESG) performance
» Aligned o inte-national frameworks and ssandards including the United Naticns Sustainable Jevelopment Goals
(UNSDGs;, Global Reporting initiative (GRI) SAS3 (Sustainakiiity Azcounting Standards Board), [CMA {Inter1anional
Capital Marke® Association) and LMA (Loan Marke: Asscciation) Principles

regul

remen's 'o demonsirate

Will he!p the sector establsh a credible meaningful and consistent approach o repor-ing its environmen-al,

LERANS A
4 _\\.\', 3



United Nations Sustainable Development Goals
(“UN SDGs”) Alignment

UN SDGs

Impact Objectives

Provide high-quality, energy efficient homes

@ Acquire High-Quality Homes incotporating adaptations for peopie with
lifelong care needs

Target proeperties which address the needs,
and improve nealth and wellbeing of
vulnerable individuals requiring a high level o |

of care SR v
Local job creation during construction :
Employment via Approved Providers/
returbishments and care providers on
responsible employment terms, including
living wage

Offer local apprenticeships and contribute to
local community events

Q O Q Satisfy Social Need

Provide Value for Money for public care and
housing budgets by enabling vulnerakie
individuals to move cut to institutional and
residential gettings

Provide Value for Money

Buy and convert existing and newly
Increase Supply completed properties from private to social
housing sector in perpetuity

Ensure Approved Providers and Care
Providers have the capability and capacity
to deliver high-quality service and cutcomes
for residents over the long term

Green lease terms to be agreed with the
counterparties

Adopt sustainability policy at governance level

1 PARTNERSHIPS
FOTHE GOALS

Build Quality Partnerships

Governance

Counterparty Governance

CIM, the Company’s Investment Adviser, has engaged actively with its Appreved Provider partners throughout the last
year, providing shared advice and learning through:

This counterparty engagement has ensured that CIM is able tc proactively work with its Approved Providers with any
matters arising to suppcrt a continued high level of operational pertormance. This support builds on our
long-term relationship with the senior management and helping to build resilience within the organisations.

Monthly Seminars

CIM has continued o undertake monthly governance
and health and safety monitoring across rhe periolio.

CIM hosts quarterly Approved Provider seminars on a
regular basis. The next seminar is expecied tc be held

. in Sumrn 23.
Approved Providers have demonstrated resihence n Summer 26

and continued high levels of compliance with health

& safery standards.
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Governance

Indices

CIM's implementation of the Board’s commitment to continuous improvement in its approach to ESG integration
remains core to the investment strategy. Over the last year, we have engaged with ESG Rating Agencies such

as GRESB (farmerly Glaobal Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark), MSCI (Morgan Stanley Capital International),
Sustainalytics, and EPRA sBPR.

1 s
LY

G R ESB

SUSTAIMALYTICS

1 oo ot orary

eEF’RA

What is it?

GRESB is the leading sustainability benchmark
for the global real estate sector. Assessments take
place annually and are guided by factors that
investors and the industry consider to be material
issues in the sustainability performance of real
asset investmentis. The benchmark assessment
covers more than 850 property companies, REITs,
funds and developers

MSCI ESG Ratings provide nsight inio ESG

risks and oppormunites within multi-asset class
porticiiocs. MSCl rate 7,000 \_ompa'l'e\ according
o thelr exposure ' industey significant £SG risks
and their ability 0 manage hose risks relative ‘o
industry peers

Sustainalytics measure how well companies
proactively manage the environmencal, social and
governance issues ‘hat are most material to their
business. it is based on a structured. okjective and
Tansparent meshodelogy The ESG ratings provide
an assessment on companies’ ability to mitigare
risks and capitalise cn opporiunities,

EPRA BPR Guidelines ioc.s 51 making he
financial statemen~s of public real =s1ate
comgpanies clearer and more comparzsie
ACross Zurope This i3 designed "o ennance 'he
ransparency and coherencs of “he sec oras a
wheie and pray an tmporant role noavracting
global flows cf capiial inio the Zurcpean Hsved
progery sector

EPRA sBPR Guidelines provide a consistens way
ol measuring susiainability performance The ZPRA
5372 are ral "1;; re ztandards and consiztenc,
cfsustainabiil risted T2al esiate
companies a

ecognilion ol progerty compan:
cessiully adopred Z2RAs 32
i which have mb"h:‘,ed N

[EPIR NV FR T Y R V)

A

How is CSH rated?

CSH retained its A score following
the GRESB Public Disclosure
Assessmen: 2022

Peer Group Average score of B,
CSH is up to 2% position within its

Comparison Group (UK Residential).

CSH MSCI ESG rating of BB.

CIM has made relevant policies
available to MSCI and other rating
agencies through hosting on

the CiM website on behalf of the
Company.

This should be reflected in furure
rasing assessment.

CSd has an E3CG
31149({.

215k Rating scors
Risk) on Susa.nalyucs

CSH recelved a Gold Award tor
EPRA BPR reporting (n 2C22. This
is an mprovement on the Silver
Award received in 2021

CSH sukimission for ZPRA sBPR
assessment remalns under
consideration
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Board of Directors

The Directors of the Company who were in office during the period and up to the
date of signing the financial statements were:

Michael Wrobel, Chairman

Michael has over 40 years' experience 1n the investment
industry as a pertfolio manager and of running institutional
businesses and retail businesses at Fidelity and Gartmore. He

serves as a rrustee director of the BAT UK Pension Fund. the Male 60%
Deutsche Bank UK pension schemes and as a trustee of the
Cooper Gay (Holdings) Limited Retirement Benefits Scheme. Female 40%

Michael has previcusly served as a non-executive Director of
several investment trusts and a number of industry associations.
Michael has an M A in Economics from Cambridge University.
Michael was appointed 1o the Board on 24 October 2016 and has
served as Chairmman since his appointment.

Caroline Gulliver, Director

Caroline is a chartered accountant with over 25 years experience at Ernst & Young LLP. During that time,
she specialised in the asset management sector and developed extensive experience of investment
trusts. She was a member of various technical committees of the Association of investment Companies.
She s also a non-execunve director and audit committee chair for [P Morgan Global Emerging Markets
Incorne Trust plc, International Biotechnology Trust ple and abrdn European Logistics Income ple

Carcline was appointed to the Board on 24 October 2016 and has served as Audit and Management
Engagement Commuittee Chair since her appointment

Peter Baxter, Director

Peter has over 35 years experience 1n the investment management tndustry. He is a director of Snowball
Impact Management Ltd, a socal impact tnvestment ocrganisation, and a trustee of Trust for London. a
chanitable foundation. He is also a non-executive director of BlackRock Greater European Investment
Trust ple. Previously, he served as Chief Executive of Old Mutual Asset Managers (UK) Ltd, and has
worked for Schroders and Hill Samuel in a vanety of investment roles He holds an MBA from London
Business School and 1s an associate of the Society of Invesiment Professionals.

FPeter was appointed to the Board on 24 October 2016 and 1s the Senlor Independent Director and
Nomination and Rernuneration Committee Chairrman.

Alastair Moss, Director

Alastair 1s a property development lawyer with over 20 years' experience and 1s a partner at Hill
Dickinson. He was a non-executive ditector of Notting Hill Genesis Trust. He 1s also a former Chairman \
of the Investment Comrmuttee of the City of London Corporation, its Property Investment Board and its v o
Planming and Transportation Committee. He 1s a Trustee of Marshall's Charity. He has alsc been a board ,;
member of S5oho Housing Association and was a member of the Area Board of CityWest Homes. He was ‘
a Councillor at Westminster City Council for 12 years, including his tenure as Chairman of the Planning &
City Develocpment Commitiee.

Alastalr was appointed tc the Board on 24 October 2016.

Alison Hadden, Director

Aliscn has over 30 years experience 1n the housing industry and has held a number of Executive

positions at several major housing associaucns including CEQ at Paradigm Housing. In these rcles, she
( } has warked with many of the stakeholders in the industry, including the Requlatar of Social Housing.
ﬁ She 1s currently Vice Chair and a member of the Governance Committee of Peaks and Plains Hcusing

\ and Chair of Heyicrd Regeneraticn, a for-profit Housing Asscclation operauing in the Cherwell area

Alison was appeinted to the Board on 21 November 2019



Report of the Directors

The Directors present their Report and the audited consolidated financial statements

for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Principal Activities

The Company 1s a closed ended investment company
andis A REIT whirh was inrarporated in England and
Wales on 29 September 2016, The Company is the holding
company of a number of subsidiaries and its Ordinary
shares were admitted to trading on the Main Market

of the London Stock Exchange on 18 November 2016.
The Company invests in properties or property-holding
SPVs, either directly or via a wholly-cwned subsidiary.
in accordance with the Company's investment objective
and policy.

Business Review

A review of the business and future developments is
contained in the Chairman's Statement and Investment
Adviser's Report. The principal risks and uncertainties are
detailed on pages 30 to 33. See note 33.0 for a summary of
the post balance sheet events.

Results and Dividends
The results for the year are shown on page 3.

The following dividends were paid an the Ordinary
shares during the year.

1.3875p per shére

Fourth quarterly

givi@g* o paid on 28 June 2022
First quarterly - ﬁl?lzﬁSp p‘e_r-erre
giE'd_eﬂ:l ~_____ paidon3Sepiember 2022
Second quarterly N Tézshppe_gha_re_
ﬁn'd‘end‘ - _paid on 9 December 2G22
Third quarterly ﬁlagp ;e;-sﬁe
dividend paid on 10 March 2025

Since the year end, the Company has declared the
following dividend

Fourth quarterly
dividend

 1425p per share
paid on 9 June 2023

No final dividend 15 being recommended on the Ordinary
shares.

Directors
The members of the Board are listed on page 48.

All Directors served throughout the pericd under review.

The Board consists sclely of non-executive Directors,
each of whom is independent of the Investment Adviser.
The Company has no executive Directors or employees.

In accordance with Board policy, all Directors will retire
and. being eligible, will stand for re-election at the AGM.

Performance evaluation of the Board, its Committees and
individual Directors is carried out in accerdance with the
procedure set out on pages 56 and 57.

No Director is under a contract of service with the
Company and ne Director or any persons connected
with them had a material interest in the transactions
and arrangements of the Company. Details of Directors’
rermuneration are set aut in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report on pages 64 to 67.

The beneficial interests of the Directors in the securities
of the Company are set out in the Directors’ Relnuneration
Report on page 67.

Through their Letters of Appointment, the Company
has provided indemnities to the Directors, to the extent
permitted by law and the Company's Articles, in respect
of labilities which may arise in connection with claims
relating to their performance or the performance of the
Company whilst they are Directors. There are no other
qualifying third-party indemmties in force

The general powers of the Directors are contained
within the relevant UX legislation and the Company's
Articles of Association. The Directors are entitled to
exercise all powers of the Company, subject tc any
mmitations imposed by the Arnticles of Association or
applicable legisiation. As set out on page 50, the Articles
of Association may only be amended by way of a special
resglution of shareholders.
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Report of the Directors
Continued

Capital Structure

Issue of Shares

At the AGM held on 15 September 2022, the Directors were
authorised to issue equity securities up to an aggregate
nominal amount of £610,736 (being approximately 10% of
the issued Ordinary share capital).

The Company was also authorised to disapply
pre-emption rights in respect of equity securities and

to issue equity securities for cash up to an aggregate
nominal amount equal to £610,736 (being approximately
10% of the issued Ordinary share capital).

Purchase of Own Shares

At the AGM held on 15 September 2022, the Directors were
granted the authority to buy back up to 91,549,383 Ordinary
shares, being 1499% of the Ordinary shares in is5ue at the
time of the passing of the resclution

During the year, the Board maintained the Company's
share buyback programme, under which a wotal of
6.050,000 shares have been purchased into reasury for an
aggregate amount of £4,624,947.50 {(nominal value £60,500,
representing 0.97%) as at 31 March 2023.

The autherity to buy back up 10 91,549,383 shares will
expire at the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company
or on 30 September 2023, whichever is earlier, when

a resolution for its renewal will be proposed. Further
information will be contained 1n the Notice of AGM, which
will be circulated to shareholders in due course.

Current Share Capital

As at 31 March 2023, there were 622,461,380 QOrdinary
shares in issue, of which 16,075,000 shares were held in
treasury. representing 2.6% of the Company’s total issued
share capital The total voting rights of the Company as at
31 March 2023 was $06,386.380

Shareholder Rights

Ordinary Shares

Each Qrdinary shareholder is entitled 10 one vote

on a show of hands and. on a poll. to one vote for
every Ordinary share held The night to attend and
vote at general meetings of the Company may be
restricted where a shareholder has failed to provide
infermaton pursuant to a notice served under section
793 of the Companies Act 2006, The Ordinary shares
carry the nght tc receive dividends declared by the
Company. Provided the Company has satisfied all of
its Habilities, during a winding-up of the Company.
the holders of Ordinary shares are entitled to all of the
surplus assets of the Company.

Transfers of Shares

There is no restriction on the transfer of the Company’s
shares other than transfers to more than four joint
transferees and transfers of shares which are not fully
pald up or where the transfercr or any other person whom
the Company reascnably believes 1o be interested in the
transferor’s shares has been duly served with a notice
pursuant to section 793 of the Companies Act 2006.

There are no special rights with regard tc control attached
to securities; no agreements between holders of securities
regarding their transfer known to the Company, and no
agreements which the Company is party to that might
affect its control following a successful takeover bid.

Articles of Association

The Company's Articles of Association may only be
amended by a special resolution at a general meeting of
the shareholders.

As at the date of signing this Report, the total voting
rights of the Company was 606,386 380.

Management Arrangements

Investment Adviser

The Board has appointed the Investment Adviser, Civitas
Investment Management Limited, to provide investment
advice and to asset manage the property portiolio and the
associated day-to-day activities, including management
of tenanted properties and marketing activities. CIM is a
specialist investor in social housing property, with a focus
on specialist social housing. and has extensive experience
in sccial housing and real estate investment

The duties of CIM include the sourcing of investment
opportunities that rneet the investment criteria of the
Company, controlling the acquisition of approved
properties, asset managernent of all propernties within
the portfolio, ongoing monitonng of the properties and
tenants, maintaining comphance with all relevant rules
and regulations, and providing marketing and investor
relations gervices to the Company

Details of the fees payable to the [nvestment Adviser are
described in note 8.0 of the financial statements, The
basis for the calcuiation of the Investment Adviser's fees is
based upon the [FRS NAV,

The agreement with CIM is terminakle on not less than
12 months’ notice by either party, such notice not (¢ expire
earlier than 30 May 2025

The performance of the Investment Adviser has

been reviewed on an ongoing basis throughout the
pericd by the Board at its quarterly meetings A formal
annua! evaluation is also carried out by the Audit and
Management Engagement Committee

The Board considers a number of factors including
investment performance, the guality and quantity of
Invesiment opportunities presented, the skills and
experience of key staff and the capability and resources

of the Investment Adviser to deliver satisfactcry
performance for the Company The Board 15 satisfied with
the performance of the Investment Adviser and considers
its continued appointment to be in the best interests of the
Company and 1ts shareholders

The Board has noted the intention of Wellness Unity
Limited {a wholly owned subsidiary of CK Asset Holdings
Limited) to maintain Civitas Investment Management
Lirmmited as Investment Adviser to the Company once the
Takeover is completed On 23 June 2023, the Takeover Offer
became unconditional.



Report of the Directors
Continued

AIFM

G10 Capital Limited ("G10" or the "AIFM") has been
appointed as the Company's AIFM with effect from

24 August 2017. The AIFM currently receives a monthly

tee of 2.7 basis points of the Company’s tatal NAV for its
services and the agreement is terminable on three months’
notice by either party.

Depositary

Indos Financial Limited was appointed as the Company’s
Depositary with effect from 1 June 2018. The Depositary
provides cash monitoring, safekeeping and asset
verification and oversight functions as prescribed by the
Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive. The
Depositary recelves an annual fee of £53 000, net of VAT,
plus 0.006% of the first £350 million of any new equity
capital raised per annum and 0.003% of further equity
ralsed per annum, subject to a maximum fee of £150,000
per annum. The agreement is terminable on six months'
natice by either panty.

Administrator

The Company has appoeinted Link Alternative Fund
Administrators Limited ("Link”"} as the Administrator

of the Company and its subsidiaries, with effect from

28 February 2018, to undertake the accountancy and other
administrative duties of the Company. Link is a specialist
administrator for investment funds. providing support
functions and experuse tallored for this industry.

The Administrator receives a fixed base fee for the
provision of its services to the Company as well as an
entitlernent (¢ additional variable fees for duties relating
1o corporate activities. The agreernent is termunable on at
least six manths' notice by either party.

The duties of the Administrator include the maintenance
of ail Company and subsidiary books and records,
excluding those maintained by the [nvestment Adviser,
maonitoring compliance with applicable relevant rules and
regulations and other administrative duties as required.

Company Secretary

Link Company Matters Limited was appointed as the
Company Secretary to the Company with effect from

28 March 2018 The Secretary receives a fixed fee for the
provision of its services to the Company. The agreernent
was for an initial period of one year and thereafter
automatcally renews {or successive pericds of 12 months.
uniess terminated by either party on at least six months
notice.

Review of Service Providers

The performance of the service providers 1s reviewed

on an ongoing basis throughout the period by the

Audit and Management Engagement Committee and
formally once a year. The Committee considers a number
of factors including performance of duties, the skills

and experience of key staff. and the capability and
resources of the service provider to deliver satisfactory
performance for the Company.

The Board is satisfied with the performance of the service
providers appointed by the Company and considers their
continued appointment tc be in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders.

Substantial Shareholdings

At 31 March 2023 the Company had been informed of
the following disclosable interests in the share capital of
the Company:

Numberof Percentage of

Ordinary  Total Voting
- . - . shares  Rights
[nvestec Wealth & Investment Limited 62,653,811 10.33
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB 60661367 1900
{publ)
Standard Life Aherdeen 30,492,544 5.03
Massachusetts Financial Services 30,300,144 560
Company
Tilney Smith & Williamsoen Limited 28,844,825 476
Legal & General Group Ple {Group)  18,23%.740 301
BlackRock Inc Below 5%

Continuation Vote

In accordance with its Articles, the Board proposed an
ordinary resclution that the Company should continue
1n its current form to shareholders at the AGM held on
15 September 2022. As the resolution was approved by
shareholders, the Company will therefore continue 1ts
business as presently constituted and will propose a
further continuation resclution at the AGM in 2027. The
Board is mindful that, as the Takeover Offer by Wellness
Unity Limited (a wholly owned indirect subsichary of
CK Asset Holdings Limited) has on 23 June 2023 been
declared unconditional, the resolutions proposed and the
format of the Company’s future AGMs may be impacted.

Listing Rule 9.8.4

The listing rule 9.8 4 outlines a series of requirements
for listed companies to disclose certain items. The
Directors confirm that the Company is required 1o make
a disclosure in respect of the diversity requirernents
outlined in Listing Rule 9.8 6 (9). This disclosure can

be found on page 56. There are no further disclosures
required in relation to Listing Rule 984,

Financial Instruments

The Company utilises financial instruments in is
operations. The financial instruments of the Company at
31 March 2023 comprised trade receivables and payables.
other debtors, cash and cash equivalents, non-current
borrowings, current borrowings and denvatives.

Other than its fixed interest rate debt facilities, it is the
Directors’ apinion that the carrying value of all financial
instruments on the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position is equal to their fair value.

For a more detailed analysis of the Company's financial
Iisk management, please refer tc note 31.0 of the
financial statements.
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Board has considered the requirements to disclese
the annual quantity of ernissions in tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent for activities for which the Company
is responsible The Board believes that the Company

has, from a formal reporting perspective, no reportable
emissions as this reporting falls under the lessees’
responsibility as part of the terms of their fully repairing
and insuring leases; emissions produced from either

the registered office of the Company or from the offices
of other service providers are deemed to fali under the
responsibility of other parties: and the Company has not
leased or owned any vehicles which fall inside the scope
of the GHG Protocol Corporate Standard. In relation to
the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR),
implemented by The Companies (Directors’ Repert) and
Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report)
Regulations 2018, far the year ended 31 March 2023 the
Group 1s considered to be a low energy user.

Regardless of the obligations of other parties, the
Company takes the issue of environmental enhancement
and emissions seriously as part of its overall E8G strategy
and is evaluating the portfolio, working with housing
managers, to consider where 1t can bring about further
enhancements and unprovements

Further details can be found in the Environmental, Sccial
and Governance report on pages 3710 46,

Political donations

Na political donations were made by the Company or its
subsidiaries during the year or the prior year

Charitable Donations

In addition to its direct investments, the Company plays
a broader part within the communities in which 1t
works. Whilst recognising the practical limntations that
all financial investors face. Civitas supports voluntary
organisations that are active within the broader housing
and homelessness environment Civitas also intends, as
part of its broader financial and operational reporting. to
provide a commentary on the positive sacial change
and impact that results from the investments that have
been made,

The following charntakle donations were paid during the
year:

Chamy o . Donawen
Choir with No Mame £17350
House of St Barnakas £30.728
WISH £6.69C
The Care Workers' Chanty . EICDO0C
Total o B £64.768

Independent Auditors

in the case of each Director 1n office at the date the Repert

of the Directors is approved:

e sofar asthe Director 1s aware, there is no relevan:
audit information of which the Group and Comgany's
auditors are unaware; and

s they have taken all the steps that they ought to have
taken as a Director in order to make themseives aware
of any relevant audit information and 1o establish that
the Group and Company's auditors are aware of that
information.

PricewaterhouseCoocpers LLP has expressed its willingness
to continue 10 act as auditors of the Company and a
resolution for its re-appointment will be proposed at the
2023 annual general meeting. The Board is mindful that,
should as takeover offer by Wellness Unity Limited (a
wholly owned indirect subsidiary of CK Asset Holdings
Limited) has on 23 June 2023 been declared unconditicnal.
the resclutions proposed and the format of the Company’s
AGM may be impacted

Takeover Offer Process

Cn 9 May 2023, the Company announced that the Board had
reached agreement with Wellness Unity Limited (a wholly
owned indirect subsidiary of CK Asset Holdings Limited)
(the "Offeror”} on the terms of a recommended all-cash
offer for the entire issued share capital of the Company, to
be implemented by a Takeover Offer {the "Offar

Under the terms of the Offer, each shareholder will be
entitled to receive 80 pence in cash for each share held
i the Company. In addition, shareholders who were on
the register at the close of business on 19 May 2023 were
entitled 1o receive and retain the fourth gquarter dividend
of 1425 pence (in respect of the period 1 January 2023 1o
31 March 2023),

Further on 22 May 2023, the Company issued a circular to
shareholders with respect to the recomnmended cash offer,
which set out, that for shareholders to accept the Qffer a
Form of Acceptance must be received by the Recewving
Agent no later than 21 July 2023, Subsequent to this, the
date for shareholder Form of Acceptances to be received
by the Receiwving Agent was brought forward 10 23 June
2023, On 23 June 2023, the offeror announced that the offer
was declared unconditional,

The Board, which has been advised by the Company's
Joint Brokers (Panmure Gordon and Liberum) as to the
financial terms of the Offer, considers the terms of the Offer
to be fair and reasonable.

The Offeror has indicated its intention (subject 10 the Cffer
being declared unconditional with the Offeror obtaining
75 per cent or more of the voting rights of the Company);
to dehist the Company from the London Stock Exchange
Main Market for listed securities and thereafter re-register
the Company as a private limited company as soon as
practicable following the cancellation of histing and
trading of the Company's shares This process will take
place following the release of the Annual Report

Corpeorate Governance

The Corporate Governance Statemen:t the Report of the
Audit and Management Engagement Comrmitiee and the
Directors’ Rernuneration Report form par: of the Report of
the Directors.

Approval
The Report of the Directors has been approved by the Board
By order of the Board

Link Company Matters Limited

Company Secretary
28 June 2623

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF LINK COMPANY MATTERS LIMITED
COMPANY SECRETARY
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Corporate Governance Statement

Background

The FCA Listing Rules and Disclosure Guidance and
Tiansparency Rules require listed compantes to disclose
how they have applied the principles and complied

with the provisions of the corporate governance code

ta which the issuer is subject. The provisions of the UK
Corporate Governance Code ("UK Code™), as issued by the
FRC in July 2018, are applicabie to the year under review
and can be viewed at www.frc.org.uk.

The Board has considered the principles and
recornmendations of the AIC Code of Corporate
Governance {"AIC Code’) as issued by the AIC 1n February
2019. The AIC Code addresses all the principles set out 1n
the UK Code, as well as setting out additional principles
and recommendations on issues that are of specific
relevance to the Company as an investment comparny.
The FRC has confirmed that AIC member companies
who report against the AIC Code will be meeting their
obligations 1n relation t¢ the UK Code and the associated
disclosure requirements of the FCA. The AIC Code can be
viewed at www theaic.couk

The Board considers that reporting against the principles
and recommendations of the AIC Code prowvides
shareholders with full details about the Company's
Corporate governance compliance.

Statement of Compliance

Except as set out below, the Company has complied
with the provisions of the AIC Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2033

Provision 23: Directors are not appeinted for a specified
term, as ail Directors are non-executive and the Board
beleves that a Director’s performance and their
continued contribution 1o the running of the Company
i5 of greater importance and relevance to shareholders
than the length of time for which they have served as a
Director of the Company. Each Director is subject to the
election and re-election provisions set out 1in the Articles
which provide that a Director appointed during the year
is required to retire and seek election by shareholders
at the next annual general meeting following their
appeointment Thereafter the Directors intend 1o offer
themselves for re-election annually and will aim tc not be
on the Board for more than nineg years.

The UK Code includes provisions relating to:

e+ the role of the chief executive and
» executive directors’ remuneration.

The Beard considers that these provisions are not relevant
to the position of the Company, being an externally
managed investment company. In particular, all of the
Company's day-to-day management and administrative
tunctions are gutsourced to third parties. As a result,

the Company has no executive Directors, employees

or internal operations. The Company has therefore not
reported further in respect of these provisions.

The Board

Under the leadership of the Chairman, the Board

is responsible for the effective stewardship of the
Company's affairs, including corporate strategy.
coTporate governance, risk assessment and cverall
investment policy. The Directors have overall
responsikility for the review of investment activity and
performance, and the supervision of the Investument
Adviser which is responsible for the day to-day asset
management of the Company's portfolic.

The Board consists of five non-executive Directors. [t
seeks 1o ensure that it has an appropnate balance of
skills and experience, and considers that, collectively. 1t
has substantial recent and relevant experience of public
cornpany managemernt, the UK real estate sector, soclal
housing and investment companies. All the Directors are
independent of the Investrnent Adviser and the A[FM.

The Board has adopted a schedule of matters reserved
for decision by the Board. including inter alia,
determining the Company's investment objective and
policy, and gearing and dividend policies. This schedule
of matters reserved for the Board is avalilable cn the
Company's website

The Directors ensure that risks are effectively managed
through robust policies and procedures, supported by
the right values and culture The Board's primary focus
is the sustainable long-term success of the Group 10
dehver value for shareholders, taking into account cther
stakeholders
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The Board is responsible for investment decisicns, other
than to the extent delegated to the AIFM and/or the
Investment Adviser, and the appointment, supervision
and monitoring of the Company's service providers,
including amongst others, the AIFM and the Investment
Adviser. The Beard 1s responsible for the interim and
annual financial statements of the Company and, in
conjunction with the AIFM, alsg approves the periodic
calculation cf the Net Asset Value

The Chairman, Michael Wrebel, was independent of

the Investment Adviser at the time of his appointrnent
and 1s deemed by his fellow Directors to continue 10 be
independent in character and judgement and free of
any conflicting relationships. He leads the Board and

is responsible for its overall effectiveness in directing

the Company. In liailson with the Company Secretary, he
ensures that the Directors receive accurate, timely and
clear information. Mr Wrobel considers himself to have
sufficient time to commit to the Group's affairs. He has no
significant commitments other than those disclosed in
his biography on page 48. The rote and responsibilities of
the Chairman are clearly defined and set out in writing, a
copy of which is avallable on the Company's wehsite.

Peter Baxter is the Senior Independent Director of

the Company He provides a sounding board for

the Chairman and serves as an intermediary for the
other Directors and shareholders. He also provides a
channel for any shareholder concerns regarding the
Chairman and takes the lead 1n the annual evaluation
of the Chairman by the other Directors. The role and
responsibilities of the Senior Independent Director are
clearly defined and set out in writing, a copy of which 1s
available on the Company's website.

The Board has no set policy for the length of tenure of
Directeors although it keeps 1n mind the recommendations
of the AIC Code during succession planning. It1s the
Board's policy for all Directors to stand Ior re-election
annually. Recommendations for election/re-election of
Directars are made on an individual basis following
ngorous review. Directors are appointed under letters of
appointment, copies of which are available for inspection
at the registered office of the Company and at the AGM

Board Operation and Culture

The Board meets formally at least quarterly, but also
meets on an ad hoc basis for the purpose of considering
potential transactions and associated due diligence.
The Board will meet to consider and, if appropriate,
approve the acquisition of properties recornmended

by the Investment Adviser. The Investment Adviser
prepares an Investment Proposal Paper ("IPP’) In respect
of the propased acquisitions which inciudes details

of the transaction and due diligence reports. Upon
review of the [PP. the Board contemplates the structure
of the transacticn, any risks attached 1o the proposed
transaction and how these would be mitigated/managed.
and the impact of the transaction on the value of the
Group's property portfolio, following advice from

the valuers.

For the purpose of monitoring the portfolio, the Board
receives periodic reports from the AIFM and the
Investment Adviser, detailing the performance of the
Company The Board delegates certain responsibilities
and funcuons to the Audit and Managemen Engagement
Committee, which has written terms of reference

To assist the Board in the day tc day operations of the
Company. arrangements have been put in place 1o
delegate authority for performing certain operanons tc
the AIFM, the Investment Adviser and other third-party
service providers, such as the Administrator and the
Company Secretary

The Chairman demonstrates objective judgement, |
promotes a culture of openness and debate, and '
facilitates effective contributions by all Directors, The

oirectors are required to act with integrity lead by

example and promote thus culture within the Company.

The Board seeks to ensure the alignment of the
Company's purpose, values and strategy with the cuiture
of openness, debate and integnty through ongoing
dialogue. and engagement with the Investment Adviser
and the Company's other service providers. The Beard
and the Investment Adviser operate In a supportive,
co-operative and open environment.

The Board schedules yearly meetings with the board of
the Investment Adviser, one of the purposes of which 1s
to recelve an insight into the culture of the Investrment
Adviser



Corporate Governance Statement
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The culture of the Board is considered as part of

the annual performance evaluation process which

is undertaken by each Director. The culture of the
Company's service providers is also considered by the
Audit and Management Engagement Cornmittee during
the annual review of their performance and while
congidering their continuing appeintment.

The Company maintains Directors’ and Officers’ liability
insurance on behalf of the Directers at the expense of
the Company, which was in force during the year ended
31 March 2023 and remains in force as at the date of this
report The Board has agreed arrangements whereby
Directors ray take independent professional advice

in the furtherance of their duties, The Company has

also indemnified the Ditectors in accordance with the
provisions of the Articles of Assaciation.

Independence of Directors

The independence of all Directors is reviewed as part of
the annual assessment of the Board.

The Board has determined that each Director remains
independent in character and judgement and is free of
any relationships or circumstances that threaten their
independence of the Company or its Investment Adviser.
In particular. none cf the Directors have ever been
executives of the Company or the Invesiment Adviser,
have had a material direct or indirect relationship

with the Company or its stakeholders. have received
disproportionate fees, have close family relationships
with stakeholders or represent significant shareholders

Board and Committee Meetings

A formal agenda is approved by the Chairman and
circulated by the Company Secretary in advance of

each meeting to the non-executive Directors and other
attendees. A typical agenda includes an analysis of
portiolio performance and exposure, an update on

the investment pipeline; the Company's iinancial
performance; updates on investor relations, statutory and
regulatory compliance; and any corporate governance
matters Relevant papers on the items included on the
agenda are circulated in good time to the members of
the Board and its Committees, In advance of the meeting.

The Investment Adviser attends the Board meetings
together with representatives from the AIFM and
Company Secretary. Representatives of the Company's
other advisers are aiso invited to attend Board and
Committee meetings from time to time.

The number of Board, Audit and Management
Engagement Committee and Nomination and
Remuneration Committee meetings held during the year
ended 31 March 2023 along with the attéendance of the
Directors is set out below:

Audit and
Management Nomjnaticn and
Quarterly Board Engagement Remuneration
o Meetings Committee Comiruttee
Number Number Number
enttled  Number entitled  Number enhtied Number
. . _tgauend attended 10attend attended toattend  attended
Michael
Wrobel 4 4 3 3 1 1
Alastalr
Moss 4 4 3 3 1 1
Alison
Hadden 4 4 3 3 1 1
Carcline
Gulliver 4 4 3 3 1 1
Perer
Baxter 4 4 3 3 1 1

The Beard 1s scheduled 1o meet on a quarterly basis.

In additon to these meetings the Board also met on
three cccasions to approve the NAV and dividend
declarations and on a further 11 occasions on an ad hoc
basis,

Committees

The Company operates through the Board and its two
Board commiittees, nameiy the Audit and Management
Engagement Committee and the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee (the “Committees”). The Board
evaluates the membership of the Commuttees on an
annual basis.

Audit and Management Engagement
Committee

The Audit and Management Engagement Committee
comprises all Directors. Caroline Gulliver, the Chair of
the Audit and Management Engagement Cocmmittee,
is a Chartered Accountant and is considered tc have
recent and relevant financial experience. The Audt
and Management Engagement Committee as a whole
has competence relevant to the real estate investment
company sector.

The Chairman is a member of the Audit and Management
Engagement Commttee, but does not chair it. His
membership of the Audit and Management Engagement
Commuttee is considered appropriate given the small
size of the Board and the Chairman's knowledge of

the financial services industry A copy of the terms of
reference of the Audit and Management Engagement
Commitiee is available from the Secretary and on the
Company's website,
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The Committee meets at least three times a year and
reviews the scope and results of the external audit. its
cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity
of the external auditors, including the provision of
non-audit services.

The Committee also reviews the terms of the AIFM
agreement and the Investment Adviser agreement, and
examines the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control systems and the perfcrmance of the AIFM,
Investment Adviser, Administrator, Depositary, Company
Secretary and Registrar, and other service providers

The Report of the Audit and Management Engagement
Committee is set out on pages 60 to 62.

Nomination and Remuneration
Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is
comprised of all Directors and the Chairman is the Senior
Independent Director, Peter Baxter. The Nominatuon

and Remuneration Committee meets as required for the
purpose of considenng recruitment to and removals from
the Board: levels of remuneration paid to the Directors,
and review of the Directors” Remuneration Report and
Remuneration Policy. A copy of the terms of reference

of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 1s
available on the Company's website and is available by
request from the Cormmpany Secretary

Board Diversity

The Board acknowledges the FCA rules on diversity and
inclusion on caompany boards.

The Board 1s comprised of a mixture of individuals who
have an appropriate balance of skills and experience to
mee! the future opportunities and challenges facing the
Company. Appointments to the Board are made primarily
on ment though the Board understands the importance
of diversity in corporate governance and takes into
consideration a variety of demographic attnbutes

and characreristics when making decisions on its
compasition. The Board 1s aware of the new Listing Rule
that is on a 'comply or explain’ basis which incorporates
the recommendations of the Parker and Harmpton-
Alexander Reviews which considered how ethnig,
cultural and gender diversity could be improved on UK
boards. The Board has discussed the new ethnic diversity
disciosures required, namely, that from accounting
pericds starting on or after ! Apnit 2022:

a) atleast 40% of individuals on the Board 10 be wormmen;

b) atleas: one sernior Board posimicon to be held by a
woman; and

c) at least one individual on the Board to be from a
mingrity erhnic background

In accordance with Listing Ruie 9 Annex 2.1, the below
table in prescribed tormat, show the gender of the
Directors at the year ended. The data below was
collected through self-reporting by the Directcors

Number of

Number of Percentage an  senior pesilions
Gender identity or sex Board members the Board (%) on the Board
Men 3 60 2
Women 2 40 -

Not specified/prefer
not te say - - -

Number af
senior i
on the Board

Number of
Board members

Per on
Ethnic background the Board {%}

White British or other
White (including
minority white
groups) 5 100 2
Mixed/Multipie Ethnic

Groups — - -

Asian/Asian British

Black/Afnican/

Canbbean/Black

Britugh - - -
Other ethnic group

including Arab - - -
Not specified/prefer

not (o say - - -

The Board is mindful that, at present, it does not comply
with the new ethnic and gender representation 1n
senior position diversity requirements and, the Board,
via the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, is
taking appropriate steps 10 ensure that Board succession
planning takes these diversity requirements into
consideration.

Induction of New Directors

A procedure for the induction of new Directors has been

established, including the provision of an induction pack !
containing relevant information about the Company.

1ts processes and procedures and meetings with the

Chrairman and relevant persons at the Investment Adviser

Performance Evaluation

ror the year under review, the Board undertook

an internal performance evaluation by way of
guestionnalres designed to assess the strengths and
independence of the Board and the Chairman, individual
Directors and the performance of the Board's Committees
The areas considered are

e the frequency and effectiveness of Board and
Comrmittee meetings;

s the s1ze, composition and relevant experience of the
Board,
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» the independence and performance of the Directors
and the Board; and

e thetraining requirements of each Director

The evaluation process is facilitated by the Company
Secretary under the Chairman’s direction and structured
to provide Directors with an opportunity to express

their views in addition to answering specific questions.
Peter Baxter, as the Senior Independent Director, leads
the appraisal of the Chairman. The Board undertocok an
external Board performance evaluaticn in 2021 and is
cognisant of their advantages. [t will keep this option
under regular review.

The Company seeks 1o ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills and experience that are complementary
and enable the Board to operate efficiently.

All of the Directors have assessed their other ongoing
commitments and are satisfied that they can commit the
time necessary to execute their duties 1o the Company.

No signuficant issues were identified during the evaluation
process. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee
considers that all of the current Directors make an effective
contribution and have the requisite skills and experience
to continue to provide able leadership and direction for
the Company It was agreed that all Directors should be
recommended for re-election at the next AGM. The Board
is mindful that, should as Takeover Offer by Weliness

Unity Limited {a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of CK
Agset Holdings Limited) has on 23 june 2023 been declared
unconditional, the resclutions proposed and the format of
the Company's AGM may be impacted.

The Board concluded that each Director brings considerable
expertise and experience to the Board and the Board
cperates with good independent thought and challenge.

Al Board members have assessed their ongoing
commitments and are satisfied that they can comrnit the
fime hecessary to execute their duties 10 the Company.

The Board also uses the performance evaluation as an
opportunity to review and discuss strategic issues for
the Company.

Conflicts of Interest

All Directors have a statutory respensibility to avoid
situations where a conflict of interest exists, or may

exist, between the Company and an entity that the
Director is either directly or indirectly involved with

The Board has procedures in place to identify potential
conflicts and resclve any that should arige. In the case of
a conflict of interest, the nature and extent of the conflict
are assessed against the existing internal control structure,
and the results of this assessment and actions taken to
resolve the conflict are documented in the minutes of
the relevant Board meeting No conflicts of interest arose
during the period.

Health and Safety

Health and safety 1s of prime importance to the

Company and is considered equally with all other
business management activities to ensure protection of
stakeholders, be they tenants, advisers. suppliers, visitors
or others. The Board regularly discusses health and safety
1ssues with the Investment Adviser.

The Company is committed to fostering the highest
standards in health and safety as it believes that all
unsafe acts and unsafe conditions are preventable Ali
our stakehoiders have a respansibility to support the aim
of ensuring a secure and safe environment, and all our
stakeholders are tasked with responsibility for achieving
this commutment.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Directors are responsible for the systems of internal
control relating to the Company and its subsidiaries,
and the reliability of the financial reporung process and
for reviewing their effectiveness, ensuring that the risk
management and control processes are embedded in
day-to-day operations.

An ongoeing formal process, in accordance with the

FRC Guidance on Risk Managerment, Internal Control

and Related Financial and Business Reporting, has been
established for identifying, evaluating and managing the
principal and other risks maost likely to impact the Group
This process, which 1s regularly reviewed. together with
key procedures established with a view to providing
effective financial contral, has been in place throughout
the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the date of this
Report.

The Audit and Management Engagement Committee has
i place a formal procedure for performing an ongoing
1obust assessment of the Group's nisk management

and internal controf systems. A risk matrix has been
established against which the risks identified and the
controls in place to mitigate those risks can be monitored.
The risks are assessed on the basis of the likelihcod of
them happening, the impact on the business if they were
to occur and the effectiveness of the controls in place

to tnitigate them. In arriving at its jJudgement of what
risks the Company faces. the Board has considered the
Company's operations in the light of the following factors:

e the nature and extent of risks which it regards as
acceptable for the Company to bear within its overall
business objective;

e the threat of such risks becoming reality;

o the Company's ability to reduce the incidence and
impact of risk on 1ts performance: and

+ the costto the Company and benefits related to the
Company and third parties cperating the relevant
conirols.
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The risk matnx is reviewed twice a year by the
Commitiee and at other times as necessary. The principal
risks facing the Company are set out on pages 30 tc 33 of
this Annual Report, together with the processes applied
to mitigate those risks.

(n an annual basis, the Committee reviews the control
reports of its key service providers and the auditors note
any deficiencies in internal controls and processes that
have been identified during the course of the audit,

The Audit and Management Engagement Comrnitiee is
mindiul of these key risks as well as considering evolving
and emerging risks such as the impact of the ongoing
Ukraine-Russia conflict, long-term chimate change and
cyber security which have the potental to affect the Group.
The Committee ensures that the Board takes appropriate
advice and debates the issues facing the Group.

At each Board meeting, the Board receives reports from
the Investment Adviser. the Administrator, the AIFM and
the Broker in respect of complance activities, Company
financial performance and financial position.

The controls, which are regularly reviewed, aim to
ensure that the assets of the Company are safeguarded,
proper accounting records are maintained. and the
financial information used within the business and for
publication is rehable The risk management process
and Company systems of internal controls are designed
1o manage rather than eliminate the nisk of failure to
achleve the Company's objectives and can onty provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurange against maternal
misstatement or loss

The Directors have carried out a review of the effectiveness
of the Company's risk managemen! and internal control
systems as they have operated over the period and up to
the date of approval of the Annual Reporn. During the course
of the review, the Board has not identified nor been advised
of any fallings or weaknesses which it has determined to be
significant,

The Directors have considered the appropriateness of
establishing an internai audit function and, having regard
to the structure and nature of the Company's acuvities,
has concluded that the funcuon 1s unnecessary. The Auciht
and Management Engagement Committee will review

on an annual basis the need for this function and make
appropriate recommendations 1o the Board

Financial Reporting
The Board operates the following key controls 1n relation
to financial reporting.

s the Board and Commattee members review gquarterly
management reports and supporiting documents that
are provided by the Investment Adviser,

* the Board has procedures in place for the approval
of expenses and payments to third parties: and

e the Committee members and Board review all
financial information and announcements pricr
1o publication.

Corporate Responsibility

The Company regards corporate responsibility as

integral to how it conducts its business. It is committed to
being a good corporate citizen and behaving responsibly
with a demconstrated transparency of approach.

To achieve this goal, the Company applies the following
principles to its operations:

Business Conduct

The Company’s investment decisions are made on the
basis of generating shareholder value and ensuring

the long-term success of the business. The selection of
suppliers will be made independently by the Company’s
Directors upon advice from the Investment Adviser

and in the best interests of the Company. The Board

will ensure that appropriate controls are in place to
guarantee independence from the supply chain.

All customers and suppliers will be treated fairly and
responsibly.

The Company will not provide financial support to
political parties or politicians.

The Company 1s resclutely opposed to bribery and
corruption. The Company will not use any illegal or
improper means to further its business interests, nor will
it accept any forms of inducements intended to influence
its investment decisions.

Governance

The Company will protect the interests of its shareholders
and other stakeholders through compliance with relevant
legal and regulatory environments, and through effective
management of business risk and opportunity

The Board will ensure that its members are truly
independent, are competent and have the resources and
support required to perform their duties optirnally, and
*hat the Board's decisions are made 1n the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders The performance
of the Board will be regularly reviewed, and Sirectors will
reure as and when deemed apprepriate by the Board 1n
accordance with best practice.



Corporate Governance Statement
Continued

Socially Responsible Investment

The Board aims to be a socially responsible investor
and believes that it is Impartant fo invest in spemalist
social housing properties in a responsible manner in
respect of environmental, ethical and social 1ssues. The
Investment Adwviser's evaluation procedure and analysis
of the properties within the portfolio includes research
and appraisal of such matters, and takes into account
environmental and social policies and other business
issues.

Further details on the social impact of the Company's
investments are included 1n the Social Impact report from
The Good Economy, a summary of which can be found
on page 40.

The Comgany recognises that environmental protection,
resource efficiency and sustainable development are
necessary to ensure that environmental damage is
limited and furthermore that, where relevant positive
actions should be taken to improve the existing
environment for future generations.

Transparency

The Company alms to be transparent and (¢ ensure
that it communicates with its shareholders and
other stakeholders 1n a manner that enhances their
understanding of 1ts business.

The Company maintains accounting decumentation
that clearly identifies the true nature of all business
transactions, assets and liabilities, in line with the
relevarnt requlatory. accourtting, and legal requirements.
Na record or entry 1s knowingly false, distorted.
incomplete, o1 suppressed

All reperting is materially accurate and complete and

in comphance in all material respects with stated
accounting policies and procedures, The Company does
not knowingly misstatle or misrepresent management
information for any reason. and the Company expects the
same to apply to its suppliers.

The Company may be required to make statements

or provide reports 1o regulatory bodies, government
agencies or other government departments, as well as to
the media. 'l he Company ensures that such statements or
reports are correct, timely, and not misieading, and that
they are delivered through the appropriate channels.

The Company provides, through its website, its Annual
Report and other statements, appropriate information
to enable sharehclders and stakeholders 1o assess

the performance of its business. It complies with

the applicable laws and regulaticns cancerning the
disclosure of information relating to the Company

Communities

The Company aims to ensure that its properties which
are associated with the provision of health services
provide significant value-adding {acilities in the
communities where it invests

Relations with Stakeholders

Details regarding the Company's engagement with its
stakeholders are set out within the Strategic Report on
pages 17 to 25,

Approval
The Corporate Governance Statement has been approved
by the Board.

By order of the Board

Link Company Matters Limited

Company Secretary

28 June 2023
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Report of the Audit and Management Engagement Committee

Introduction

The Audit and Management Engagement Committee (the
‘Committee”) oversees the financial reporting precess for
the Company, with consideration of the internal controls
and risk management of the Company, and oversight of
the Company's compliance with accounting standards
and regulatory requirements. It also oversees the
performance of the Investment Adviser and the Company's
administrative and company secretarial support.

Composition and Role of the Audit and

Management Engagement Committee

The Comrmittee is chaired by Caroline Gulliver and
comprises all the Directors. The Committee operates within
written terms of reference which are availahle on the
Company's website as determined by the Board

The principal functions of the Cornrnittee are to:

s oversee the financiat reporting process for the
Company and moniter the integrity of the financial
statements of the Company and the Group, including
their compiiance with accounting standards and
regulatory requirements;

s advise the Board, where requested, on whether the
Annual Report and financial statements, taken as a
whale, are fair, balanced and understandable and
provide the information necessary for shareholders
to assess the Company's position and performance,
business model and strategy;

e review and monitor the internal financial control and
risk management systems of the Comgpany;

e ronitor and review annually whether an internal
audit function is required:

¢ review the Investment Adviser's whistieblowing
arrangements;

s approve the appointment, re-appointment or
removal ¢f the external auditors, and approve their
remuneration and termes of engagement;

e manage the relationship between the Company
and the external auditors, including reviewing their
mdependence and objectivity and the effectiveness of
the audit process:

* develop and implement a policy on the engagement
of the external auditors to supply non-audit services;
and

s review and monitor the performance of, and
contractual arrangements with, the [nhvestment
Adviser, the AIFM and other service providers

It is withun the Commuitiee’s terms of reference for its
mermbers 10 seek independent professional adwvice. at the
Company's expense, as required in the furtherance of its
duties

Meetings

The Commitlee meets three times a year; on two
occasions, part of the meeung 1s held with the external
auditors without the [nvestment Adwviser present. The
Committee met three imes in the financial year and the
meenngs were attended by each member as set out on
page 55

Performance Evaluation

The process for the evaluation of the performance of the
Committee is disclosed on pages 56 and 57

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Company has an ongeing process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the princ¢ipal and emerging risks
faced by the Group. Further details can be found on pages
57 and 58.

The principal risks and uncertainties identified from the risk
register and a description of the Group's risk management
procedures can be found on pages %0 to 33.

Activities During the Year

The Committee considered the Annual Report, Half-Yearly
Report, any cther formal financial perfermance
announcements and any other matters as specified
under the Committee’s terms of reference and reported to
the Board on how it discharged its responsibilities

The Committee discussed and considered the external
audnt performance, objectivity and independence, the
external auditors’ re-appointment, accounting pelicies
and Alternative Performance Measures, significant
accounting judgements and estimates, the need for an
internal audit function and the risk register

The Committee concluded that an internal audit
function would provide minimai additional comfort
at considerable extra cost to the Company. Internal
assurance 1s achieved by the existing system of
moenitoring and reporting by third parties which the
Committee iews as appropriate and adequate The
external auditors are also provided with third party
internal controls reports and additional information,
as requested.

During the year. the Committee also conducted a
comprehensive review of the key agreements with

1ts service providers, and a detailed review of the
performance, compaosition. personnel, pracesses and
internal control systems of the AIFM, a review of all of
the Group's other corporate advisers and key service
providers, The discussion included an assessment of
performance and suitabihty of the services provided
i the context of the fees paid to each provider, and a
review of the terrnination period of each agreement

The Committee censidered the terms of the Investment
Management Agreement, to ensure 1t continues 1o reflect
the commercial arrangements agreed between the
Company and the [nvestment Adviser and was satisfied
that this was the case,

The Cormnmittee discussed and considered the Takegver
OCifer by Wellness Unity Limited {a wholly owned
subsidiary of CK Asset Holdings Limited), including the
work undertaken by the Company in relation 1o the offer,
115 Impact on the Company's risk profile and on going
concern



Report of the Audit and Management Engagement Committee

Continued

Significant Issues Considered by the

Committee

The Committee considered the key accounting esumates
and judgements underlying the preparation of the
financial statements focusing specifically on:

Valuation of Investmenti Property
The valuation of the property portfolio is crucial to the
staternent of financial position and reported results.

After discussion with the Investrment Adviser, the
Coammitter has determined that the key risks of
misstatement of the Company financial statements relate
to the valuation of investment property.

The valuations of the investment properties at the end
of the financial year were independently performed by
Jones Lang LaSalle Limited {"JLL"). whom the Committee
considers to have sulficient expertise, expérience and
local and naticnal knowledge of social housing and
supported housing to undertake the valuations.

JLL also conducts nitial valuations of properties on
acquisition. The Directors have ensured that JLL has
appropriate procedures in place to ensure there are no
independence conflicts with the services provided to
the Company.

The Investment Adviser confirmed to the Committee that
the method of valuation has been applied consistently
during the year It further confirmed that, during the
course of the period, JLL was regularly challenged by
the Investment Adviser on the assumptions used in the
valuation of the Company's investment properties to
ensure robust and appropriate methods were being
applied. The Investrment Adviser discusses these areas of
challenge with the Committee.

The auditors met separately with JLL and reportad back
to the Committee on its challenge of the valuations

and assumpticns. The auditors were satisfied that

the valuaticns had been prepared using appropriate
methods and assumpticns, and had been prepared in
accordance with RICS vValuation - Professional Standards.

As explained in note 15.0 to the financial statements,
the approach adopted by the Company is to recognise
investment properties at fair value, with the fair value of

the property being based on valuations performed by JLL.

The revaluation of the investment properties gave 1ise 10
a revaluation gain of £2,640,000 in the pencd.

Takeover Offer

The Committee considered the valuation work
undertaken by JLL (as instructed to act for the Company,
Panmure Gordon (UK} Limited and Liberum Capital
Litnited) with respect to the Takeover Offer by Wellness
Unity Limited {a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of CK
Asset Holdings Limited) The valuation methodology used
by JLL was consistent with that used during the valuation
for the year ended 31 March 2023 and had the same
valuation date

Maintenance of REIT Status

There are a number of conditions that a company {(or
principal company of a group REIT) needs to satisfy in
order to become a REIT and remain within the regime.
The UK REIT regime affords the Group a beneficial tax
treatment for Income and capital gains, provided certain
criteria are met. There is a risk that these REIT conditions
rmay not be met and additional tax becomes payable by
the Company. The Beard reqularly reviews the REIT tests
that are performed by the Administrator.

The Board is satisfied that the Company has maintained
its REIT status throughout the year

Going Concern

The Committee considered the Company's Going
Concern and Viability Statement for the year ended

31 March 2023 in ight of the Takeaver QOffer and 1ts impact
on the Company's debt position. {t agreed the wording
used in the Independent Auditors Report which makes
reference to the material uncertainty identified.

Misstatements

The Investment Adviser confirmed to the Committee that
it was not aware of any material misstatements made
intentionally to achieve a particular presentation.

Conclusion in Respect of the Annual
Report and Financial Statements

Hawving reviewed the presentations and reports from the
Investment Adviser, the Committee is satisfied that the
financial statements appropriately address the cnitical
judgements and key estimates, both in respect of the
amounis reported and the disclosures.

The Comrnittee is also satisfied that the significant
assumptions used for determining the value of assets
and liabilities have been appropriately scrutinised and
challenged and are sufficiently ropust. Accordingly. the
Committee has concluded that the Annual Report and
financial statements, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced
and understandable and has recommended their
approval to the Board on that basis.

Auditors’ Appointment and Tenure

As a result of the UK's implementation of the EU's
mandatory audit firm rotation requirements. the Company
Is required to ensure that the external auditors’ contract
is put out 1o tender at least every ten years, with the
proviso that no single firm may serve as the Company's
external auditors for a penod exceeding 20 years.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP was first appointed as the
Company's auditors with effect from March 2017 It is
intended that the external audit will be put out to tender
no later than for the financial vear commencing 1 April
2026, which is ten vears after the Company's imtial listing.

Saira Choudhry is the audit partner allocated to the
Company by PricewaterhouseCcopers LLP. The audit of
the financial statements {or the year ended 31 March 2023
15 her second as senior statutory auditor of the Company
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Report of the Audit and Management Engagement Committee

Continued

Assessment of the Effectiveness
of the External Audit Process and

Auditors’ Independence

As part of its annual review of the effectiveness of

the external audit process, the Committee obtained
assurance on the gquality of the external audit from its
own evaluation. the audit feedback documentation and
from correspondence and discussions with the audit
partner, Investment Adviser and the Administrator

The auditors demonstrated a good understanding

of the Group. and had identified and focused on the
areas of greatest financial reporting risk. Its reporting
tc the Committge was clear, open and thorough. The
Committiee has assessed the professional scepticism and
challenge of management judgement by the auditors
and is satisfied that the auditors have demonstrated
these For example, the external auditors conducted a
review of the work conducted by JLL in evaluating the
investment property valuaticns in which the external
auditors showed appropriate professional scepticism
and challenge of judgement. The Committee assessed
the challenge provided by the external auditors via the
external auditors reports provided at the year end and
half year end meetings and questioned the externai
auditors as appropriate The Audit and Management
Engagement Committee Chairman alsoc met with the
external auditors throughout the audit and half-yearly
review processes (o ensure that the external auditors
were aligned with the Committee’s expectations. The
Commuttee consldered the advice included in the

FRC Practice Aid on Audit Quality when making this
judgement

The FRC's Audit Quality [nspections Report on the audits
carried out by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP was also
considered by the Cormnmittee. On the basis of these
factors and assessments, the Committee has concluded
that the external audit process has been effective.

The Committee assessed the external auditors
independence, quahfications, relevant experience,
and effectiveness of audit pracedures. In advance of
each audit, the Committee cbtains confirmation from
the external auchtors that they remain independent
and that the level of non-audit fees are not an
independence threat

Non-audit Services

The Committee has put into place a policy for the
provision of non-audit services 1o the Company by the
auditors which is in line with the recommendations set
out in the FRC's Guidance on Audit Committees (2016) and
the requirements of the FRC's Revised Ethical Standard
{2019) The general intention of the Cornmittee is to avoid
the provision of non-audit services by the auditors, cther
than the review of the half-yearly report, as these have
the potential 1o compromise the independence ¢f the
auditors The Cornrnittee acknowledges that in certain
situations it may be appropriate {or the external auditors
to provide such services to the Company for a variety of
reasons including cost effectiveness, depth of knowledge
and the cngoing relaticnship between the Board and
the external auditors. All non-audit fees are approved by
the Committee in advance Where non-audzit fee levels
are considered significant, the Commaittee considers the
appropriateness of the independence safeguards put in
place by the auditors.

The total fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP during
the period, net of VAT, totalled £441,000 (2022: £402,000) of
which E83,00C (2022' £44,000) was concerning non-audit
services for the review of the half-yearly report and

Enil (2022: £62,000 for non-audit services concerning a
planned Bond Issue which was postponed).

The auditors were selected for the non-audit services
relating to the postponed Bond Issue following careful
consideration by the Committee The Committee
believed that the ability for the auditors 1o audit the
Company's financial statements independently would
not be impacted by this work it 15 standard practuce fara
Company's external auditors 1o undertake this task

Note 30 tc the consclidated hnancial statements
details all services provided and total fees paid to
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for the financial year
ended 31 March 2023 The Committee considers
PricewaterhouseCocpers LLP to be independent of the
Company

Re-appointment of the Auditors

Taking into account the performance and effectiveness of
the auditors and the confirmation of their independence,
the Committee has recommended to the Board that a
resolution to re appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as
the Company's auditors be put to the shareholders at the
forthcoming AGM,

Caroline Gulliver

Chairman, Audit and Management Engagernent
Committes

28 June 2023
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Report of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Introduction

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee presents the
Feport for the year ended 31 March 2027

Composition and Role of the Nomination

and Remuneration Committee

The Nominaticn and Remuneration Committee comprises
Peter Baxter, as Chairman, and the entire Board, all of
whorn are non-executive Direcrors. Terms of Reference
have been established by the Board and are available on
the Company's website.

The Nomination and Rermnuneration Committee's principal
duties are as foliows:

Momination

e toreview the structure, size and composition of the
Board, including its skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity. including gender and ethnicity:

e 10 consider the succession planning of Directors,
taking intc account the challengeés and opportunities
facing the Company and the skills and expertise
needed on the Board in the future;

« 10 be responsibie for identifying and nominating
candidates to {ill Board vacancies as and when
they arise;

= toreview annually the time required from
non-executive Directors;

s toreview the results of the Board performance
evaluation as it relates 10 Board composition and
SUCCessi1on planning.

« toreview annually porential conflicts of interests of
Directors as disclosed to the Company and develop
appropriate processes for managing such conflicts; and

e toreceive and consider updates from the Investment
Adviser on its own succession planning activities

Remuneration

s 1o determine and agree with the Board, a formal
and transparent procedure for developing policy
on the remuneration of the Company's Chair, Audit
and Management Engagement Committee Chair
and non-executive Directors;

e totake into account all factors when considering
the Remuneration Policy which it deems necessary.
including relevant legal and regulatory requirermnents,
the provisions and recommendations of the AIC Code
of Corporate Governance and asscociated guidance:

s toreview the ongoing appropriateness and relevance
of the Remuneration Palicy,

e [0 obtain relable, up-to-date information about
remuneration in cther companies of comparable
scale and complexity and market practice generally:

e (0 be responsible far establishing the sejection
criterla, selecting. appointing and seting the terms
of reference for any remuneration consultants who
advise the Committee; and

s to ensure that contractual terms on termination, and
any payments made, are fair to the individual, and the
Company, that failure is not rewarded and that the
duty to mitigate loss 1s fully recognised.

Activities During the Year

The Comimittee meets at least once per year. During the
year, the Committee has:

s considered the Board's remuneration in view of the
responsibilities and time commitments for overseeing
the affairs of the Company. in light of the Articles of
Association as well as the level of dividend paid to
shareholders during the year;

e reviewed the Director's skill marrix;

e considered the Board's current succession plan, and
agreed that it would be prudent for the Board to
phase the recruitment of additional Directors going
forward to allow progressive rotation of Directors and
facilitate effective successicn planning.

+ appointed a Sub-Committee to be responsible for
conducting the recruitment process to identify a new
candidate for appointment tc the Board;

e engaded recruitment agency. Qdgers Berndston, to
assist with the search for a candidate:

e reviewed the results of the Board's 2023 performance
evaluation process, the detalls of which can be found
on pages 56 and 37 and

» satisfied itself that each non-executive Director
serving at the end of the year remains independent
and continues 1o have sufficient time to discharge
their responsibilities to the Company.

The Company is supportive of the new Listing Rules
being issued by the Financlal Conduct Authority

on diversity and inclusion on company boards. The
Committee is considering a range of candidates from
diverse backgrounds. The Company's diversity policy can
be found on page 56.

The Directors’ fees were considered by the Committes 1n
February 2023 Dunng its consicderaticn, the Committee
took into account the factors of clanty, simplicity. risk,
predictability. proportionality and alignment of Company
culture It also obtained the most up-to-date industry
remuneration comparisen to aid in its decision-making
Please see the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 64
10 67 for details on Director rermnuneration.

Peter Baxter
Chairman, Nomination and Remuneration Comrnittee

28 June 2023
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Directors’ Remuneration Policy

Introduction

The Remuneration Policy of the Company 1s set by

the Board. A resolution to approve the Rernuneration
Policy was passed at the AGM of the Company held

con 15 September 2022, The policy provisions set out
below will apply until the Remuneration Folicy is

put to shareholders for approval at the AGM of the
Company in 2025. There are no changes proposed to
the Remuneration Policy. The Remuneration Policy is
binding and sets the parameters within which Directors’
Temuneration may be set.

Policy

The Remuneration Policy of the Company is to pay its
non-executive Directors fees that are appropriate for
the role and the amount of time spent in discharging
their duties, that are broadly in line with those of
comparable real estate investment companies and that
are sufficient to attract and retain suitably qualified and
experienced individuals.

Directors’ Remuneration Components

Component

Annual fee

D]reclqr
Chairman

Annual fee Non-executive Directors

Chair of the Audit and Management
Engagement Committee

Addinonal fee

“Additional fee  All Directors

Expenses .&ll Directérs

Discretlonary

The fees paid will be reviewed on an annual basis and
may also be reviewed when new non-executive Directors
are recruited to the Board. The Directors of the Company
are entitled tc such rates of annual fees as the Board

at its discretion shall from time to time determine The
Chairman of the Board and the Audit and Management
Engagement Committee Chairman are entitled to receive
fees at a higher level than those of the other Directors,
reflecting their additional duties and responsibilities.
Annual fees are pro-rated where a change takes place
during the financial year.

In addition to the annual fee under the Company's
Articles of Association, if any Directer is requested to
perform any special duties or services outside their
ordinary duties as a Director, they may be paid such
reasonable additional remuneration as the Board may
Irom time to time determine

Rate at 1 Apnil 2023
tand 1 Apnl 2022)

Purpose of Remuneration

£53000 Commitment as Chairman of a public
o company’
© £3400C Commitment as non-executive Directors of
& pubiic company?®
£5.000 For addrtional responsibilities and time

commirment?

For extra or special services performed in
their role as a Director?

n/a Reimbursement of expenses incurred in the
performance of duties as a Director®

1 The Company’s policy is for the Chairman of the Board to be paid a higher fee than the other Direciors 1o reflect the more onerous role
2 The Company s Articles of Association limit the aggregate fees payabie to the Board ot Directors te £250.000 per annum
3 The Company’s policy is for the Chair of the Audit and Management Engagement Committee 10 be paid a higher fee than the other Directors to reflect the more

onerous role

4 This s a provision of the Company s Articles Additional tees would only be paid 1n exceptional circumstances 1n reiation to the performance of extra or special

Services

5 Directors are ent:iled to claim expenses in respect of duties underaken in conneacton with their role as a Director
The Company has no employees Accordingly there are no differences in policy on the remuneration of Directors and the remnuneration of employees
Nc Director 1s entitled to receive any remuneration which 1s performance-related As a result, there are no performance condiuons 1n relation ta any elemeants of the

Directors remuneration (n ¢xistence to set out in this Remuneration Folicy

Directors and Officers’ Lability insurance cover is
mamtained by the Company on behalf of the Directors.

Directors are entitled to be paid all expenses properly
incurred 1n attending Board or shareholder meetings
or otherwise 1n or with a view to the performance of
ther duties

As all Directors are non executive and there are no
employees, the Company does not operate any share
option or other long-term incentive schemes and the
Directors’ fees are not subject 1o any performance criteria
No pension or other retirtemnent benefit schemes are
operated by the Company for any of 1ts Directors.



Directors’ Remuneration Report
Continued

Service Contracts

No Director has a service contract with the Company The
virectors are appomnted under lellers of appointment
Their appointment and any subsequent termination or
retirernent is subject to the Articles of Association, The
Directors' letters of appointrment provide that, upon the
termination of a Director's appointment, that Director
must resign in writing and all records remain the
property of the Company. The Director's appoeintment
can be terminated in accordance with the Articles of
Association and without compensation. There is no
notice periad specified in the Articles of Association for
the removal of Birectors and all Directors are subject to
annual re-election by shareholders.

Approach to Recruitment Remuneration

The remuneration package for any new Chairman or
non-executive Director will be the same as the prevaiiing
rates determined on the bases set out above. The Board
will not pay any introductory fee or incentive to any
person to encourage them to become a Director, but
may pay the fees of search and recruitment specialists

in connection with the appointrnent of any new
non-executive Director.

Views of Shareholders

Any views expressed by shareholders on the fees being
paid to Directors would be taken into consideration by
the Board when reviewing levels of remuneration.

Remuneration Report

The Board presents its Directors’ Rermuneration Report

in respect of the year ended 31 March 2023 The Beoard
has prepared this report in accordance with the Large
and Medium-Sized Companies and Groups (Accounts
and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013, An ordinary
resolution for the approval of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report will be put to shareheclders at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company.

The law requires the Company's auditors to audit certain
required disclosures. Where disclosures have bzen
audited, they are indicated as such. The auditors opinion
15 included in the auditors’ report on pages 71to 78

Annual Statement from the Chairman

[ am pleased to present the Directors’ Remuneration
Repul for the year ended 31 March 2022

During the year under review, the Board, via the
Neomination and Remuneration Comimittee, was
responsible for setting the Company’s Remuneration
Policy and Directors’ fees.

The report from Normnation and Remuneration
Committee can be found on page 63

The Directors are rermunerated for their services at such
rate as the Directors shall from time 1o time determine.
The Board has set three levels of fees: one for the
Chairman. one for other Directors, and an addinonal

fee that 1s paid to the Director who chairs the Audit

and Management Engagement Committes Fees are
reviewed annually in accordance with the Remunerauon
Policy. The fee for any new Director appointed will be
determined on the same basis

Directars' fees for the year ended 31 March 2023 were

at a level of £33,000 per annum for the Chairman and
£34,000 per annum for other non-executive Directors. The
Chairman of the Audit and Management Engagement
Committee received an additional fee of £5,000 per
annurm.

There were no other payments for extra or special
services 1in the year ended 31 March 2023

At the AGM held on 3 September 2019, shareholders
approved the amendment to the Company's Articles of
Asspciation which increased the maximum aggregate
annual remuneration payable to Directors {from £200,000
to £250.000.

The Directors Remuneration Policy was approved
at the AGM held on 15 September 2022. There will be
no significant change in the way the Remuneraticn
Policy will be implemented in the course of the next
financial year.

The Directors’ Remuneration Policy will next be presented
1o sharehaolders for approval at the Company's AGM in
2025
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
Continued

Directors’ Fees for the Period (audited)

The Directors who served during the year received the following emoluments:

Year ended 31 March 2023

o Year ended 31 March 2022 o

Taxable Change Taxable Change
Derector Fees benefits Tatal 10 2023 Fees benelits Total to 2022
Michael Wrobel (Chairman)  £53,000 - E53000  192% £52000  _  £52000  400%
Alastair Moss £34,000 - £34000  216% £33280 - £33280 4.00%
Alison Hadden £34.000 - £34000  216% £33280 - £33280  400%
Caroline Gulliver £39,000 - £39.000  188% £38280 - £38280  6.33%
Peter Baxter _ £34,000 — £34000  216% E33280 o E33280 400%
Total " £194000 - £194000 _ £190,120 - g190120

The amounts paid to the Directors were for services as
non-executive Directors. Taxable benefits included in the
above table are in respect of the amounts reimbursed to
Directors as travel and other expenses properly incuired
by them in the performance of their duties. There are no
variakle elements in the rermuneration payable to the
Directors.

Under the Caompany's Articles of Associatan, the total
aggregate remuneration and benefits in kind of the
Directors of the Company is subject to a maximum of
£250,0C0 in any financial year Any change to thus would
require shareholder approval.

Loss of Office {audited;

The Directars ddo not have service contracts with the
Company but are engaged under letters of appointment
under which there 15 no entitlement 1o compensaton for
toss of office. Directors are subject te annual re-election
by shareholders

Total Shareholder Return (rebased)

Company Performance

The following graph compares the performance for the
period from PO on 18 November 2016 1o 31 March 2023,
the total shareholder return of the Company's Ordinary
shares relative to the FTSE All Share Index and FTSE
Real Estate Index. Although the Company has no formal
benchmark, these indices have been selected as the
FTSE All-Share represents all companies of a similar
capital size, and the constituents of the FTSE 350 Real
Estate Index are UK-based real estate companies and are
therefore considered 16 represent the most appropriate
comparative.

Civitas FTSE 350 Real Estate Index
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Directors’ Remuneration Report
Continued

Relative Importance of Spend on Pay

The table below sets out, in respect of the year ended
31 March 2023

a) the remuneration paid to the Directors; and

b) the distributions made to shareholders by way of
dividend.

Year ended

Year ended

31 March 2023 31 Mazch 2022
_ — - . __.__ _ tooa _ E0OD
Dirertors' remuneration 194 190
Dividends paid te Ordinary
shareholders 34,459 34,093

Directors’ Interests (audited)

There 15 no requirement under the Company's Articles
of Association or the terms of their appointment for
Directors to hold shares in the Company

As at 31 March 2023, the Directors (including their
connected persons) had beneficial interests in the
following number of shares in the Company

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

O e O ares
Michael Wrobel 200,000 120598
Alastair Moss 11,766 11,766
Alison Hadden 31,937 -
Carcline Gulliver 58,832 58,832
Peter Baxier 82065 ___ 82065

There have been no changes to Directors’ share interests
between 31 March 2023 and the date of this Report. Each
Director has accepted the recommended all-cash offer
made by Wellness Unity Limited for the entire issued
share capital of the Company (the "Cffer") in respect of
their own beneficial holdings

None of the Directors or any persons connected
with them had a matenal interest in the Company's
transactons. arrangements or agreements durnng
the year.

Voting at AGM

The Directors’ Remuneration Policy was approved at

the AGM held cn 15 September 2022 and the Directors’
Rernuneration Report for the year ended 31 March 2022
was approved at the AGM held on 15 September 2022 The
votes cast by proxy on these resolutions were,

Votes for' Votes agatnst
% af votes % of vates
cast __ tast

Voles Total
___ wrthheld

_Resaluwon
To approve
the Directors’
Remuneration
Report
To approve
the Directors’
Remuneration
Policy

99.65% 0.35%  266.554 296,369,243

283,007 296.569.243

_99.63% 037%

1 Votes for' include discrehonary proxy votes granted to the Chairman by
sharehoiders

Consideration of Shareholder Views

The Company is cornmitted tc ongoing shareholder
dialogue and takes an active interest in voting outcomes.
Where there are substantial votes against resolutons

in relation to Directors’ remuneration, the Company will
seek the reasons for any such vote and will detail any
resulting actions in the Directors REemuneraticn Report
Both the approval of the Directors’ Rernuneration Report
and the Directors Remuneration Policy resolutions were
approved by shareholders at the AGM on 15 September
2022. The Beard received no feedback from shareholders
on these resolutions.

Approval

The Directors’ Remuneration Report was approved by the
Board and signed on 1its behalf by

Michael Wrobel
Chairman

28 June 2623
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
in respect of the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the
Direciors have prepared the Group financial statements
in accerdance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards and the Company financial statements in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Pracuice (United Kingdom Accounting
Standards. cornpnsing FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure
Framework’, and applicable Jaw).

Under Company law, Directors must not approve the
financial staternents untess they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and Company and of the profit or loss of
the Group for that period. [n preparing the financial
statements, the Directors are required to.

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;

s state whether applicable UK-adopted internaticnal
accounting standards have been followed for the
Group financial statements and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 have been
followed lfor the Company financial statements, subject
to any rmatenal departures disclosed and explained in
the financial statements,

e make judgements and accounting estmates that are
reasonable and prudent; and

» prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Group and Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the Greup and Company and hence for taking
reascnable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are also responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient 1o show and
explain the Group's and Company's tzansaciions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Group and Company and
enakle them to ensure that the financial statements and
‘he Directors’ Rermuneranon Report comply with the
Companies Act 2006

The Directars are responsihle for the ma:intenance and
integnty of the Company's financial statements pubhshed
on the ultimate parent Company s website. Legisiation

1in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
disserninancn of financial statements may ciffer from
legislation 1n other jurisdictions

Directors’ Confirmations

The Directors consider that the Annual Report and
Accounts, taken as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the information necessary
for shareholders to assess the Group's and Company's
position and pertormance, business model and strategy.

Each of the Directors, whose names and functicons are
listed in the Board of Directors, confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge:

« the Group financial statermnents, which have been
prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards, give a true and fair view of the
assets. habiiities, financial position and profit of the
Group:

e the Company financilal staternents, which have
been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101, give a true
and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial
position of the Company,; and

e the Group Strategic Report includes a fair review of the
development and pericimance of the business and the
position of the Group and Company. together with a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties that
1t faces

Approval

This Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities was
approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

Michael Wrobel

Chairman

28 June 2023



Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive

As the Company and the Alternative Investment Fund
Manager (the "AlFM") are each domiciled in the United
Kingdom, the FCA Handhonk rules require that. among
other things. the AIFM makes avaliiable the following
information to shareholders of the Company under the
AIFMD (as implemented in the UK} and to notify them of
any material change to information previously provided.

These disclosures can alsc be found on the Company's
website: www . civitassocialhousing . com.

Investment Policy, Leverage and
Liquidity (AIFMD 23(1}(a)(bi(h))

The investment strategy and objectives of the Company,
the types of assets it may invest in and the investment
technigues 1t may employ, associated risks and any
investrment restrictions are laid out 1n the investment
cbjectives and policy and other sections of the

Annual Report.

For information about the circumstances in which

the Company rmay use leverage, the types of sources
permitted and the associated risks and any restrictions
on the use of leverage and any collateral and asset
re-use arrangements, shareholders are directed to the
disclosures contained in the investment objectives and
policy section of these financial statements as well as
specific AIFMD related disclosures further below

Under the FCAs Listing Rules. to which the Company is
subject, 1t needs the prior approval of its shareholders to
make a matenal change to its investment policy.

Since the Company is closed-ended without redemption
rights, liguidity nsk management is hmited to the
liquidity required 10 meet the Company's obligations in
relation to its financing arrangements. The AIFM utilises
various risk assessrment methods to measure the risk of
portfolio illiquidity to meet the Company's cbhligations.
This measurement enables the provision of management
information to the AIFM and the Beard of the Company 10
enable these risks to be monitored and managed.

Legal Relationship with Investors (AIFMD
23(D(c)

The Company is a public limited company listed on the
London Stock Exchange The Company s incorperated
under the laws of England and Wales. The constitutional
document of the Company is its articles of association
which may only be amended by way of a specia!
resolution of its shareholders. Upon the purchase

of shares. an investor becomes a shareholder of the
Company A shareholder's liability to the Company wiil
be limited tc the amount uncalled on their shares.

As the Company is incorporated under the laws

of England and Wales, it may not be possible for a
sharehcider [occated outside that jurisdiction to effect
service of process within the local jurisdiction 1n wnich
that shareholder resides upon the Company. All or

a substantial portion of the assets of the Company
may be located outside a local jurisdiction in which
a shareholder resides and, as a result, it may not be
possible to satisfy a judgement against the Company
in such local jurisdiction or to enforce a judgement
obtained in the local jurisdiction’s courts against

the Company.

AIFM and its Delegates (AIFMD 235(1)(d},
(e} and (f))

The AIFM (G10 Capital Limited) is a private [imited
company with its registered office at 3 More London
Riverside, London SE1 2AQ. G10 Capital Limited is
authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct
Authority (FRN 6489353). 1t has been appointed by the
Company to manage the Company under an AIFM
Agreement with effect from 24 August 2017,
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The AIFM is respeonsible for port{olio management
and risk management and monitoring of the assets of
the Company and has discretionary authoerity over the
acquisition and disposition of the Company's assets,
with power to give guarantees and undertake other
transacuons cn behalf of the Company subject to the
provisions of the AIFM Agreement. The AIFM 15 also
responsible for ensuning comphance with the AIFMD.

The AIFM's duties under the A[FM Agreement are owed
to the Company as a whole rather than directly to the
shareholders, whether individually or in groups The
Board of the Company is responsible under the AIFM
Agreement for representing the Cornpany in 1ts dealings
with the AIFM.

In order 1o comply with its regulatory obligations, the
AIFM holds professional indemnity insurance.

Depositary and its Delegates {AIFMD 23(1)
(d) and (f))

Indos Financial Limited (the "“Depositary”) has been
appointed as the Depositary of the Company under

a Depositary Agreement in accordance with AIFMD
requirements. The Depositary is a company incorporated
in England (registered number 08255973) whase
registered office is at 54 Fenchurch Street, London

EC3M 3]Y. It is authorised 1o act as a Depositary by the
FCA {FRN 602528). The Depositary is responsible for
satekeeping of the Company's investments. including
holding in custody those investments which are required
10 be held in custedy and verilying cwnership and
keeping records of the Company's other investments, and
for cash monitoring.
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Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive

Continued

The Depositary's duties under the Depositary Agreement
are owed to the Company as a whole and not directly to
sharehclders, whether individually ar in groups.

The investments of the Company are not of a kind
required to be held in custody by the Depositary.

Independent Auditors (AIFMD 23(1)(d)}

The independent auditors of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2023 were PricewaterhouseCocopers LLE
The auditers’ duties, which are set out on pages 76 and
77, are owed to the Company as a whole. They have a
statutory respensibility to report io the members of the
Company as a whole in relation to the truth and fairness
of the Company's state of affairs and profit or loss,

Valuation (AIFMD 23(1){g))

The assets of the Company are valued 1n accordance
with the provisions set out in the Valuation Policy The
Investment Committee which has been set up by the
AIFM in respect of the Company and its assets adds a
further level of oversight to the valuation process as set
out in the Corporate Governance section of the Annual
Report.

Fees and Expenses (AIFMD 23(1)(i))

The Company incurs costs in the form of depositary fees,
custocdian fees, bank fees and charges, marketing fees,
auditors fees, lawyers' fees, fund administration fees,
company secretanal fees and other fees

Fair Treatment of Investors and
Preferential Treatment (AIFMD 23(1)(j))

No preferential rights have been granted to any
existing shareholder

The Company and the A[FM are committed 10 ensunng
that all shareholders are treated fairly and in accordance
with UK company law. They have not and wiil not enter
into any arrangement with one shareholder which
could result in any overall material disadvantage 1o the
other sharehoiders

Issue and Redemption of Shareholder
Interests in the Company (AIFMD 23(1){1})
The Company s clesed-ended and does not provide for

redemption or repurchase of the interests of ordinary
shareholders at thelr request.

Reporting and Performance (AIFMD 23(1)
(k), 23(1)(m) and 23(1){n))

The histanc perfonmance of the Company, to the extent
avallable, has been disclosed to shareholders in the
Company's Annual and Half Yearly Reports, which

will ke sent to shareholders and are available from
htp://cvitassocialhousing com/

The latest NAV of the Company is published in the
latest Annual or Half Yearly Report or quarterly
NAV announcemert.

Prime Broker (AIFMD 23(1){0})}

The Company does not have a prime broker.

Method of Making Ongoing/Periadic
Disclosures (AIFMD 23(1){p),23(4),23(5))

Information abeout the Company's risk profile and risk
management, total leverage and any material change to
the arrangements for managing the Company's liquidity,
the proportion of assets (if any) subject to special
arrangements arising from hqguidity, the maximum
permitted leverage or the grant of rights of re-use of
collateral or guarantees in relation to leverage will be
provided in the Company’s Annual Reports or on the
Company's website http //civitassocialhousing.com/

Risk Profile and Risk Management
(AIFMD 23(4)(c)}

The appointment of the AIFM as the AIFM of the
Company under the AI[FMD means that it is responsible
for risk management and the ongoing process of
identifying, evaluating, monitoring and managing

the nisks facing the Company in accordance with the
requirements of the AIFMD. The Board keeps the AIFM's
performance of these responsibilities under review as
part of its overall responsibility for the Company's nisk
management and internal controls.

The principal risks of the Company are set cut in the risk
management section in the Annual Report The AIFM's
risk management system incorporates regular review

of these risks and the establishment of appropnate risk
limits and internal control processes to mitigate the
risks The sensitivity of the Company to relevant risks is
further detailed in the 1sk management sectlon 1n *he
Annual Report

Restrictions on the Use of Leverage and
Maximum Leverage {(AIFMD 23(5))

As specified 1n the investment objectives and policy in
the Annual Report, the Company has the ability to put up
to a maximum leverage of 4C% of the Company's Gross
Asset Value and the AIFM oversees the use of leverage to
ensure that the use of botrowing 15 consistert with this
requirement. Leverage is calcuiated using gross assets,
with various adjustments, divided by net assets

Under AIFMD the Company is required 1o calculate
leverage under the two methodologies spec:fied by
the Directive, the "Gross Method" and the "Commiiment
Method" the difference being that the Commiiment
Method allows certain exposures 10 be offset ar netted.
Disclosures are made on the website of the Company



Independent Auditors’ Report to the members of

Civitas Social Housing PLC

Report of the Audit of the
Financial Statements

Opinion

In our opinion:

« (ivitas Social Housing PLC's group financial staternents
and company financial statements (the “financial
staternents’) give a true and fair view of the state
of the group's and of the company's affairs as at
31 March 2023 and of the group's profit and the group's
cash flows for the year then ended;

e« the group financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards as applied in accordance with
the provisions of the Companies Act 2006;

¢ the company financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 "Reduced
Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law); and

e the financial statermnents have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included
within the Annual Report and Accounts (the “Annual
Report”), which comprise’ the Consolidated and Company
Staternents of Financial Position as at 31 March 2023;

the Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income,
the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, and the
Consclidated and Company Staternents of Changes

in Equity for the year then ended; and the notes t¢ the
financial statements, which include a description of the
significant accounting policies.

Our opinion is conslstent with our reporting to the Audit
and Management Engagement Comimittee,

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with international
Standards on Auditing (UK} {"ISAs (UK)") and applicable
law. Qur responsibilities under {SAs (UK} are further
described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements secticn of our report. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate t¢ provide a basis for our cpinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the group in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in the UK which includes
the FRC's Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed public
1nterest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare
that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical
Standard were not provided.

Other than these disclesed in note 9.0 to the Consolidated
financial staternents, we have provided no non-audit
services to the company or its controlled undertakings 1n
the peniod under audit.

Material Uncertainty Related to

Going Concern

In forming our opinion on the financial statements,
which is not modified, we have considered the adequacy
of the disclosure made in note 2.2 to the Consolidated
financial statements and note 2.0 to the Company
financial statements concerning the group’s and the
company's akility to continue as a going concern.
respectively. On 8 May 2023 the Board of Directors of
Civitas Social Housing PLC ("CSH" or "the group”) and the
Board of Directors of Wellness Unity Limited (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of CK Asset Holdings Limited)
(collectively referred to as "CK") announced that they
have reached agreement on the terms and conditions

of a recommended all cash offer for the group. On

23 June 2023, the offer hecame unconditional. The group's
existing cornmitted debt facilities contain a standard
change of control ciause which, from that point forward,
could result in the existing committed debt facilities
being withdrawn. The Directors have not had detailed
visibility of CK's post completion funding for the group
and company o7 the detailed pians behind the intentions
statements included within the announcement. These
conditions, along with the other matters explained in
note 2.2 10 the Consolidated financial statements, indicate
the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt about the group's and the company's
ability to continue as a going concern. The financial
statements do not include the adjustments that would
result if the group and the company were unable to
continue as a golng concern,
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In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded
that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financiai statements
s appropriate.

Our evaluauon of the directors’ assessment of the group’s
and the company's ability to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting included:

s  We obtained managements latest forecasts that
support the Board's assessment and conclusions with
respect to the going concern basis of preparation of
the financial statements.

¢ We checked the mathematical accuracy of
managements forecasts.

e We evaluated and challenged forecasts and sensitivity
analysis prepared by management tc ensure they
are reflective of both the current environment and
considering the risk of a severe and prolonged
economic downturn. We have assessed the extent
and plausibility of these scenarios in light of current
circumstances. We evaluated the directors’ plans
for future actions 1n relation to their going concern
assessment, should these be required

s We agreed the inputs to these analyses to the audited
financial information or obtained corrcborative
suppon for key assumptions as applicable.
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e We have assessed the debt covenants as well as
management’s assessment of possible breach of
covenants agreeing the inputs to the audited results.
We have evaluated management's stress tests on the
COVENAn!s.

« We also considered whether Civitas' debt financing
would impact the ability of the group and company to
continue as a going concern. Specifically we have had
consideraticn around any delbt that is comning due in
the going concern period.

In relation tc the directors’ reporting on how they have
applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, other than
the material uncertainty identified 1n note 22 to the
financial staterments, we have nothing material 1o add or
draw attention to 1 relation to the directars’ statermnent
in the financial statements about whether the directors
considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting, or in respect of the directors’
identification in the financial statements of any other
material uncertainties to the group's and the company's
akility to continue to do so over a period of at least
twelve months from the date of approvat of the financial
statements

Cur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the
directors with respect 10 going concern are described in
the relevant sections cf this report.

Our audit appreach

Overview
Audit scope

s  We tallored the scope of cur audit to ensure that we
performed encugh wotk to be able 1o give an opinion
on the financial statements as a whole, taking into
account the structure of the group and the company,
the accounung processes and controls, and the
industry in which they operate The group consists of
a single reportable segment

Key audit matters

s Material uncertainty related to going concern
e  Valuation cof investment property (group)

Materiality

» Overall group materiality: £10.0 millicn
(2022: £10.4 million) based on 1% of total assets.

» QOverall company materiality: £8.2 millicn
(2022: £8 2 million) based on 1% of total assets.

e Performance materiality: £7.5 million (2022: £7.8 millicn)
(group} and £6.2 million (202Z: £6 2 millicn) (company).

« Specific group materiality: £1.3m (2022; £1.5m) for
certain financial statement line items that impact
adjusted profit before tax (APBT) - based on 5% of
APBT. APBT is equal to profit before tax adjusted for
the fair value movements in investment property and
fair value movements on 1nterest rate derivatives.

The Scope of our Audit

As part of designing our audit. we determined maternality
and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the
financial statements.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’
professional judgement, were of most significance

in the audit of the financial statements of the current
perod and include the most significant assessed risks
of material misstatement {whether or not due to fraud)
identified by the auditors, including those which had
the greatest effect on the overall audit strategy: the
allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the
efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any
comments we make on the results of cur procedures
therean, were addressed in the context of our audn

of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming
ourl opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
oplnlion on these matters.

In addition to going concern, described in the Material
uncertainty related to going concern section abaove, we
determined the matters described below tc be the key

audit matters to be communicated in our report. This 1s
not a complete list of all risks identified by cur audit.

Ability to continue as a geing concern (Continuation
Resclution), which was a key audit matter last year, 1s no
longer included because the Cantinuation Resolution
vote was passed in September 2022 Otherwise, the key
audit matters below are consistent with last year
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Key Audit Matter

How our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matter

Valuation of Investment Property (Group)

Refer to the Repart of the Audit and Management
Engagement Comrittee note 31 to the Consolidated
financial statements, Sigruficant esumate - vatuation of
nvestment property and note 15.0 to the Consclidated
financial statements, [nvestment property.

Investment properties are held at a fair value of £9%53.4 million
as at 31 March 2023 in the Consolidated Staternent of
Financial Position. The valuation of the group's investment
property is the key component of the net asset value and
underpins the group's result for the year. The result of the
revaluation this year was a gain of £2.6 million, which is
accounted for within ‘Change in fair value of investment
propertiies’ in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income. The group's investment property portfolio consists of
specialist social housing properties located in England and
Wales which are let to Appraoved Providers of social housing
on long term leases.

Investment property valuations were carried out by a third
party valuer. lones Lang LaSalle {'JLL or the Valuer). The
Valuer was engaged by the Directers and perforrmed their
work in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered
Surveyors {RICS) RICS Valuation - Professional Standards and
the requirerments of International Accounting Standard 40
Investment Property’.

In determining the value of a property, the Valuer has

taken 1nto account property-specific information including
the lease term and rental income payable. They applied
assumptions to arrive at the disccunt rate which 1s another
key input to the valuation. This has reference 1o net irmtial
yield and CPI growth rate which are intluenced by prevailing
market conditions and comparable transactions where
appropriate

The valuation of the group's investment property portfolio
was identifled as a key audit matter given the valuation

1s Inherently subjective due to, among other factors, the
individual nature cf each property. its location and the
expectead future rental strearmns for that particular property.
The significance of the estimates and judgements involved,
coupied with the fact that only a srnall percentage difference
1In individual property valuations, when aggregated. could
result in a matenal misstatement, warranted specific audit
focus 1 this area

Given the inherent subjectivity involved in the valuation

of the property porttolia, and therefore the need far deep
market knowledge when determining the most appropriate
assumptions and the technicalities of valuaton methodology
we engaged our internal valuation experts (qualiled
chartered surveyors) (o assist us in our audit of this area.

Assessing the Valuers' Expertise and Qbjectivity

We read the Valuer's report and confirmed that the approcach
used was consistent with the RICS guidelines. We assessed
the Valuer's qualifications and expertise and read theur terms
of engagement with the group, determinung that there were
no matters that affected their independence and ohjectivity
or imposed scope hmitations upon them. We also caonsidered
fees and other contractual arrangements that might exist
between the group and the Valuer. We found no evidence to
suggest that the ghjectivity of the Valuer was compromised.

Assumptions and Estimates Used by the Valuer

[n our tesung, which involved the use of our internal real
eslale valualion experts, we considered the assumptions
utilised by the Valuer within the valuation, including
understanding how these assumplicns were developed,
We also performed benchmarking where ohbservable
market evidence was available. We challenged the Valuer
regarding the impact of the regulatery environment on
investor sentiment and asset values. We attended meetungs
with management and the Valuer, at which the valuation
methodology and the key assumptions were discussed.
We challenged their approach to the valuatlons. and the
rationale behind the more significant valuation assumptions
adopted. Wherte assumptions were outside the expected
range, we underiock further investigations. held further
discussions with the Valuer and obtained ev:dence to
support explanations received We alsa challenged the
Valuers as to the extent they have taken intc account the
impact of climate change and related ESG consideratons
within the valuatuons. The responses provided by the
Valuer and suppaorting evidence, enabled us to consider
the praperty specific factors that may have had animpact
on value, including recent comparable transactions
where apptopriate. We cancluded that the assumptions
used by the Valuer were consistent with our expectations
and comparable benchmarking and markel transacuon
information for the asset type.

Data Used by the Valuer and Legal Title

We validated the data used by the Valuer and found that it
was consistent with the informauen we audited. This data
included inputs such as current rent, rent iIndexaton {CPl or
CPI+1%) and lease term. which we have agreed on a sample
basis to executed lease agreements as part of our audit
waork. We verified legal ownership of properties through
Independent tute deed confirmations on a sample basis.

We conciuded that the assumptions used in the valuatcns
by the Valuers were supportable in hght of the evidence
obtained and the disclosures within the Annual Report are
sufficient and appropriate. We have no issues to report In
respect of this work
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How We Tailored the Audit Scope

We tailored the scope of ocur audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the
financial staternents as a whole. taking into account the structure of the group and the company. the accounting
processes and controls, and the industry in which they operate,

The group's properties are spread across 159 statutory entities with the group financial statements being a
consoclidation of these entities. The group's property portfolio represents a coherent and diversified pornfolio with
similar economic characteristics and, as a result, the whole portfolic of properties represents a single operating
segment or component, and we have scoped our work accordingly. All work was carried out by the group audit team
with additional procedures performed on the consolidation to ensure sufficient coverage and appropriate audit
evidence for our cpinicn on the group financial statements as a whole

The Impact of Climate Risk on our Audit

In planning our audit, we made enqguiries with management toc understand the extent of the potential impact

of climate change risk on the financial statements. Our evaluation of this conclusion included challenging key
judgements and estimates in areas where we considered that there was greatest potental for climate change

impact. We particularly considered how climate change risks would impact the assumptions made in the valuation

of investment propertes as explained in our key audit matter above, We also considered the consistency of the
disclosures in relation 1o chmate change rmade within the Annual Report, and the knowledge obtained from our audit.
Using our knowledge of the business, we evaluated management's risk assessment and resulting disclosures where
significant.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality We set certain guantitative thresholds for
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to deterrmine the scope of our audit and the
nature, urning and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line iterns and disclosures and
n evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and 1n aggregate on the financial statements as a whole

Based on our professional judgement, we determined matenality for the financial statements as a whole as folliows

Financial statements - group Financial statements — company
Overall £10.0 million (2022: £10.4 miilion) £8 2 million (2022. £8.2 muillion)
materiality
How we 1% of total assets 1% of tota! assets
determined it
Rationale for The key measure of the group’s performance 1s the  The cornpany's main actvily 1s the holding of
henchmark valuatuon af investment properties and the balance  1nvestments in subsidiaries. On this basis, we set
applied sheet as a whole Given this, we set an overall an cverall company materiality level based on
group matenality level based on tctal assets. tctal assets

In addition tc overall group matenality, a specific group matenality was also applied 1o certain financial stalement
line items that immpact Adjusted Profit Before Tax (APBT). which is based on profit before tax, adjusted to exciude
fair value movements on investment property and derivatives We set a specific overall matenalty level of £1.3
million (2022, £1.5 rmullion), equaung to 5% of APBT in amwving at this judgement. we considered ne fact that APBT is
a secondary financial indicator of the group which is disclosed as EPRA Earnings in the Annual Report {refer to the
Group Strategic Report witere the term is defined n full)

We use performance maternality to reduce t¢ an appropriately low level the probabihty that the aggregate of
uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiatity Specifically, we use performance matenality
:n deterrining the scope of ocur audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes of
transacuons and disclosures, for example in determining sample sizes. Qur performance materiality was 75%

(2C22: 75%) of cverall maternality, amounting to £7 5 million (2022 £7 8 millicn) for the group financial statements and
£6.2 million {2022 £6.2 million) {or the company financial statements
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In determining the performance materiality, we
considered a number of factcrs - the history of
misstaternents, risk assessment and aggregation risk
and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that
an amount at the upper end of our normal range was
appropriate,

We agreed with the Audit and Management Engagement
Commitiee that we would report to them misstatements
identified during our audit above £500.000 {for items
audited using overall materiality) and £64,100 {for items
audited using specific group materialityj (group audit}
{2022: £519,000 and [£74,500) and £413,000 (company

audit) (2022: £411,000} as well as misstatements below
those amounts that, in our view, warranted regorting for
qualitative reasans.

Reporting on Other Information

The other information comprises all of the information

in the Annual Report other than the financial statements
and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are
responsible for the other information. Our opinion an the
financial statements does not cover the other information
and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or,
except to the extent ctherwise explicitly stated in this
report, any form of agsurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statemenss.
our Tesponsibility is to read the other infermation and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statemerits

or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or ctherwise
appears to be maternially misstated. If we identify

ah apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures
to conclude whether there is a matenal misstatement
of the financial statements or @ material misstatement
of the other information. lf, based on the work we

have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on
these responsibilities

With respect to the Group Strategic Report and Report of
the Directors. we also congidered whether the disclosures
required by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been
included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit,
the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain
opinions and matters as described helow.

Group Strategic report and Report of the Directors

In our opinion. based on the work undertaken in the
course of the audit, the information given in the Group
Strategic Report and Report of the Directors for the year
ended 31 March 2023 is consistent with the financial
statements and has been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the
group and company and their environment obtained in
the course of the audit, we did not identify any material
misstaternents in the Group Strategic Report and Report
of the Directors.

Directors’ Remuneration

In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ Rernuneration
Report to be audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006

Corporate Governance Statement

The Listing Rules require us to review the directors’
statemnents in relation to going concern, longer-term
viability and that part of the corporate governance
statement relating to the company's compliance with

the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code
specified for our review. Our additional responsibilities
with respect 1o the corporate governance statement as
other information are described in the Reporting on other
information section of this report,
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Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we
have concluded that each of the following elements of the
corporate governance statement is materially consistent
with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained
during the audit, and. except for the matters reported

in the section headed 'Material uncertainty related to
golng concern, we have nothing maternal to add or draw
attention to in relation to:

e The directors confirmation that they have carried out
a robust assessment of the emerging and principal
risks;

e The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe
those principal risks, what procedures are in place to
identify emerging risks and an explanation of how
these are being managed or mitigated,

e The directors’ statement in the financial statements
about whether they considered 1t appropriate 1o
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing them, and their identification of any
rmaterial uncertainties to the group's and company's
ability to continue to do so over a period of at least
twelve months from the date of approval of the
financial statemenits,

« The directors’ explanation as to their assessment of
the group’s and company's prospects, the period this
assessment covers and why the period is appropnate;
and

s The directors statement as to whether they have a
reasonable expectation that the company will be able
to continue 10 operaton and meet its llabilities as they
fall due over the period of its assessment, including
any related disclosures drawing attention to any
necessary qualificauons or assumptions

Cur review of the directors’ statement regarding the
longer term viability of the group and company was
substantially less in scope than an audit and only
consisted of making inquirtes and considenng the
directors’ process supporting their statement: checking
that the statement 1s in alignment with the relevant
provisiocns of the UK Corporate Governance Code,
and considering whether the statement 1s consistent
with the financial statements and our knowledge and
Jnderstanding of the group and company and ther
environment cbtained in the course of the audit

In addition, based on the work undertaken as part of
our audit, we have concluded that each of the following
elements of the corporate governance statement is
materially consistent with the financial statements and
our knowledge obtained during the audit:

s The directors’ statement that they consider the
Annual Report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced
and understandable, and provides the information
necessary for the members 10 assess the group's and
company's position, performarice, business mode! and
strategy.

s The section of the Annual Report that describes the
review of effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems; and

e The section of the Annual Report describing the
work of the Audit and Management Engagement
Committee.

We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility
to report when the directors’ statement relating to the
company's compliance with the Code does not properly
disclose a departure from a relevant provision of the
Code specified under the Listing Rules for review by the
auditors

Responsibilities for the Financial
Statements and the Audit

Responsibilities of the Directors for the

Financial Statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’
Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements in accordance
with the applicable framework and for being satisfied
that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also
responsible for such internal control as they determine
1s necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

in preparing the financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the group’s and the company's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing.

as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless

the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the
company o to cease operations, oI have no realistic
alternative but ‘o do so
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

and 10 issue an auditors' report that includes our opiniorn.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not 4 guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if. individually or in the
aggregate, they could reascnably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined
above, to detect material misstatements in respect of
irrequilarities, mcluding fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud, is detailed below

Based on our understanding of the group and industry,
we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance
with laws and regulations related tc compliance with

the Real Estate Investnent Trust {REIT) status Part 12 of

the Corporation Tax Act 2016 and the UK regulatory
principles, such as those governed by the Financial
Conduct Authority, and we considered the extent to

which non-compliance might have a material effect on
the financial staternents. We also considered those laws
and regulations that have a direct irnpact on the financial
staternents such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated
management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent
manipulation of the financial statements (including the
risk of override of controls), and determined that the
principal risks were related to posting inappropriate
journal entries to increase revenue or reduce expenditure,
and management bias in accounting estimates and
judgmental areas of the financial staternents such as the
valuation of investment properties. Audit procedures
performed by the engagement tearn included:

e Discussions with management, including
consideration of known or suspected instances of
non-compliance with laws and regulations and fraud,
and review of the reports made by managerment;

s Understanding of management's internal controis
designed ta prevent and detect irreguiarities:

e Assessment of matters, if any reported 1o the Audit
and Management Engagement Comumittee,

s Reviewing relevant meeting minutes, including
those of the Beard of Directers and the Audit and
Management Engagement Comrnittee,

s Review of tax compliance with the involvement of our
tax specialists in the audit,

« Designing qudit procedures to incarporate
unpredictability over the nature, timing and extent of
our testing of expenses.

e Procedures relating 1o the valuation of investrment
properties described in the related key audit matter
above; and

e ldentifving and testing journal entries, in particular
any journal entries posted with unusual account
combinations and words.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures
described above We are less likely to become aware of
instances of non-cempliance with laws and regulations
that are not closely related to events and transactions
reflected in the financral statements. Also, the risk of not
detecting a material misstaterment due to fraud 1s higher
than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error,
as fraud may invelve deliberate concealment by, for
example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or
through collusion.

Our audit testing might include testing complete
peopulations of certain transactions and balances,
possibly using data auditing techniques. However, it
typically invclves selecting a limited number of items for
testing, rather than testing complete populations. We will
cften seek to target particular items for testing based on
their size or risk characteristics, In cther cases, we will
use audit sampling to enable us to draw a conclusion
about the populanon from which the sample is selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the

audit of the financial statements is lccated on the FRC's
website at: www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms pan of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinicns, has been prepared
for and only for the company’s members as a body in
accerdance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do not. in giving
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any
other purpose or to any cther person tc whom this report
is shown or into whose hands it may come save where
expressly agreed by our prior consent In writing.
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Other Required Reporting

Companies Act 2006 Exception Reporting
Under the Campanies Act 2006 we are reguired to report
1o you :f. in our opinion

s we have no! obtained all the information and
expianatons we reguire for our audtt, or

e adeguate accouniung records have not been kept oy
the company. or returns adeguate for our audit have
not been recewved rom branches not visited by us; or

e certain disclosures of directors' remuneration
specified by law are not macde, or

s the company financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ Remuneration Repor’ to be auditeq are
retn agreement with tne accouniing records and
relurns.

We have no excephlons to report arising from this
respons. oility

Appointment

Folowing he recommendauon of the Audit and
Managemen: Trgagement Commirees, we were
appoin:ed by il:e members on 31 March 2017 to aaai: the
financial statements “or the year ended 7 Novernber 2016
and subsequent Lrarcial pernods The penod of total
cminterrupled engdagement 18 7 years. covering the years
ended 17 November 2016 to 31 Marcn 2023

Other Matter

In due course, as requited by the nancial Conduct
Authority Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rule
4.114R these financial statements will form part of the
ESEF-prepared annua: financial report filed on the
National Storage Mechanism of the Financial Conduct
Authonty in accordance with the ESEF Regulatory
Technical Standard (ESEF RTS'). This auditors’ report
provides no assurance over wnether the annual financial
report will be prepared using the sing.e electronic formar
speciiled in the ESEF RTS.

s Lttt

Saira Choudhry {(Senior Statutory Auditor)

for anc on behalf of PicewaterhouseCcopers LLP
Chrartered Accountarus and Statatory Auditors
London

28 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Revenue
Rental income
Less direct propelly €Xpenses

Net rental income

Directors’ remuneration

Investment advisory fees

General and adrniristianve expenses
Total expenses

Change in fair value af investment properties

Operating proefit
Finance lnccme
Finance expense

Change in fair value of interest rate derivatives

Profit before tax
Taxation

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

For the For the

year ended year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
o Note £'000 _£000
50 54,607 51,636
50 asaw o7
52,666 50,658
6.0 (211) (206)
80 (6,217) 16,132)
90 {5393 (3909
(11,821) (10,247)
L 15.0 B iﬁ‘lﬂ B 12269
43485 52680
10.0 148 7
1.0 (15,335) (10,608}
A0 (2826) 2675
25,472 44,754
12.0 - -
. 25472 44754
- Tzn am9p 7a23p

All amounts reperted in the Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income above arise from conlinuing operaticns.

The nctes on pages 84 (¢ 1C are an integra. part of these consoidated financial statements.



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2023

31March 2023 31 March 2022
_ 000

k . Note _ £oog
Assets T
Non-current assets
Investment property 15.0 953,364 945 237
Other recevables 17.0 24,783 23,519
Interest rate derivatives 20 8,129 2131
- S T T T T T T 7 gseare 970887
Current assets ‘ :
Trade and other receivables 17.0 11,260 12,865
Cash and cash equivalents 18.0 35,588 53,337
T o T T T T T T T a6BaB 66202
Totalassets T T o & T T T 1033024 1037089
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and cther payables 19.0 7”59,3001 (9492

Non-current liabilities

Bank and loan borrowings 200 (361.9@ (352,050}

Total liabilities T - T T (371,215)  (361542)
Total net assets 661,909 675547

Equity

Share capital 22.0 6,225 6,225

Share premium reserve 230 292,626 292,626

Capital reduction reserve 240 317,714 322,365

Relained garnings L 250 45344 54,331

Total equity o i - 691909 675347
Net assets per share - basicanddilwed 77 777 550 i091ep | m030p

These consolidated financial statements on pages 80 o 110 were approved by the Board of Directors of Civitas Social Housing
PLC and authorised fcr issue and signed on its behalf by.

I J '
poalL oL

Michael Wrohel

Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director

‘

28 June 2023

Company No: 10402528

The notes on pages 84 to 110 are an Integral part of these consnlidared financial statements.
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CIVITAS SOCIAL HQUSING PLC
REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2023

N

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Share

Shafe piemium
- P
Balance at 1 April 2021 6,225 232.463
Profit and total comprehensive inccme for the year - -
Shares reissued from treasury 230 163
Shares bought back into treasury 240 - -
Dividends paid 140 -
Balance at 31 March 2022 ) 6225 292626
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year - -
Shares reissued from treasury 230 - -
Shares bought back into treasury 240 - -
Dividends paid 140 - -
Balance at 31 March 2023 6228 202626

The nctes on pages 84 to 110 are an integral part of these consoindated financial stalements

Capital
reduction
reserve
£'000

331140
484
{9,259)

(4.651)

374

Retaned ngl
e “Fooh
43670 673498
44754 44,754
647

- (9259)
(34093 (34,093
54331 675547
25472 25.472
- (4.651)
(34,459)  {(34,459)
45344 661909



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March 2023

For the
51 Mateh 5072
“Restated
. L L £000
Cash flows ﬁo;operating activities T
Profit for the year before taxation 25,472 44 754
- Change in fair value of investment properties (2.640) (12.269)
- Change in fair value of interest rate dervatives 2,826 {2.675)
- Rent and incentive straight line adjustments 436 397
- Bad debt expense/(credit) 5.0 423 (17
Finance income (148) N
Flnance expense 15,335 10.608
Increase in lease incentive receivable {1,700) (2,011
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other recelvables 1,044 (236)
(Decreasel/increase in trade anad ather payables _ o 1,725 o ss
Cash gleniara?ed from operations - © T Tze3z9 39,095
Interest received 148 . 7
Net cash flow generated from operating acuvities ______  ssa;m 392
Investing activities
Improvements and purchases of investment propertues (4.679) {27.695)
Acquisition costs {211) (1.640)
Purchase of subsidiary — including property - (13539)
Sale proceeds on sale of subsidiary - excluding property ) - 2,695

Net cash flow used in investing activities _(_45;0_) ‘(;10@

Financing activities

Cost of shares bought into treasury 240 (4,651) 19,258)
Proceeds from shares reissued from treasury 240 - 319
Dividends paid to equity shareholders (34,576) (33.928)
Interest rate dervalive premium paid 21.0 (8,841) -
Proceeds from the disposal of interest rate derivatives 210 17 -
Bank porrowings advanced 200 70,875 -
Bank borrowings repaid 200 (60,000) -
Bank berrowing 1s5ue costs paid {3.148) (1.805)

2012 8590
| (52336) (52663

Interest and secunty fees paid on bank borrowings and derivatives

Net cash flow used in financing activities )

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (17.749) (53.760)
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year ] T - S 53337 107097
Cash and cash tﬁuivalents at the end of the year 18.0 35,588 53.337

* Cash and cash squivalents and monies held in resirictéd accounts and deposits have been restated as at 31 March 2022 following clarification by IFRIC on
classification of funds with externally imposed restrictions Please refer to details in note 24.
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The notes on pages 84 1o 110 are an integral part of these cansolidated financial statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
; For the year ended 31 March 2023

Civitas Social Housing PLC {the "Company”) was incorporated in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006 as a public
company limited by shares cn 29 September 2016 with company number 10402528 under the name Civitas REIT PLC, which was
subsequently changed to the existing name on 3 October 2016,

The address of the registered office 15 6th Floor, 65 Gresham Street, London EC2V 7NQ. The Company 15 registered as an
Investment company under gecuon 833 of the Compantes Act 2006 1n England and Wales and 15 domiciled in the Unned Kingdom.

The Company did not begin trading unul 18 November 2016 when the shares were admitted to trading on the London Stock
Exchange ("LSE").

The Company's Ordinary shares are admitted to the Official List of the Financial Conduct Authority 'FCA" and traded on
the LSE.

The principal activity of the Company and 1ts subsidiaries (the "“Group” 1s to provide shareholders with an attractuive levei of
mcaome. tagether with the potential for capital growth from investing 1n a portfoho of social homes.

The financial statements have been prepared 1n accordance with UK-adepted international accounting standards and with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies reporting under those standards,

The Group's conschdated financial statements have been prepared on a histoncal cost basis, as modified for the Group's
investment properties and derivative inancial instruments at fair value through profit or loss,

The hnancial information 1s presented in Pounds Sterling which 1s also the functional currency of the Group, and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£'000s), except where otherwise indicated.

The Group Vbenems from a secure income stream frem leng leases with the Approved Providers The Group's cash balances as
at 31 March 2023 were £35,5838,000, of which £2943.000 was held as restricted cash. Detalls of this can pe found in note 18.0.

The Cernpany and its investment Adviser. Civitas investment Managernent Limited ("CIM™) continue tc work closely with the
Company’s majot counterparties 1o rmonitor the posinon on the ground and, should it be needed, 10 offer assistance and
guidance where possible. The Board of Directors beheves that the Company cperates a robust and defensive business model
and that sccial hcousing and specialist healtheare are proving to be same cf the more resihent sectcrs within the market, given
| that they are hased cn non-discretionary public sector expenditure and that demand exceeds supply

On 17 November 2022, an extension was granted for the faciity with HSBC Bank plc, which now expires on 28 November 2025.

| On 13 February 2023, the Company closed a new five year term debt facility of £70,87500C with Deutsche Bank AG. The facility
has been deployed to redeemn the Company's revolving credit facility with Lloyds Bank pic of £60.000.000 as well as previding
additiona. liquidity. As a result, now all debt faciliies have fixed ¢r capped rates.

Cn 1 December 2022, the Company signed a facility with an insttuticnal lender Subsequent g thus, on 21 June 2623, the
Company recelved credit approved terms for an additional £61.0 millicn fixed facility based on a 3-year SONIA rate at the
date cf draw down +195bps margin with a matunty date of 3 August 2026 The eventual drawdown on the facility 1s subject o
certain standard clesing conditions.

Cash flew forecasts based on severe but plausible downside scenarics have been run, 1n parucular the financial performance
; of tenants and a reduction 1n contracted rent. As at 31 March 2023 the rent would have to dicp by approxmately 10% before
any of 1ts loan covenants are oreached, Al the date of approval of this report. the Campany has sufficient headreom within s
financilal .can covenants. The Company aisc benefiis from a secure income stream from leases with long weighted average
unexpired term leases As a resu!t. the Directors believe that the Group 1s well placed to manage s financing and other
business risks and that the Group will remain viaple conunuing to operate and meet 113 habilities as they fall due.

The Ccmpany s articles of assoclatucn include a requiremnent for the Board t¢ propose an crdinary resolution at the annual
general meeting following the hfth annmiversary from the imtal public offering of the Cempany for the Company tc continue
in s current form (the Continuation Resoluuon). This vete was passed in September 2022 s¢ the Company will coniinue 1ts
business as presently consutated and will propcse the same resolution at the AGM 10 September 2027 and every fifth annuat
general meeting thereafter

CIVITAS SOCIAL HOUSING PLC
RFPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

On 9 May 2023, an annocuncernent was made 1o the market for an all cash offer of Civitas Social Housing PLC (CSH) from
Wellness Unity Limited, a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of CK Assets Holdings Limited (CKA). The offer became
unceonditional on 23 June 2023, The Group's exisung committed debt facilities contain a standard change of control clause
which has now been triggered due to the offer becoming uncondittonal. This could result in the existng commitled

debrt facilities being withdrawn. Furthermore, the Directors do not have visibility of the post completion funding for the

Group and Company at this time. The Directors note the derailed intentions statement included within the announcement

an 9 May 2023 which states that CKA does not envisage making any changes to the management tearn nor any disruption

to any counterparties or to the underlying tenants. However, the condilions cutlined above indicate a matenal uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt upon the Group's and Company's ability to contuinue as a going concern. The Independent
Auditors Report included within the Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2023 also highlights this material
uncertainty. Therefore, notwithstanding the material uncertainty arising from the offer from CKA, the Directors are satisfied that
the going concern basis remains appropnate for the preparatucn of the inancial statements. The financial statements do not
include the adjustrents that would result if the Group and the Company were unable 1o coniinue as a gong Concern,

The following new standards are now effective and have been adopted for the year ended 31 March 2023,

» IFRIC Agenda Item: Following clanfication by IFRIC on the classificaton cf monies held in restricted accounts, monies
that are restricted by use only are classified at 31 March 2023 as "Cash and cash equivalents” As detalled 1in note 2.4 the
comparatve balances have been restated where applicable to reflect this change in classification.

s IFRIC Agenda Item: In October 2022, the [FRIC issued an agenda decision in respect of 'Lessor forgiveness of lease
paymenits (IFRS 9 and [FRS 16) (the IFRIC Decision on Concessions’). This concluded that losses incurred on granting
retrospecuve rent concessions should be charged to the income statement on the date that the legal nghts 1o income are
conceded (1e immediate recogniticn in full rather than smoothed over the life of the leage). The clanfication has not had a
material irnpact on the financlal statements.

= Amendments to IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ (effective for penods beginmng on or after 1 January 2022) - gives
clarification on the recogrution of contingent labilites at acquisition and clarifies that conungent assets should not be
recognised at the acquisition date. The amendments have nat had a signmificant impact on the preparation cf the financial
statements.

*  Amendments to IAS 37 'Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’ (effective for periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022) - gives clarification on costs to include 1n estimaung the cost of fulfilling a contract for the purpose of
assessing whether that contract is onercus. The amendments have not had a signuficant impact ¢n the preparaton of the
financiai statements

s  Amendments to [FRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (effective {or periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022) - gives
clarification on the fees an enuty includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified inancial hability are
substantially different from the terms of the original liakility. The amendments have not had a significant impact on the
preparation of the financial staternents.

R FE ca RO T

In March 2022, the IFRS Interpretations Commuittee ("IFRICY finalised a decision on the classihcaticn of monies held in restricted
accounts such that monies that are restricted by use cnly, are classified at 31 March 2023 as "Cash and cash equivalents”

The Group holds restricted cash for tenant depaosits and retention monies 1n relanon to deferred payments subject 1o
achievement of certain conditions, other retentions and cash segregated o fund repalr. mamntenance and improvement works
10 bring the properties up to sausfactory standards for the Group and the tenants

As a result of the [FRIC decisicn. the Group has revisited 11s policy and includes these monies within the classification "cash
and cash equivalents”. The adjustment has no impact on the classification of the net assets of the Group on the Statement
of Financial Position, however the movements on these balances are now reported in the Statement of Cashflows and
comparative figures have been restatec.

Comparanve figures for "cash and cash equivalents” have increased by £4,362,000 (31 March 2021, £3.278.000) This has
resulted in an mncrease to the comparative figure for cash generated from gperations by £1.613.000 canceriung movermertts
on deposit balances and an increase to the net cash flow used in investung activities of £529,000 concerning movements on
retention maonies

The Group has nct presented revised balance sheets as at 1 April 2021 within the financial statements, in accordance with [AS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements and [AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

The following table shows the impact of these adjustments in the prior year:

31 March 2022

31 March 2022 Reslatement Restated

—_ . £'000 £0040 £000

Group cash flow statement (extract) T T
Net cash flow generated from operating activiies 37,489 1613 39102
Net cash flow used in investing actvities (39.670) (529 {40,199
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year 103%.819 3278 107.097
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 48975 47362 53337
Net decreasejn cash and cash equivel_ents (54.844) 1084 {53.760)

The following are new standards, interpretations and amendments, which are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted in this financial informaticn, that will or may have an effect on the Group's future hinancial statements:

Amendments to IAS 12 'Income Taxes' (effective for penicds beginming on or after ! january 2023) - ctanfy how companies
account for deferred tax on wansactions such as leases and decommissicrnung cbligauons. The amendments are not
expected to have a significant impact on the preparaticn of the financal staternents

Amendments to IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 lanuary

2023) - are intended tc help entties in deciding which accounnng policies to disclose in their inancial statements. The
amendments are not expected tc have a significant impact on the preparaton of the financial statements

* Amendments to IAS 8 ‘Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors’ (efiective for periods
beginning cn or alter 1 January 2023) - introduce the definition of an aceounting esumate and include other amendments
1o help entuities distinguish changes 1n accounung estimates from changes in accounting policles. The amendments are
not expected 1o have a significant impact on the preparaucn of the financial statements.

* Amendments (o IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements’ (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024)

- clanfy that habilines are classified as either current or non-current, depending on the nghts that exist at the end of the
reporung period and not expectations of or actual events after the reporung date. The amendments also give clanfication
tc the definition cf settlement of a hability The amendments are not expected ¢ have a signiflcant unpact ¢n the
preparaucn cf the financial statements

[ERS 8 Operaungd Segments requires cperating segments tc be identfied on the basis of internal financia! reports about
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker. which in the Group's case is
delegated tc the Investment Adviser who has focrmed an Executive Team. in creler to allccate resources ¢ the segments and o
assess the:r perfcrmance.

The internal financlal repcrts received by the Investment Adviser's Executive Tearn contain financial infcrmation at a Group
level as a whole and there are no reconciling 1tems between the results contained 1n these reports and the amounts reperied
in the consclidated financiai statements.

The Directors consider the Greup's property portfolio represents a ccheren: and diversified portfolic with similar ecocnomic
characterisucs and as a result, the whale ponfcio of propert:es represents a single cperating segment [n the view of the
Directors there 18 accordingly cne reportabie segment under the provisions of [FRS 8.

All of the Group's prepertes are based in the UK. Geographical informatuacn 1s provided tc ensure complance with the
diversificauon requirements of the Company, other than this no gecgraphica! greuplng 1s contained in any of the internal
financial reperts provided tc the [nvestment Adviser's Executive Team and therefore. nc geograph:cal segmental analysis 1s
required by [FRS 8.

The Directors nate the requizements in IFRS 8 Paragraph 34 pertaining tc entties under commen control and confirm that

poth Auckland Home Sclutions and Gualizas Housing (as lessees of the Company's investment real estate) are under comracn
contrcl of The Scclal Housing Famuy CIC "TSHr™ The percentage and sum tctal of the Company's annual contracted rent roll
pertaining ¢ these counterparues as 1f they were consicered (o be a "single customer’ can be found in note 28.C and con page 9

cf the Annual Repcrt



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

In the application of the Group's accounting policies. which are described in note 4.0, the Directors are required to make
judgements esimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabiluies that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The Judgements. estimates and associated assumptions that have a signuficant nsk of causing a matenal
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the financial year are outlined below:

The Group uses the valuation carried out by its independent valuer as the fair value of its property portfolia. The valuation is
basad upon assumptions including future rental income and the approprate discount rate. The valuers also make reference to
market evidence of ransacuon prices for similar propertes, Further information 18 provided in note 15.0.

The Group's properties have been independently valued by Jones Lang LaSalle Limited ('JLL" or the "Valuer”) in accordance
with the current Royai Institution of Chartered Surveyors Valuation — Global Standards. incorporating the VS, and the RICS
Valuation - Global Standards 2017 UK naticnal supplement (the RICS "Red Book"). JLL 1s a well recognised professional firm
within soeial housing valuation and has sufficient current local and national knowledge of both social housing generally and
Specialist Supported Housing ("SSH" and has the skills and understanding to undertake the valuations competently.

with respect to the Group's consolidated financial statements, investment properties are valued at their fair value at zach
balance sheet date 1n accordance with [FRS 13, Fair value measurements should be presented and classified using a fair value
hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used 1n the measurements, according to the following levels:

ITeyel_l Unadjusted quoted prices for zdentical assets and habzhtzes m acuve (;yp;cal)y CIUOI@d) markets

Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices mcluded within Level 1that are observable for the asset or llabl.llty either dlrectly
(Lhat ls, as pnces) cr mdlrectly (that Is. derlved from pnces)

Level 3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market ¢ data (unobservable mputs) Value is the
Directors best estimate, based on adwvice from relevant knowledgeable experts. use of recognised valuation
techniques and a determination of which assumptons should be applied in valuing such assets and with
particular focus on the specific attributes of the invesunents themselves

Given the pespoke nature of each of the Group's Investments. the particular requirements of due diligence and financial
contribulion chiained from the vendors together with the recent emergence of S8H, all of the Group s investment properties
are included in Level 3.

2 - - 3 - . L . P e b
The fair value of Group's interest rate denvatives 1s recorded in the Group Statement of Financial Posiion and is determined
by the respective countarparties. The counterparties use a number of assumptions in determining the fair values, including

esumations over future interest rates and future cash flows using observable yield curves.

Vo AR T

The Group acquires subsidiaries that own investment properuies. At the time of acquisition, the Group considers whether each
acquisition represents the acquisition of a business or the acquisition of an asset. Management considers the substance of the
assets and actuivities of the acquired enuty in determirung whether the acguisition represents the acquisiton of a business.

The Group accounts for an acquisition as a business combination where an integrated set of activities 1s acquired in addition
ta the property. Where sych acquisitions are not judged to be the acquisition of a business, they are not reated as business
combinations Rather. the cost to acquire the corporate entity is allocated betweean the identifiable assets and liabilites of the
entity based upcn their relanve fair values at the acquisiion date. Accordingly. no goodwill or addinonal deferred tax arises.

There were no corperate acquisitions made in the year

During the previous year, the Group entered into a transaction t¢ accutre the freehold properties operated by CPI Care Limited.
Upon the acquisition of the company: the prepernes were transierred 1nto other group companies and the company acquired,
along with its associated cperations. was sold to Envivo Corundurn Bideo Lirmited. Further detalls are shown in note 16.0 to the

financial statements,

The acquired companies met the definition of a business under [FRS 3. and the transacuon was therefore recorded as a
business combinaucn.

Because the Group acquured the company with the intent to sell the business. management applied the short cut method
under IFRS 5 - Subsidianes acquired with a view (o resale. Under this method, the subsidiary 1 reccrded at faur value less costs
to sell and there 15 no requirement 1o fair value the subsidiary's individual assets and labilitles.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

The Group has acquired investment properties that are subject to commercial property leases with Approved Providers. The
Group has determined, based on an evaluatuon of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, partucularly the duration
of the lease terms and mimmum lease payments, that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
propernes and so accounts for the leases as operating leases

Civitas Social Housing PLC 1s a Real Estale nvestrnent Trust {REIT) The UK REIT regime applies when enuues Imeet certain
conditions with the effect that the income profits and capital gains of the gualifying property rental business are exempt from
tax Within these conditions at least 90% of the Group's property income must be distributed as dividends to shareholders and
the Group must ensure that the property rental business represents more than 75% of total profits and assets

Following the completion of the offer. there is a level of uncertainty that the Group will remain in the REIT regime

The principal accountng policies applied in the preparauon of the consolidated financial statements are set out below. The
peclicies have been consistently applied ¢ all periods presented. unless ctherwise stated

The consolidated financial staternents comprise the financial iInformation of the Group as at the year end date.

Subsidianies are all entities over which the Group has control. The Greup controls an entity when the Group 15 exposed 1o,

ar has nghts 1o, varlable returns from its involvernent with the entty and has the ability 1o affect those returns through 1ts
power to direct the acuviues of the entity. All intra-group transactuions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated cn
consolidation The financal information of the subsidiaries 1s included in the consolidated financial staternents from the date
that control commences untii the date that centrol ceases.

If an equity Interest in a subsidiary 15 transferred but a controlling interest continues to be held after the transfer then the
change In cwnership interest 15 accounted for as an eqguity transaction.

Accounting policies of the subsidiaties are consistent with the poucies adopted by the Company

Investment property. which is property held ¢ earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. 15 imtially measured at cost. being
the far value of the consideration given. including expenditure that 1s directly aurnbutahie to the acquisition of the mvestment
property. After inual recognition, investment property is stated ar 1ts fair value at the balance sheet date Gains and losses
ansing from changes in the fair value of investmern! property are included 1n profit or less for the period in which they anse in
the Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Subsequent expenditure 1s capitabised oniy when it 1s probable that future econcmic benefits are associated with the expenditure.
Ongoing repaurs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Overheads and operating expenses are not capnalised.

An investment preperty is derecognised upcn disposal or when the investment property 1s permanently withdrawn froem use
and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal Any gain or loss arising on derecognution of the property
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amcuni of the asset) 1s incurred in profit or
loss inthe pericd in which the property 15 derecognised.

Significant accounting judgements. £stimales and assumpticns rmade tor the valuatcn of investment propernes are discussed
inncle 3.1,

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substanually all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operaung (eases.

The Company has determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of cwnership of the propertes and acccunts
for the contracts as operatng leases as discussed 1n note 3.4

Propertes leased out under operaung leases are inciuded in investment property 1n the Censclidated Staternent of Financial
Paosiuon, Rental income from operating leases 1s recogrused cn a straignt ine basts gver the term of the relevant leases.

Lease ncentive costs are recognised ag an asset and amcrtised cver the life of the lease.




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

The Croup classifics 1ts financial asseots in the {ollowing measurement categories:

s those to be measured subsequently at fair value {either through other comprehensive income or through profit or loss); and
» those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and the conuactual terms
of the cash flows For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive incame,

Trade and other receivables are amounts due 1n the ordinary course of business. If collecticn is expecred in one year or less.
they are classifiad as current assets. If not, they are presented as hon-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subseguently are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less impairment provision. The Group holds the trade recelvables with the objective to collect the contractual
cash flows.

The Group's financial assets are subject 1o the expected credit loss model

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9. which requires expected hfetime losses
1o be recognised from initial recogniteon of the receivables.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of lease income over a period of up to 12 months befare 31 March
2023 or 1 Apnil 2022, respectively. and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this penod. The historncal
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-locking informahon on macroeconomuc factors affecting the habulity

of the tenants to settle the receivable. Such forward-lcoking information would include: changes in economic, regulatory.
technological and environmental factors (such as industry outlook, GDP, employment and politics); external market indicators:
and tenant base.

Based on the assessment and the specific work that is underway around collection of aged arrears. a prevision of
£459.600C (2022, £233.000) has been refllected in the annual resuits.

Trade receivables are wnitten off when there 15 no reasonable expectation of recovery.

Indicatcrs that there 1s no reasonable expectaton of recovery include, among others, the prabability of insclvency or
significant financial difficulties of the debtor. Impaired debts are derecogrused when they are assessed as uncollecuble.

Cash and cash equivalents inciude cash in hand. cash held by lawyers and hquidity funds with a term of no more than three
manths that are readily convertible 1o a known amount of cash and which are subject 1o an insignuficant risk of changes in value.

Restricted cash represents amounts held for specific commitments, tenant deposits and retention money held by lawyers in
relanon to deferred paymen!s subject 1o achievement of certain condiuons, other retentions and cash segregated to fund
repair, mantenance and improvernant works to bring the properties up to satisfactory standards for the Group and the tenants.

Derivative financial instruments. which comprise interest rate caps andg swaps for hedging purposes, are initially recognised
at fair value at acquisiticn and are subsequently measured at fair value, being the esturmnated amount that the Group would
receive or pay o sell or transfer the agreement at the penod end date, taking Intc account current interest rate expectations
and the current credit raung of the lender and 1ts counterparties. The instrument may be an asset or a liability. The gain or loss
at each fair value rerneasurement date 1s recognised in the Group's Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Derivative financial instruments are derecognised when the rights 1o receive cash flows from the agreement have expired
or have been transferred. and the Group has transferred substanually all the nsks and rewards of ownership. The difference
between the carrying amount and consideration received 1s recognised as 4 gain or loss in the Group's Consolidated
Staternent of Comprehensive Income.

The Group uses valuation lechniques that are appropnate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 1s avallable
1o measure fair value. maximising the use of relevant chservable inputs and minumising the use of unohservable inputs
sigruficant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

Other than derlvative financial instruments which are not designated as hedging instruments. the Group does not have any
assets held for trading nor does it voluntanly classify any financial assets as being at fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

The Group recognises a financial hability when 1t first becomes a party to the contractual rights and ¢bligations in the contract.

All financial habilities are inutially recognised at fair value, minus {in the case of a financal hability that is not at fair value
through profit or less) transaction costs that are directly attibutable to issuing the financial labtlity. Financial liabilities are ‘
subsequently measured at arnortised cost, unless the Group opted to measure a liahility at fair value through profit or loss. !

A hnancial llability is derecogmised when the obligation under the hability 1s discharged. cancelled or expires.

Trade and other payables are classified as current habilities If payment 1s due within cne year or less_ If not, they are presented
as nan-current labilities. Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amorused cost until settled. The fair value of a non-interest bearing liability is its discounted repayment amount If the due
date of the liability 1s less than one year, discounting is omitted.

All bank and other borrowings are imittaily recognused at fair value less directly attnibutable transaction costs. After imual
recognition, all bank and other borrowings are measured at amortised ccst, using the effective interest method. Any
atiributable transacuon costs relating to the issue of the bank borrowings are amortused through the Group's Statement ot
Comprehensive Income over the hie of the debt instrument on a straight-line bamis.

Borrowings are removed from the conschdated statement of financial position when the obligaton specified 1n the contract
15 discharged, cancelled or expired. The chfference between the carrying amount of a financial hability that has been
extinguished and the consideration paid 1s recognised in profit or loss as a finance cost

Provisions are recagnised when the Group has a present cbhligauon (legal or constructive) as a result ¢f a past event, it 1s
probable that the Group will be required to settle that cbligatuon and a reliabie esttmate can be rmade cf the amcunt of the
cbligation

The amount recogrnised as a provision 13 the best esimate of the consideration required to settle the present cbligation at the
balance sheet date taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrcunding the obligation

Taxation on the profit or loss for the penod not exempt under UK REIT regulations 1s cecmprised of current and deferred tax, Tax )
18 recognised in the Censoldated Statement of Comprehensive Income except to the extent that it relates tc 1tems recognised '
as a direct movement 1n equity, in which case it 15 recognised as a direct movement 1n equity. Current tax is expected tax

payable on any nen-REIT taxable income for the pernod, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet

date, and any adjustment 1o tax payable 1n respect of previous periods

The current tax charge 1s calculated on profits arising in the penod and in accordance with legislation which has been
enacted or substantially enacted at the balance sheet date

Deferred tax is previded on tempcrary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and habilities for £nancial
reporung purposes and the amounts used [or taxation purpeses The amount of deferred tax that 1s provided 15 based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount cf assets and liabilities, using tax rales enacted or
substantvely enacted a: the balance sheet date

The Group's chjectives when managing capiial are 1o safeguard the Group's ability t1c continue as a geing cencern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and 10 maintain an opumal capital structure ¢ reduce the cost of capiial

Capita, assets comprse the follcwing.

31 March 2023 31 Maich 2022

. I . R, . FQGG EO0C
Prcceeds from the issue of Ordinary shares and retained earnings 661,909 675.547
Eﬂ“ﬁ@@ loan :D(V;’rrowmgs o - o ) - 361,915 352.CSQ
Total 1,023,824 1.027.597




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

The Directors may use geanng to enhance eguity returns. The level of borrowing will be on a prudent basis {or the asset class
and will seek to achieve a low cost of funds, whilst rnaintaiming the flexibility in the underlying security requirements and the
structure of the Group.

The Group may. [ollowing a decision of the Board, raise delt from banks and/or the capital rnarkets and the aggregate
borrowings of the Group will always be subject to an absolute maximum, calculated at the ume of drawdown, of below 40% of
the Gross Asset Value on a fully invested basis.

Dividends are included 1n the financizal statements in the year in which they are paid.

Rental incormne from investment property 1s recognised on a stralght-line basis over the term of ongcing leases and i1s shown
gross of any UK income tax. Lease incentives are spread evenly over the lease term. Losses incurred on granung retrospective
rent cancessions are charged (¢ the income statement on the date that the legal rights 1o income are conceded (i.e immediate
recognition an full rather than smoothed over the life of the lease)

Insurance recharges and other similar receipts are recognised under [FES 15 ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’, and are
ncluded in net rental and property income gross of the related costs as the Directors consider the Group acts as prnincipal in
this respect.

Finance income 15 recognised asg interest, and 1s accrued on cash and cash equivalent balances held by the Group.

Finance cosis consist of interest and other costs that the Group mncurs In connection with bank and other borrowings. Bank
interest and bank charges are recognised on an accruals basis. Borrowing transaction costs are amorused using the effective
interest rate.

All expenses. including Investment Adviscry fees, are recognised in the Consclidated Statement of Comprehensive Income on
an accruals basis.

The ccsts of 1Ssuing or reacquuIng equity instruments {other than in a business combinatian) are accounted for as a deduction
from ecruity.

Exceptional items relate to amounts which do not normally occur in the normal course of business.

Exceptional professional costs for two major projects have been disclosed separately These relate to costs associated wath the
offer for the purchase of the enture share capital of the Company by a subsidiary of CK Asset Holdings Limited (CKA) and costs
associated with a planned bond issue which was postponed.

The cests, including directly attributable transactions costs, of purchasing the Company's own shares to be held in treasury
are deducted from equity and the costs are shown in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Consideration
recelved, net of transacuon costs, for the resale of these shares 1s also included 11 equity Whilst the Company helds shares in
treasury. the calculations for net asset value and earnings per share are adjusted o exclude these shares.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Continued

For the For the
51 March 3023 51 March 2037
o ~ o o . E000 o . £000
Renfal mcame from investment property ) 53,531 51038
Rent straight hne adjustments 586 529
Lease 1ncentive amorisatuon {1,022) (326)
Rechargeable Costs recelved B B 1,512 9385
Rental income ' o 54607 51836
Less direct property expenses
Insurance and service charge costs (1,512) (995)
Bad debt (429) 17
Direct propertyEenses 7 %_. ) ' N ) 7(1§Zl) - %
Net rental income B o T © 52666 50658

Rechargeable costs received represent insurance and service charge costs patd by the Group and recharged to the
Approved Providers and are accounted for under [FRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers’

As per the lease agreements with the Group and Approved Providers, the Approved Providers are respcnsibie for the
settlernent of all present and future rates, taxes and cther Imposiions payable in respect of the property. As a result. no further
direct property expeénses were mcurred

Farthe For the

year ended year ended

51 March 2023 31 March 2022

R e e I . . . _ _'_ 0. . £000
Directors fees 194 190
Employer's National [nsurance Ccninburicns 17 16
Total 211 b

The Directors are remunerated for their services in accordance with the Remuneration Folicy which sets parameters within
which Directors’ remuneraticn may be set The Remuneraton Policy 1s apptcved by shareholders

Disclosures required by the Companies Act 2006 on Directors remuneration. including salanes. share cpuons. pensian
contributions and pension enutlement and those specitied by the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority are included
on pages 84 to 67 1n the Remuneraton Report and form part of these Financial Staternents.

The Group had no employees during the year 12022, nil) other than the Direcicrs



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Continued
T T T T T T T T T T T T T Thaee rerme
year ended year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
L ~ £000  £000
Advisory fee 6.206 6132
Dﬁisbursements L } 11 -
Tota[w 6.217 6.132

Civitas Investment Managerent Lirnited ("CIM") 15 the appointed Investment Adviser of the Company. Under the current
Investrnent Management Agreement, the Advisory Fee shall be an amount calculated 1n respect of each quarter, in each

case based upon the Net Asset Value most recently announced to the market at the relevant ume (as adjusted for issues or
repurchases of shares in the pened between the date of such announcement and the date of the relevant calculation), on the
following basis:

a) on that part of the Net Asset Value up to and including £250,000,000, an amount equal to 1% of such part of the Net Asset Value;

b} on that part of the Net Asset Value aver £250,000.0C00 and up to and including £500,000.00Q, an amount equal to 0.9% of such
part of the Net Asset Vatue;

¢) on that part of the Net Asset Value over £500,000.000 and up to and including £1.000,000,000, an amount egual to 0.8% of
such part of the Net Asset Value;

d} on that part of the Net Asset Value over £1.000.000.000, an armount equal to G.7% of such part of the Net Asset Vajue

The appointment of the Investment Adviser shall continue in force unless and unt! terminated by euther party giving to the
other not less than 12 months written nouce, such notice not to expire earlier than 30 May 2025.

Far the For the
yeal ended year ended
o o L _31 Marchgé)ozg SIViaICh;DUgZ
Legal and professional fees o - Tl1250 1459
Exceptional professional costs 1,816 -
Administratucn fees 1.044 1637
Cansultancy fees 143 136
Audit fees 441 340
Abortive casts 48 198
Valuatuan fees 96 160
Depositary fees n 71
Grants and donations 65 26
Insurance 97 84
Marketing 225 343
Regulatory fees 21 25
Sundry expenses 76 92
o T T T T T s e

Abortive costs represent iegal and professional fees incurred in refation 1o the acquisition of investment propertes and
proposed share issues that were considered but subsequently aborted.

General and administrative expenses for the current year contain exceptional professicnal cests of £1.816,000 (2022, ENil).These
costs pertain to two strategic projects the Company has been evaluatng and comprise of £1,294,000 (2022: £nil) associated with
the offer for the purchase of the entire share capital of the Company by a subsidiary of CK Asset Holdings Limited (CKA) and
£522 000 (2022: £Nil) associated with a planned bond issue which was postponed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

The Group has obtained the following services from the Group's auditors and their associates:

For the

year ended
3! March 2023
£000

Fees payable to the Group's auditors and their associates for auditing financial statements:
Audit of the Group's fiz_jancial statements’ 7 358

Total fees payable for audit services 358
Fees payable to the Group’s auditors and their associates for other services:
Audit related services — review of the half year hnancial statements 83
Other services? -
Tatal fees payable to the Group's auditors and their associates 441
1 Includes £64.000 {2022- £18.000) cost in relation 1o the previous year audtt.
2 This amount was recognised within exceptional legal and grofessienal costs in the year ended 31 March 2022
- 0 - = = T/ T/ T rorme
year ended
31 March 2023
- [ — _ _ - - _ _ __Eooe
Interest and dividends received on hguidity funds 148
Bank interest receved —
Total 148
- - T T T ke
year ended
31 Martch 2023
L e . — - - i __£009
Bank charges B8
Interest paid and payable cn bank barrowings and denvatives 12,151
Amgcrusation of locan issue ccsts 1,869
Costs cf early repayment cf debt 1271
Loan security fees 36
Total 15,335

Durning the year the Licyds Bank plc £6C,00C.000 revelving credit facility was repaid Costs of early repayment of deb
break costs and the wnite off of the remaining unamortsed loan 1ssue costs,

Tot the
year ended

31 March 2022
£000

28
296

44
52
432

For the

year ended
31 March 2022
£004a

4
i 3
7

" Forine
year ended
31 March 2022
£090
6
8307
1653
4z
10608

tin¢clude

As a UK REIT. the Group 1s exernpt [rcm corporalon tax on the profits and gains from 115 property invesimant business
provided It mee's certain conditicns as set outin the UK RZIT regulaucns For the current year ended 31 March 2023 the Group
did not have any non-qualifying profits and accordingly there 1s no tax charge in the year It there were any non-qua.fying

profits and gains. these would be subject 1o corporation tax

Deferred tax has no! been recognised on ternporary differences relaung to the property rental business Nc deterred tax asset

has been recocgnised 1n respect cf the unutlised residual curren: year losses as :t1s not anucipated that sufficient re

sidua;

prohts will be generated in the future. in the event that Clvitas property pertiolic was 10 be scld at valuatucn, any gains
realised ¢n such disposals may be subject 1o taxaucn in the UK Generally, dispcesals by a REIT of assets held for the purpcse

of a property rental business shculd be exemp! from UK corporation tax. The Directors de not believe that any preperties
within the Civitas property portfolic meet the conditions for assets held as part of the property renzal business being subject tc
corporanocn tax on dispasal. Accordingly if the Civitas property portfolic was to be scld at valuation. the Directors esnmate that

nec corporation tax Lability weould anse on that sale




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

Following the compleuon of the offer. there is a level of uncertainty that the Group will rermain in the REIT regime.

Forthe For the

year ended year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
£006 £'000

Corporation tax charge for the year ’ -

Total_ . ) - -

For the For the

vear ended year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2022
o fooo £'000

Pro_f_lt before laxation _ 25,472 - ﬁ?stl

UK corporation tax rate 19% 19%
Thecretical tax at UK corporation tax rate 4,840 8,503
Effects of:

Change in value of exempt Invesument propertues (5G2) (2331}
Exermnpt REIT income {6,019) (6.598)
Amounts not deductible far tax purposes 1,081 (230)

656

Unutilised residual current year tax losses 600
Total - -

A deferred tax asset of £2.877 000 (2022 £1.268.000), caiculated using the forthcoming tax rate of 25%, has not been recogrnused in
respect of the unutilised residual current year losses as 1t 18 not anticipated that sufficient residual profits will be generated in
the future.

The standard rate of corperation tax i1s currently 19% The standard rate of corporation tax increased 10 25% wath effect from
1 April 2623,

REIT exempt income ncludes property rerntal income thatis exempt from UK Corperation Tax in accordance wiih Part 12 af
Corporation Tax Act 2010.

Earmungs per share ("EPS") amounts are calculated by dividing prcftit for the year attributable to Ordinary equity holders of the
Cornpany by the welghted average number of Ordinary shares in issue durnng the year

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the foliowing:

For the For the

year ended year ended

3] March 2023 31 March 2022

- £000 _ __ £'nae
Calculation of earnings per share

Net profit attributable to Qrdinary shareholders (£000) 25.472 44 754

Weighted average number of Ordinary shares {excluding shares held in treasury) 608,552,681 6518797942

Earnings per share - basic and diluted 4.19p 723p
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
. o o — o o _ _ L - _ o EUD_ _ £400
Dnvidend of 13875p for the 3 months to 31 March 2022
(13500p 3 manths to 31 March 2021) 8.474 8.403
Dividend of 1.4250p for the 3 months to 30 june 2022
(1.3875p 3 months to 3G June 2021} 8,703 8637
Dividend of 14250p for the 3 months to 30 September 2022
(1.3875p 3 months to 30 September 2021) 8,641 8555

Dividend of 1.4250p for the 3 months tc 31 December 2022
(13875p 3 months ta 31 Decem_b_er 2021)

Total T

On 9 May 2023, the Cornpany anncunced a dividend of 1425 pence per share in respect of the pericd 1 January 2023 1o 31 March
2023 totalling £8641.000. The dividend payment was made on 9 June 2823 to shareholders on the register as at 19 May 2023. The
financial statermnents do not reflect this dividend. The dividend was paid as a REIT property inceme distnibution ("PID".

For the Far the
year ended year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2122
£a02 €015,

968756 915589

Balén&g at beginmng of year

Property acquisitions 543 33,466
Improvements to investment propertes 4,944 5818
Lease incentives and rent straight line adjustments recognised 1,264 1614

2,640

Change in fair value - ] S 12,269
Value adwvised by the property valuers 978,147 968756
(24,783) (23,519}

953.364 945237

Less lease incentive assels and rent straight hne assets
Total

Irnprovements 1o Investmernt properties includes capital expenditure incurred of £128 000 (2022, £12 000) 1n respect of chmate
change wmtiatives.

Durning the previous year, the Group acquired a property holding company from Herleva Properues Limited which heid
assets rotalling £8.811.000 These are included within Property Acquisiticns in the note above, Herleva Properties Limited 1s
a subsidiary of Specialist Healthcare Operations Limited ("SHO™). Andrew Dawber and Tom Pridmore (both directors of the
Investment Adviser; are 14.99% sharehclders in SHQ. They are nct cirectors of SHO, and have nc ocperational role in that
pusiness SHO does not rneet the definition of a related party under JAS 24

In accordance with "TAS 4G, Investment Property” the investment preperty has been independently valued at fair value by JLL
an accredited external valuer with recognised and relevant professicnal qualificaticns and recent experience of the [ocation
and categcry of the investment property being valued. nowever the valuanons are the ulti:mate responsibility of the Directors.

ILL valued the Civitas Social Housing PLC property portichc con the basis of each individual property and the theoreticai sale of
the properues withcut the benefit of any corporate wrapper at £978 147 C0G as at 31 March 2023 {2022, £968.756.0C0)

JLL has prowided valuation services to the Company with regards to the properties dunng the year, JLL has provided additional
valuaucn services on the acquisition of investment progerty by the Company during the year The Directcrs have ensured

that JLL has appropnate procedures in place 1o ensure there are no mmdependence condhcts with the services provided o the
Company [n relaten g the year ended 31 March 2023 the proportion of the tctal fees payabie by the Company e JLLs total ftee
inceme was lese than 5% and is therefcre manimai Addiuonally, [LL has a rotation policy In place wiershy the signatones cn
the valuations rctate after seven years,



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

With the exception of the acquisition detailed in note 16.0, all corperate acquisitions during the year and the comparative year
have been treated as asset purchases rather than husiness combinations because following review of the IFRS 3 concentration

test, they are considered to be acquisitions of properties rather than businesses (note 3.3).

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy for investment property:

Queted prices in Signilicant Signiticant
active markets observahle unabservable
Total {Level 1} wmputs {(Level 2) inputs (Level 3)
- - . _— . __ _ ®p@e = €000 _ fE®O0 = &
Investment properties measured at fair value;
31 March 2023 953,364 - - 953,364
31 March 2022 945237 - - 945237

There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during any of the years. nor have there been any transfers hetween
Level 2 and Level 3 dunng any of the years.

The valuations have been prepared in accordance with the RICS Valuation - Professional Standards (incorporaung the
International Valuation Standards) by JLL. one of the leading professional firms engaged in the social housing sector.

As noted previously all of the Group's investments are reported as Level 3 in accordance with IFRS 13 where inputs are not
based on observable market data and the value 1s based upon advice from relevant knowledgeable experts

In this instance, the determination of the fair value of investrent property reguires an examination of the specific ments of
each property that are in turn considered pertinent 1o the valuation

These include.

i) theregulated social housing sector and demand for the facilities offered by each 55H property owned by the Group:

i) the particular structure of the Group's transactions where vendors, at their own expense, meet the majority of the
refurbishment costs of each property and certain purchase costs:

iii) detailed financial analysis with discount rates supporung the carrying value of each property:

iv) a full repainng and insunng lease with annual indexauon based on CPI or CPI+1%.

The [cllowing descriptions and definiucns relating to valuation technigques and key unchservable inputs made in determining
fair values are as follows:

T el Rha. it

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received 10 sell an asset or pald to ransfer a lability 1n an crderly transacuon
between market participants at the measurement! date (Le an exit price).

The valuation methcdology used by the valuers follows the income approach, This approach considers the rental income
currently pavable; the next uplift due on that income on review: the hkelihood of a continuation of that rental income — with
growth in accordance with the leases — cver the remaining terms; and then a long-term reversion which considers the likely
abihty of the properties to continue (o generate rent through supported housing occupation. as disunct from a reversion (o
vacant possession value,

Risks are invclved 1n both assessing the value of the indexed rental income over the remaining terms of the leases and in also
predicung that income will conunue beycnd the end of the existing leases. This 15 a balanced judgment, which can properly
be reflected 1n the exit yield applied to the hinal year's income and in the cverall return to a purchaser.

Appropriate taxation calculations are adopted for every property based on its value and on the assumpuon of the sale of
the property assets directly as opposed to shares of a subsidiary company holding the property and have considered the
mdividual characrerisucs of the properties

There are two main uncbservable inputs that determine the fair value of the Group's investment property:

i} The rate of 2% per annum has been used for CPI gver the term of the subject properties leases 1n line with the Bank of
England's long-term inflation targets for CPIL It should be noted that all leases benefir from either CPI or CPI+1indexation

il) The discount rate applied to the rental flows
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Key factors in determining the discount rates apphed include the regulated social housing sector and demand for each SSH
property owned by the Group, costs of acquisition and refurbishment of each property. the anticipated future underlying cash
flows for each property. benchmarking of each underlying rent for each property (passing rent). impact of climate change. and
the fact that all of the properties within the Group's portfolio have the benefit of full repairing and insuring leases entered into
by an Approved Provider

As at the balance sheet date, the lease lengths within the Group's portfolio ranged from an effective 14 years to 35 years (2022
15 years to 36 years) with a weighted average unexpired lease term of 21.5 years (2022: 221). The greater the length of the lease,
then, all other metrics being equal. the greater the value of the property.

As set out within significant accounting estimates at 3.1 above, the Group's property investment valuation 1s open to inherent
uncertainties in the mmputs that determine fair value. Management has re-considered the sensitvity ranges and widened them
for the current year as a result of rnacroeconomic uncertainty As a result, the following sensiuvity analysis has been prepared:

The average discount rate used by the valuer in the Group's property Portfalio Valuation is 6.38% {2022: 55%). In setung the
discount rates adopted n the valuation, the valuers have considered market standard and anticipated returns 1o set a
benchmark for the portiolic as a whole. They have then considered the vanous characteristics of the individual properties in
order to adjust those rates for each property JLL will keep yields, and therefore discount rates, under regular review

The range of discount rates used by the valuer in the Group's property Portiolio Valuation 1s trom 4.6% to 11.7% (2022, 4 6%

to 11.5%). [n assessing the range of discounts, the valuer considers the likely netinitial yleld which would be sought by the
investment market and buillds additional discounts ta reflect added risk into the discount rate of the term and. 1n some cases.
the discount rate for the reversicn. For example, where larger rental growth 15 allowed dunng the lease. an additional discount
1s built Into the reversion because of the greater risk of a fall in the rent at the end of the lease,

Similarly additonal discounts are considered where properties are 1n the process of being re-purposed and prerniums are
considered where residennal care assets are funded by back-to-back leases with care providers.

The table below illustrates the change to the value of investment propertes if the discount rate and CPI used for the portfolic
valuanon calculaticns are changed:

-10%1n +1 0% 1n

discountrate  discount rate +0 5% 1n CPL -0 5% 1n CPI

£ode £'0oc £'000 £006

Increase/(decrease) in the IFRS fair value of investment propertiesat: S
31 March 2€23 71929 (62,507) 56,676 (52,583)
31 March 2022 _75_955 (64,020) 58150 _ (83813)

1 March 2023 31 March 2022

£00c
AEQU]S;tlon df_yQESJdlér—yzémgﬁé;(11.'{t;uidmg-mteiédglpany 1707;3}{)77 - T - 13‘575797
Acdquisition costs - 765
Transfer tc \nvestment property - (11.629)
S'ib proceids 7 ) - (2.695)

Total - -

During the previcus year the Group entered into a transaction o acquire the freehold properiles cperated by CPI Care Limited.
Upcn the acquisition of the comparues for £13.559 C00 plus transaction costs, the properties were transferied inta other group
companies and the cempany acquired, along with 115 asscclated operations. was sold 10 Enviva Carundurn Bideo Lirnited for
£2,69500C Envive Carundumn Bideo Limized 1s a subsidiary of Specialist Healthcare Operations Lirnited ("SHO"). Andrew Dawber
and Tom Pridmore (both directors of the Investrnent Adwviser), are 14 99% shareholders in SHQ. They are not directers of SHQ
and have nc operationai role. SHO does not meet the definition of a related party under [AS 24




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
B E000 _ £000

Amounts falling due in less than one year

Trade receivables 6,676 4960
Less provision for impairment of trade receivables (459) (239)
Accrued income 3.313 4982
Prepayments and cther receivables 1,730 3162
Total ) T T T e T T nze0 12868

Prapaymenis and other receivable amounts include prepaid legal and professional tees of EN1l (2022: £34,000) that have been
incurred in connecticn with acquisitions yet to be completed and £286,000 (2022: £1.046,000) in respect of ongaing works on
the property portfolio.

Accrued income relates mainly to rent acerued for the year but not yet demanded.
31 March 2623 31 March 2022
R _E:(]GO ‘000

Amounts ﬁﬁn‘g due after more than one year
Straight ine adjustments 2,639 2.053
22,144 21466

Lease iIncenuves
24,783 23519

Total

The aged analysis of trade recelvables was as follows:
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
___ E00C £000

Debtors past due

Current 2,518 1777

< 30 days 862 355

30-60 days 275 105

= 60 days 3,021 2723

o T T T o 0 0 I 767.5767 - 7;9607
Debtors pastdue 00 0 7 T

Less provision [or impairment {459) 239)
Tatat N - - /= / 7/ 7/ 7 "saz  am

The Directors consider the fair value of recervables equals their carrying amount.
Other categories within trade and other recewvables do not include impaired assets.

The provision for impalrment movement was as fellows:

Farthe For the

year ended year ended

ST March 2025 51 March 2022

— e oo fooo | FOoO
Balance at beginning of year 239 256
Impairment provision made 306 109
Amount recovered (67) (126)

Amourits written off . __ 9 .
Balance at em_i of year ] ) B 459 239
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Continued

- T - S T/ T T AMarenzozs 3 March 202z
- ) e __E'000 £000_
Cash held by solicitors T 64 376
Liquidity funds 15,636 10489
Cash held at bank - o - 16,939 38110
ﬁstricfed cash_ggdiasﬁ equlvaléiﬁs T 7 3235 78375
Restnicted cash ) 2,949 4362
Tatal - T - 7 "7 35888 53337

Liquidity funds refer to money placed in money market funds. These are highly licquid funds with accessibiity within 24 hours
and subject to insignificant rnisk of changes in value,

Cash held by solcitors 1s money held in escrow for expenses expecied to be incurred in relation [0 investiment properties
pending completion. These funds are available immediately on demand.

Restricted cash represents amounts held for specific commitments, tenant deposits and retentuon money held in relation
to deferred payments subject tc achievement of certain conditions, other retentnons and cash segregated to fund repalr,
maintenance and improvermnent works to bring the properties up 1o sausfactory standards for the Group and the tenants.

31 March 2022

31 March 2023 (Restated*)

- — N e ., o o _ ___ _Fewo _ £000

Deferred ncome - 761 860G
Acquisiion costs accrued 600 360
Finance costs 3,688 1,840
Drividend withhaolding tax payable 240 1057
Accruals and other creditors 773 2202
Tenant depcsits - - - ] 2,538 2.573
Total _ﬂ T | “— - T - - T 79,300' 779492

Acqusiticn costs accrued also tnclude rmonies retained at the point of acquisiticn 1o be paid at a later date 1otalling £383.000
{2022: £262,0C0).

* Comparatives have been restated to correct the analysis of £1.896,00C of tenant depesits which had previcusly been included 1n acquisinen costs accrued

EAR SOV B R L B S T
Bank borrowings are secured by charges over individual investment properties held by certain asset-helding subsidianies. The
banks also hold charges over the shares of centain subsidiaries and any intermediary holding companies of those subsidianes.
Any associated fees 1n arranging the hank borrowmngs unamcrused as at the year end are offset against amounts drawn on

the facilities as shown in the table below:

For the For the

yvear ended vear ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
£'7960 £00C

Bank berrowings drawn at start of year

357,080  357.05C

Bank borrowings advanced 70,875 -
Q. Bank barrowings repaid {60,000) -
= Bark porrowings drawn at end ol year 367925 357050
& g Unamorused costs atstartof year T 7T T T Usn00)  (4950;
g8 Less. lcan 1ssue costs incurred (3.544) 11.723)
é E Add Loan 1ssue costs amorised upen repayment of bank loan 6ES -
2z Add: ican 1ssue cosls amorusanscn - - 1,869 1,653
g& Unamortsed costs at end of year T T C(6,010)  (5000)
B & Atendofyear - T 7 77U sele1s 352650

-

00




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

Loan Balance' Loan Balance' Loan Principal Loan Principal
31 March 2023 31 March 2022 31March 2023 31 March 2022

) B £000 £'000 EUB0  _ E00D
smawty of bank buiowings T o
Repayable within 1 year - - - -
Repayable between 1 to 2 years 59.600 158,746 60,000 160,000
Repayable between 2 to 5 years 302,315 59,365 307,925 60000
Repayable after § years - 133939 - 137.050
Wl T T T T ms wmow  Swem  wiow

1 Loan balance net of unamortised costs.

The Group has been party to the following loan facility agreements in the year,

Loan Puincipal

Facility £000 Expiry Date Interest rare
summary of Borrowings e
Scotush Widows Limited 10-year facility Term loan 52,500 02/11/2027 2.9936% fixed
Lloyds Bank plc Revolving credit facility - - SONIA + 1.67%!
Deutsche Bank AG Loan Notes 70,875  (03/02/2028 569% fixed
HSBC Bank plc Revalving credit facility 100.000 28/11/2025 SONIA + 215%!
Nauonal Westrminster Bank Plc S-year facility Revalving credit facility 60,000  14/08/2024 SONIA + 2.00%?
ME&G Investment Management Limited 7-year faciity ~ Term loan . . 8_L55L2§_/02/_2% . _3137% fixed

367,925

Borrowings are secured on investment properties to the value:

3t March 2023 31 March 2022
__f000 _ £'000

173510 173977

Scottish Widows Limuted 10-yeerr facﬂi[y principal ESZ.SCEOCG )

Deutsche Bank AG Loan Notes principal £70,875.000 168,610 -
HSBC Bank ple facility principal £100.000.000 231,116 222,745
National Westminster Bank Plc 5 year facility pnncipal £60.000,000 137.827 135330

M&G Investment Management Limited 7-year faciity principal £84550000 230279 230,487

At 31 March 2023, the Group 15 in complance with all covenants.

The covenants in place under the five agreements are summarised in the table below

Histoncal and projected imterest cover Loan to Value Rata
Loan: T T B
Scottish Widows Limited 10-year facility Al least 325% Must not exceed 40%
Deutsche Bank AG Loan Notes At least 175% Must not exceed S0%
HSBC Bank plc facility At least 250% Must not exceed 50%
National Westmunister Bank Plc 5-year facility At least 250% Must not exceed 50%

Must not exceed 55%

MEG Investment Management Limited 7-year facility

Al lea_s_t_Z__SD“/u
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1Interest rate caps have been purchased 1o cap interest costs on this facibty as per details in notes 21.0 and 313.
2 Fixed by way of an interest rate swap as detailed in note 21.0
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

The Group has entered into an interest rate swap with NatWest Markets in order to miugate the risk of changes in interest rates
on its loan with National Westminster Bank Plc under which £60 million is currently drawn. The swap has a nouonal value of
£60,000000 and fixes interest at 2.60% (including the 2% margin on the bank loan).

During the year. the Group has entered into three new interest rate cap arrangements {or a total cost of £8.841000.

An interest rate cap that capped the £60,000000 Lloyds Bank pic facility at 3.92% (including the 167% margin on the loan
facility) for the period {ram 18 September 2022 to 20 February 2023 This arrangement was sold upon the repayment of the loan
with proceeds of £17.000.

An interest rate cap that capped the SONIA interest rate on the £100000,000 HSBC Bank plc facility at 26Q0% for the pernad fram
21 September 2022 (o 17 April 2023.

An nterest rate ¢ap transacuon to mitigate the nsk of the SONIA interest rate exceeding 2.45% p.a. on the principal of
£100.000.00C H3BC Bank plc tacility for the pernied from 17 Apnl 2023 10 28 Novernber 2025 This instrument covers the remaining

term of the revolving credit facility with HSBC Bank plc and 1ts extension to Novemnker 2025.

For the

Far the
S MARE B0 51 Maren 7027
ED £'ung
Interest rate deﬁvaﬁﬁ—eia;;ezs/ﬂiabﬂi;ies) - T o ) - o - B
At start of year 2,131 {544)
Interest rate cap premiums paid 8.841 -
Disposal proceeds a7 -
Realised loss on disposal 187 -
Change 1n fair value durnng the year (2,639) 2.675
Atendofyear T /0 T sl 2
The table belcw shows the fair value measurement hierarchy for interest dernvatives:
s T T/ T o - Quote prices i Significant  Significant

31 March 2023
51 March 2622

Active Markets Observable Unobservable
{Level 1} [nputs (Level 2} Inputs (Level 3)
£000 £000 £ooo

- 8.129 -
- 2131 -

The fair value of Group's interest rate denvatives is recorded in the Group Statement of Financial Positicn and 1s determined
by the respective counterparties The counterparties use a number of assumpticns 1n deterrining the fairr values, including
estimations over future interest rates and future cash ficws using chservahile yield curves. The fair vaiue répresents the net
present value of the difference between the cash flows preduced by the contracted rate and the valuation rate. This valuaticn

rechnique falls within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as defined by !FRS 13.

There have been nc transfers between Level t and Level 2 during any cf the periods, nor have there been any transfers

berween Level Z and Level 3 dunng any of the periods.

2T atume oot

Share capital represents the neminal value of consideraucn received by the Cornpany ‘or 1the issue of Ordinary shares

Faor the for the year

year ended ended

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

- [ I - - . - . - - ... . Eeco _~ _EU0O
Share capital

6,225 6225

At beginning and end cf year

Number of shares issued and fully paid Ordinary shares of £0.01 each
At beginming and epjor year

622461380 522.461380



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

During the year, the Company purchased 6,050,000 Ordinary shares to be held in treasury at a cost of £4,651.000 {31 March 2022
10,025,000 Ordinary shares for £9.259,000).

buring the previous year, the Company reissued 565,000 Ordinary shares held i treasury for £647 000 The cust of purchasing
these shares into treasury of £484.000 has been credited 1o the capital reduction reserve with the gain credited to the Share
prernium reserve.

At 31 March 2023, the Company held 16,075 000 (31 March 2022: 10,025,000) Ordinary shares in treasury. The shares will continue
1o be held in treasury until either reissued or cancelled.

At 31 March 2023, the number of Ordinary shares used 1o ¢alculate the net asset value per share 18 606,386,380 (31 March 2022
£12.436,380) which excludes the shares held 1n treasury.

The share premium reserve represents the amounts subscribed for Ordinary share capital in excess of norminal value less
associated issue costs af the subscriptions

For the Far the

year ended year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
£000 £'000

At beginning of year 292626 292,463

Premiurn ansing on shares reissued from weasury - 163

292626 292626

At ex_:_d of year

For movements in the year, please see detalls in note 22.0.

The capital reduction reserve 1s a distributable reserve 1o which the value of the cancelled share prernum was transferred.
Pursuant tc Arucle 3 of The Companies (Reducticn of Share Capital) Order 2008, the balance held in the capital reduction
reserve 1s to be treated for the purpeses of Part 23 of the Companies Act 2006 as a realised proftt and therefore available for
distribution 1n accordance with secnon 830 of the Compamies Act The Company has used this reserve for the costs of buying
back shares to be held in reasury and payment of dividends.

For the For the

year ended yeal ended

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
£'00, k

At be-gmmrfg of -year 322.365 331140

Shares reissued fom treasury - 484
___f4eSLy (3239

317714 322365

§hare;s boughtrback 1INto treasury
At end of year

For movements In the year, please see details 1n note 22.0.

R o BT

This reserve represenis the profits and losses of the Group.

For the

. year ended

$ 31 March 2022
- £0

. . 5 _ £700

Al beginﬁing of yeaf ’ 43.670
Profit for the year 44754
Dividends paid _(34.093)

At end of year
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

Basic NAV per share i1s calculated by dividing net assets in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position attributable o
Ordinary equity holders of the parent by the number of Ordinary shares outstanding at the end of the year.

Net asset values have been calculated as follows:

-3-1 Marchn 2023 31 March 2022
Net assets (£000) ' 661909 675547
Number of Ordinary shares in 1ssue at end of year 622461,380 622461380
Number of Ordinary shares held in treasury {16,075,000) (10025.000)

Number of Ordir;:;i'} shares excluding treasury shares held by the Cbr_rip;ny ) 606,386.380 _6__1_2;41_36,380

I_NIAV per share - basic and diluted ~109.16p  110.30p

For the

Interest rate Rank vear ended
dervatives borrowings 31 March 2023
qilele) £°00C £000

Ktﬁbeglnmnq of year
Cash flows from financing activities

“@131)) 352086 349919

Loan 1ssue costs pald - (3,148) (3,148)
Interest rate denvative premiums paid (8.841) - (8,841)
Proceeds from the sale of Interest rate derivatives 17 - 17
Bank borrowings advanced - 70,875 70,875
Bank borrowings repard - (60,000) (60,000)

Non cash movements

Loan issue fees accrued - (396) (396)
Armortisanion of loan 1ssue costs - 1,869 1.869
Unamortsed loan arrangerment fees written off - 663 663

Change 1n fair value of interest rate derivatives 2,826 — 2,826

© (8129) 361915 353786

At end of year

For the

lnterest rate Bank year ended

o - o "E“"aﬂ‘.‘ggg D””““é!gg; i M““"E?ggg
AL beginning of year - T T ﬁ o 352.125 - 552 667
Cash flows from financing activities
Lcan draw down - (180CS) 1.805;
Non cash movements
Loan 1ssue [ees payable - 82 22
Amcrisaton of loan 1ssue costs - 1653 1653
Change in fair v alure pf interest rate denvauves 2675 - 2875
;i_e;d of ytr T - T - o S - (2,'13_1; 352050 349919




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

The Group is party to a number of operating leases on its investment properues with Approved Providers. The future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases receivable by the Group are as follows:

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

000 £'000
Amcunts recervable T T T S
<1year 57,262 53,821
1-2 years 57,352 53,879
2-5 years 172,536 161,940
> 5 years 958,286 928,210

At end of year 71245436 1197.850

Leases are direct-let agreements with Approved Providers for a 1erm between 20-40 years with indexed linked annual rent
reviews. All current leases are full repairing and insuring leases; the tenants are therefore obliged to repair, maintain and
renew the properues back 10 the original conditions.

The following table gives details of percentage of annual rental income per Approved Provider:

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
% Ed

Aucm-}-{mautions and Qualitas Housing 7 ' " 2439 24.4
Falcon Housing Assccaiation CIC 131 187
Bespoke Supporuve Tenancies 12.5 126
Inclusion Housing CIC 9.4 93
Westimoreland Supported Housing Limited 56 59
Encircle Housing Limited 5.2 59
Trinity Housing Association Lumited 5.2 5.1
Pivotal Housing Asscclanon 4.0 38
Chrysalis Supported Assoclation Limited 37 36
New Walk Preperty Management CIC 27 28
Harbour Light Assisted Living CIC 2.3 36
My Space Housing Solutions 1.3 13
Elysium Healthcare Limited 11

IKE Supported Housing Limited 10 11
Hilldale Housing Association Lirmited 1.0 10
Windrush Alliance UK CIC 07 o7
Lilly Rose Supported Housing 0.2 Gl
Blue Square Residential Lid 041 01
Total T - T T T T T 100 1000

Auckland Home Solutions and Qualitas Housing are both members of the Social Housing Family CIC and subject 1o comunon
control Their annual rent figures have therefore been aggregated in the table above. The percentage relating 1o Auckland
Heme Solutions and Qualitas Housing was 16 5% and 8.4% (2022 16.3% and B8.1%) respectively. The annual rent at 31 March 2023 for
Auckland Home Solutions and Qualitas Housing was £9.266,000 and £4.730,000 (2022: £8,679,.000 and £4.334.000) respectively.

The Group is alsc party to @ number of operating leases on 1ts long leasehold properues, The ground rent payment
comrmtments under these operating leases are negligible so the future minimum lease payments under these leases have not
been disclosed in these hnancial stalements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

As at 31 March 2023, there is no ulumate controlling party.

A hist of all subsidiary undertakings including the address of the regisiered office 15 detailed in note 8.0 to the Company
accounts on pages 115 (o 118,

The Directors are remunerated for their services at such rate as the Directors shall from time to ume determine The aggregate
remuneration and benefits 1n kind of the Directors of the Company (in each case. solely in their capacity as such) 1n respect of
the year ended 31 March 2023 payable out of the assets of the Cornpany is not expected to exceed £250,000.

Tees of £194.000 (2022: £190.0C0) were incurred and paid to the Directors.

Ag at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Directors held the foliowing number of shares:

31 March 2623 31 March 2022

Ordinary Qrdinary
— - J— o ___shares shares
Director o
Michael Wrobel Chairman 200,000 126,598
Alastalr Moss Director 11,766 11766
alison Hadden Diurector 31,937 -
Caroline Gulliver Audit and Management Engagement Committee Chair 58,832 58,832
Peter Baxter  Durector B2.065 82,065

The Investment Adviser has reviewed s remuneration policies and procedures to ensure incentives are aligned with the
requirements of AIFMD. It includes measures t¢ avord conflicts of interest such as providing staff with a fixed monthly
salary and determining discrelionary payments by the performance of the Investment Adviser as a whole and not inked
tc any one AlF in particular The Investment Adviser and 1ts staff recelve nc remuneration through profit share, carried
interest, co-investment or ather schemes related to the Company's performance.

On 1 November 201g, Civitas Investment Management Limited ("CIM") was appointed as the Invesiment Adviser of the Company.
Its address is shown on page 131 1¢ the Reportl.

Fees of £6,206,000 (2022: £6,132,000) were incurred and paid to CIM. In addition £11.000 (2022 £nii) disbursements were paid 1n
the year

The Investrnent Adviser agreed 10 contribute Enul (2022: £100 COQ) towards legal and professional fees incurred. This amount
was offset against legal and professicnal fees in ncte 90

As at 31 March 2023 a net amount of £48 000 (2022 £151.000) was due from CIM, which has since been received,

As at 31 March 2023, CIM held [£7.6€64 (2022 50CC0) Ordinary shares 'n the Company.




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

The Group's principal financial assets and habilitios are thoee that anee directly from its mperatinns: trade aned nther
receivables. trade and cther payables and cash and cash equivalents. The Group's other principal financial liabilities are bank
barrowings. the main purpose of which is w0 finance the acquisition and development cf the Group's invesument property
portfolic, and interest rate derivatives as detailed in notes 20.0 and 21.0.

All financial habilities are measured at amortised cost, except interest rate derivatives, which are measured at fair value. All
financiai instruments were designated (n their current categories upon initial recognition.

Set cut below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Group's financial instruments that are
carried 1n the financial statements:

Boaok value Fair value Book value Falr value
31 March 2023 31 March 2023 11 March 2022 31 March 2022
-l _foge  goee  g@do  £000
Financial assets
Interest rate derivatives B.129 8,129 2131 2131
Trade and other receivables! 34,949 34,949 34,580 34,580
35,588 35,588 53,337 53,337

Cash and cash equivalents

Financijal liabilities
Trade and other payables? 7.599 7,599 8632 8.632

Eanl;éprrow1ngs L 361,9157ﬁ 350,12 jSL%O - 349,403

1 Excludes prepayments
2 Excludes deferred income and dividend withhalding tax payahle

The Group has five bank loans as detailed in note 20.0. The fair value of the fixed rate loan is determined by comnpanng the
discounted future cash flows.

The Group 1s expased (o market risk. Interest rafe nisk, credit risk and hquidity risk i the current and future years. The Board of
Directors oversees the management of these risks. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks that are summansed below,

The Group's acuvities will expose 1t primarily to the market nisks assoclated with changes in property values and changes in
interest rates,

Investment in property is subject (o varying degrees of nisk Somte factors that atfect the value of the iInvestment 1n property
include:

® changes (n the general economic climate;

s competition for available propertes;

s obsolescence, and

e government regulatens, including planning. environmental and tax laws

Varnauaons 1n the above factors can affect the valuation of assets heid by the Group and as a result can influence the financial
performance of the Group.
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Continued

The Group holds pgsitions in two AAA rated liquidity funds that invest in a diversified range of government and
non-government money market securities, which are subject to varying degrees of risk. Some factors that atfect the value of
the hquidity funds include:

e the performance of the underlying government and non-gevernment money market secunues, and
¢ interestrates

Vanatons 1in the above factors can affect the valuation of assets held by the Group and as a result can influence the financial
perfarmance of the Group.

[nterest rate risk 1s the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates

At 31 March 2023 all long-term berrowings are either at fixed rate or have an interest rate cap or interest rate swap in place
which has mitigated the risk cf nsing interest rate. Interest rate dernvative instzuments are in place to the loan matunty date on
the vanable rate loans.

The tabie beiow shows the bank locans, derivative instruments and interest rates.

Maximum

Loan Principal Dervative mstrument nterest rate
Sumumary of Borrowings o £'00C Expuy Date Interest rate n place payabie
Scottish Widows Limuted 10-year facility " 52500 D2/11/2027  2.9936% fixed - o 299%
Deutsche Bank AG 70.875 03/02/2028 5.69% fixed 5.€9%
HSBC Bank plc 100.000 28/11/2C25  SONIA + 215%  Interest rate cap! 4.75%
National Westrunster Bank Plc S-year tacility 60,000 14/08/2024 SONIA + 2.00% Interestrate swap 2.60%
M;&G_lp_\{estmem Mapige}ﬁq@iﬁm}fggi}year facility 84,550 24/02/2028 3.137% fixed 314%

367,925

1 Maximum interest rate reduces o 4.6% rom 18 Apnl 2023

The expesure of the Group to varnabile rates of interest 15 considered upon drawing of any new loan facilities, to ensure that the
Group's exposure o Interest rate fluctuatuons 15 within acceptable levels

The Investment Adviser monitors the Group's exposure (¢ any changes in Interest rate on an ongolng basis, with the Board
updated on a quarterly basis of the current exposure of the Group's loan facilities.

As at 31 March 2023 1if interest rates had been 100 basis points hugher/llower) with alt other variables held constant the 1mpact
on profits after taxanon for the year would be as below. The Investment Adviser anucipates these levels are reascnably
possible based an the observatcn cf current market conditions that interest rates would not fluctuate more than 1%

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
! £'000

lncrease/(decré-as-e-rih profits dué to iﬁtere.;f ratg;
1GC basis pownts hugher 256 (1.06E;}
100 hasis pel . wer _ ) ) L (210) 1572

31 March 2023 3] March 2022
* *

Bank bacwmgs - fuk;d rate 2.65 294
Bank borrowings - vanable rate 6.07 223
Cash and cash eguivalents 0.82 CGs

1 Vanable rate borrowings are subject 1o a maxmum nterast rate of 4 75% due 1o arn interest rate cap The maximum 1nterest rate reduces to 4.6% from 18 Apr:l 2023
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Continued

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligaticns under a financial instrument ar customer contract,
leading 1o a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risks from both its leasing activities and financing acuvities.
including deposits with banks and financial institutions

Dektors and accrued income represent rent due or accrued. These amcunts due are diversified between a number of different
Approved Providers of differing financial strength, see note 28.0 for details of the different counterparties. None of the
Approved Providers have a credit rating, however, the diversified nature of this asset supports the credit gquality.

The Group has policies in place 1o ensure that rental contracts are entered into only with lessees with an appropriate crednt
and operational history, and limits exposure to any one tenant. The credit risk 1s considered to he further reduced as the
source of the rents recewved by the Group 15 ulumately provided by the Government, by way of housing beneht and care
provision, via a diverse range of local authorities.

For details of provisions for impairment please refer to note 17.0.

One of the principal credit risks of the Group will arise with the banks and financial insuwutions The Board of Directors believes
that the credit nsk on short-term deposits and current account cash balances is limited because the counterpartes are banks
considered 1o ke of good credit guality. In the case of cash deposits held with lawyers. the credit risk is lirmited because the
cash is held by the lawyers within client accounts at banks with high credit quality.

The credit ratings for banks where balances are held by the Group are as follows:

Lioyds Bank plc A+/F1
HSBC Bank pic AA-/F1+
RBS International Lirmited A/TI

National Westminster Bank plc A+/F1

Ratings advised by Fitch

No balances are held with Deutsche Bank AG.

The Group manages 1ts hgquidity and funding risks by censidering cash flow forecasts and ensuring sufficient cash balances
are held within the Group to rmeet future needs. Prudent liquidity risk management imples maintaining sufficient cash and
marketable secunties. the avalability of financing through approprnate and adeguate credit hnes, and the ability of customers
to settle ebligations within ncrmal terms of credit. The Group ensures. through forecastung of capital requirements, that
adequate cash is available.

The foliowing tabie deralls the Group's maturity profile in respect of its financial instrument llabiities based on contractual
undiscounted payments:

Gn demand «1year 1.5 years > S years Total
_ £0p0 £00D £o00p _gpoo0  _ EDOD
31March2023 = =T
Trade and cther payables 7.599 - - - 7.599
Bank borrowings - 14,482 407,770 - 422,252
S T T T T T T 7899 1aa8z 407770 - 429,851
31 March 2022
Trade and other payables 8.632 - 8632
Bjnlﬂ)rmllngL - 9,336 %45.974 B 144.60% 399:912

8632 9336 245974 144602 408,544

The profile above shows the maturnty profile at 31 March 2023 and included within the contracted payments is £54.327,000
{2022: £42.862,000) of loan mterest payable up to the point of matunty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Continued

At 31 March 2023, the Company had funds comrmitted totalling £Nil (2022, £92.000 concerning capital expencituze for a property
I Surrey).

Cn 9 May 2023, the Company anncunced a dividend of 1425 pence per share 1n respect of the period 1 January 2023 1o
31 March 2023 totalling £8.641.000. The diviclend payment was made on 9 June 2023 to shareholders on the reqister as
at 19 May 2023. The hinancial statements do not ieflect this dividend. The dividend was paid as a REIT property income
distribution ("PID").

On 1 December 2022, the Company sighed a facility with an institutional lender. Subseguent 1o this. on 21 June 2023, the
Company recewed credit approved terms for an additional £61.0 miuhon fixed facility based on a 3-year SONIA rate at the
date of draw down +185bps margin with a maturity date of 3 August 2026 The eventual drawdown on the facility 1s subject to
certain standard closing conditions.

On 9 May 2023 an announcement was macle to the market for an all cash offer of Civitas Social Housing PLC (Civitas) from
Wellness Unity Limited, a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of CKA Asset Holdings Limited {CKA). The offer of 8C pence

per share received values the entire 1ssued share capital fexcluding treasury shares) of CSH at approxrately £48% milhon
This represents a 44.4% premuum (o the share price of 554 pence per share on % May 2023 (the last trading day praor to
announcement of the offer), and 26 7% discount to 31 March 2023 NAV ¢f 109.16p. This provides shareholders the opportunity to
exit in full and 11 cash at a signuficant premium to the current share price. The offer will be implemented by way of a takeover
otfer within the meaning of Part 28 cf the Companies Act

On 22 May 2023 the Offer Docurment was made avallabie. The offer became uncondiuonal on 23 June 2023 Payment of
consideration due to sharehclders who have subrmitted valid acceptances will be made no later than 14 calendar days

after the date the Offer becomes or s declared unconditicnal cr. in relation !¢ vahd acceptances recerved after such date
within 14 calendar days of receipt of that acceptance. Acccrding to the Offer Docurnent. 1t 1s intended that Civitas Investment
Managerment Lirnited ("CIM") 15 maintained as the Investment Adviser to Civitas so that the day to-day management of

the Civitas portiolio will conunue uninterrupted. and Civitas be re-registered as a private limited company as $oon as
pracucabie following the cancellaticn of the lisung and trading of Civitas shares. At the balance sheet date CKA as an indirect
investar in CIM, was not a related party ¢ the Group as per 1AS 24. On 23 June 2023, when the offer became uncondiuonal,

CKA subsequently became the ultimate controlling party of the Company, and a related parry under [AS 24



Company Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2023

31 March 2023 3t March 2022
€060 £'000

Note
Assets B - - T
Fixed assets
nvestmentin subsicbares . _ .  7G 794733 _ 793284
Current assets
Tracle and other receivables 1) 2,599 4,310
Cash and cash equivalents 100 © 26193 23438
P T ¥ 77 27748
Totalassets 3525 821,052
Liabilities
Creditors - amounts falling due within one year
Trade and other payables 11.C {318 414} (274,020}
I T 17 S POV
Total liahilities {318,414) (274.020)
Totalnetassets . 50sM1 547,012
Equity
Share capual 120 5,225 6225
Share premium reserve 13.0 292,626 292,626
Capital reduction reserve 140 317.714 322,365

150 Un454)  (74204)

505,111 §47.O]72

Accumulated losses
Total equity

The Company has taken advantage of the provisions of Cornpanies Act 2006 s408 and does not disclose the Company's
individual profit and loss account. Loss for the year was £2,791,000 (2022: profit £21,362,600).

The Company financial staterments on pages 111 1o 120 were approved by the Board of Directors of Civitas Social Housing PLC
and authonsed for issue and signed cn its behalf by:

Podi '
ol

Michael Wrobel

Chairrnan and Independent Non-Executive Directcr
28 June 2023

Company No 10402528
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Share Capital

capmal | Tressre  resarve UMiotees equry
B . - - Note £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000
Balance at 1 April 2021 6,225 7 292462 331140 (61,473) 568.354
Frofit and total comprehensive mcome for the year - - - 21362 21362
Shares reissued from treasury 13.0 - 164 484 - 448
Shares bought back 1nta treasury 14.0 - - (9,259} - {9.259)
Dividends paid o 15.0 - - - (34,093} (34,093)
Balance at 31 March 2022 T 6225 292626 322365 _ (74204) 547012
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - - - (2,791) (2,791)
Shares reissued from treasury 13.0 - - — - -
Shares bought back into treasury 14.0 - — {4,651) - (4,651)
Dividends paid L o 15.0 - - - (34.459)  (34,459)
Balance at 31 March 2023 6225 292626 317714 (111484) 505111

The Company's cistrnibutable reserves comprise retained earnings/(accumnulated losses) and the capital reduction
reserve These in aggregate had sufficient reahised distributable reserves to support dividends paid to date

The noctes cn pages 113 16 120 are an :ntegral par: cf these {inanmal staterents



Notes to the Company Financial Statements
As at 31 March 2023

Civitas Social Housing PLC ("the Company”) was imncorporated in England and Wales under the Companies Act 2006 as a public
company limited hy shares on 28 September 2016 with company number 10402528 under the name Civitas REIT PLC. which was
subsequently changed to the existing name on 3 October 2016.

The address of the registerad office is 6th Floor, 65 Gresham Street. London EC2V 7NQ. The Company is registered as
an investment company under section 833 of the Companies Act 2006 1n England and Wales and 1s domiciled in the
United Kingdom.

The Company did not begin rading until 18 Novermnber 2016 when the shares were admitted to trading on the London Stock
Exchange {'LSE").

The Company's Ordinary shares have been admitted to the Official List of the Financial Conduct Authority ('FCA"), and are
traded on the LSE.

The principal activity of the Company is to act as the ultimate parent company of its subsidiaries (the "Group” and to provide
shareholders with an attractive level of income, together with the potential for capital growth from investing 1n a portfolio of
social homes.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical ¢ost basis and in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard
101 Reduced Disclosure Frarmnework ("'FRS 101') and the Companies Act 2006 as applicable to companies using FRS 101

In preparnng these financial statements. the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of
International Financial Reporting Standards ("Adopted IFRSs™), but makes amendments where necessary in order to comply
with the Companies Act 2008 and has set oul below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exempuions has been taken

In prepanng these financial statements the Company has taken advantage of all disclosure exemptions conferred by FRS 101
Therefore, these linancial statements do not inciude:

« certain comparative Informauon as otherwise required by [FRS:

e cenamn disclosures regarding the Company's capltal management

e certawn disclosures in relation to I[FRS 15 Revenue Contracts with Custcmers,

e astatemen! of cash flows,

e the effect of future accounting standards not yet adopted;

e the disclosure of the remuneration of key management personnel and

e disclosure of related party transacuens with other wholly owned members of Civitas Soctal Housing PLC.

In addition, and in accordance with FRS 101 further disclesure exemptions have been adopted because equivalent disclosures
are included in the Cempany's consolidated financial statements. These financial statements do nat include certain
disclosures in respect ol

» financial instruments, and

e fair value measuraement other than certain disciosures required as a result of recording finanaal instruments at far value

The Company has taken advantage of the exempuon 1n section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to present iIts own inccme
statement or staternent of comprehensive incorme.

AT T R Eh et R AT e
After a review of new accounung standards which are now effective, none are relevant 1o be adopted in the preparatcn of the
Company's financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023

The financial statemnents have been prepared on a going concern hasis.

As discusged In the Group financial statements above, the underlying assets of the Comparny benefit from a secure mcoogme stream.

The Company financial statements show an accumulated loss, however this is due 1o a ume-lag on profits from subsidiary
companies being moved up the structure in the form of dividends.

The Company has net current liabilities of £28%,622,000 (2022: £246.272,000). This balance anses due to the iInterccmpany
balances totalliing £316,128,000 (2022: £271.632,000) with the Company's subsicdiary companies. The amounts principally relate to
bank loans drawn 1n the Company's subsidiary companies in order to finance the purchase of new acquisitions in accordance
with the Group's business model. The directors of the subsidiary companies have provided a letter of comnlort that they will not
seek repayment of these balances within 12 months from the date of approval of the Company's financial statements
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements
Continued

The Company's arucles of asscciation include a requirement for the Board to propose an ordinary resoclution at the annual
general meetng following the fifth anmversary from the iniual publc offering of the Company for the Company to continue
1n its current form (the Continuation Resolution). This vote was passed in September 2022 so the Company will continue 1ts
husiness as presently constituted and will propose the same 1esolution at the AGM in September 2027 and every fifth annual
general meeung thereafter

0On 9 May 2023, an announcement was made 0 the market for an all-cash offer of Civitas Social Housing PLC (CSH) from
Wellness Unity Limited, a wholly owned indirect subsidiary of CK Assets Holdings Limited (CKA) The offer became
uncondiional on 23 June 2023, The Group's exisung committed debt facilities contain a standard change of control clauyse has
now been triggered due to the offer becoming unconditional. This could result in the existing cornmitted debt facilities being
withdrawn. Furthermore, the Directors do not have visibility of the post compietion funding for the Group and Company at
this time, The Directors note the detailed intentions statement included within the announcement on 9 May 2023, which states
that CKA does not envisage making any changes to the managerment team nor any disruption to any counterpartes or to

the underlying tenants. However, the conditions outhned above indicate a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt upon the Group's and Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The Independent Auditors Report included
within the Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2023 also highlights this material uncertainty. Therefore,
notwithstanding the matenai uncertainty arising from the offer from CKA, the Directors are sausfied that the going concern
basis remains appropnate for the preparaucn of the financial statements. The financial statements do not include the
adjustments that would result if the Group and the Company were unable to continue as a going concern.

The key source of estimation uncertainty relates 1o the Company's investment in Group companies. and 1s stated in the
Company's separate financial statements at cost less impalrment losses. if any. Impaurment losses are determined with
reference 1o the investment's fair value less estimated costs of disposal. Investment properties held by the subsichary
companies are supported by independent valuation. Judgements and assumptions assaciated with the property values of the

investments held by the subsidiary companies are detalled in the Group financial statements

The financial statements of the Company fcllow the accountung policies laid out in the Group's consolidated inanaal
statements along with the following accountng policies which have been consisiently applied.

The imvestments in subsidiary companies are included in the Company's Statement of Flnancial Position at cost less provision
for impairment. Impairment iosses are determined with reference to the investment's fair value less estmated selling costs On
disposal. the difference between the net disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is included in the income statement.

The invesiment i a subsidiary company may include both the purchase of shares and an mtercompany loan which is
subsequently capitalised n return for shares in tne subsidiary company. The intercompany loan capitalised is disclosed in
note 7.0 as a ransfer between the shares and loan columns

Loans made 10 subsidiary ccmpanles which arse as part of the transacticns for the acquisition of investments and are
subsequently capiiaiised by the 1ssue of shares are recognised as investmentin subsidianes at cest. At the pomnt the loan 13
capitalised, this transaction 15 recognised as a transfer within the able 1n note 70.

I CER -

Balances arising with subsidiary companies of a temporary nature are :nttially reccgnised at fair value and subsequently
measured at amornsed cost.

Dividends are inciuded n the iinancial statements in the year in which they are paid. Details of dividends paid and preposed
are included in note 14 C of the Group's censolidated financial statements.

Details of Direciors’ remuneranon are included in note 6.0 of the monschdated hinancial statemenis. The Company had no
employees during the year (2022 nil).

Audlt fees in relation to the Company's financial statements total £358.000 (2022: £296.000). For further details, please refer ¢
ngte 9.6 of the Group financial statements.




Notes to the Company Financial Statements

Continued

Year ended 31 March 2023 - .
Balance at the beginning of the year

Increase 1n investments

Loans transferred
Impairment

At the end of the year

Year ended 31 March 2022 .
Balance at the beginning of the year

Increase in investments
Loans ransferred
lmpairment

At the end of the year

For the

Shares in Loans 10 wear ended

subsdianes subsidianes 31 March 2023

_____ —— _ .. kO0Qo w00 €000
768,075 25,209 793,284

1,090 600 1,690

7,727 (7,720 -

a) - (24D

- o 776651 18082 794735
T T T - Eo-r the yealﬁ
Shares in Loans to ended

subsidiaries subsidiaries 3] March 2022
- - - . EwDG _ FO0OD £000
703435 17,483 720,918

41,712 31,013 72725

23,287 (23,287}

S -/ O
768.075 25209 793284

Following a review comparing cost of investments to the underlying net assets of subsidiary companies, an impalrment
provision has been made of £241.00C (2022; £359.000).

4 e o

The Company has provided a guarantee under 5479C of the Companies Act 2006 1n respect of the financial year ended
31 March 2023 for a number of its subsidiary companies {as indicated in the tabie on the following pages). The guarantee 1s
over all outstanding liabihties o which the subsidiary companies are subject at 31 March 2023 unul they are satsfied in full.

The Group consists of a paren! company. Civitas Social Housing PLC 1ncorporated in England and Wales {(company number
10402528) and a number of subsidiaries held directly by Civitas Social Housing PLC. which operate and are incorporated in

England and Wales or Jersey.

The Greoup owns 100% eguity shares of all subsidiares listed below and has the power to appuint and remove the majority of
the board of directors of those subsidiaries. The relevant actuivities of the below subsidianes are determined by the Board of

Directars based on the purpose of each company.

Theretore, the Directors concluded that the Group has conwrcl over all these entities and all these entities have been
consoclidated within the consolidated financlial statements.

A list of all related undertakings included withun these consolidated hinancial staternents are noted below. [ndirectly held
subsidiary companies are marked by an indentation in the table below:

Name

Crvitas Social HEslng Flnancé Coﬁlpanyl Limited”
Civitas Social Housing Jersey 1 Lirmited

Civitas SPV? Limited*

Crvitas SPV2 Limited*

Civitas SPVII Limited*

Civitas SPV1S Limited*

Crvitas SPV25 Limited®

Civitas SPVZ2Y7 Limited*

Civitas SPV33 Limited*

Civitas SPY35 Limited*®

Civitas SPV38 Limited*

Crwitas SPV39 Limited*

Civitas SPVAD Lirmited*

Ciwitas SPv41 Limited*

Civilas SPVS0 Limited*
Civitas Social Heousing Finance Cempany 2 Limited*

Civitas Social Housing Jersey 2 Limited
Civitas SPV3 Limuted?

_ _ Country of incorporation

Reql’s}reregi numper _ Principalactvity
EQTIO’? Finance company
124129 Holding company
10518729 Property investment
10114251 Property investment
10546749 Property investment
Q9777380 Property investment
10791473 Property investiment
10883112 Property investment
10546407 Property investment
10588530 Property 1nvestment
107383518 Property Investment
10547333 Froperty mvestment
16738510 Property invesiment
10738542 Property 1nvestment
10775419 Property imnvestment
10997698 Finance company
124875 Holding company
16156529 Property Investment

England & Wales
Jersey

England & Wales
England & Wales
Engiand & Wales
Fngland & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
Jersey

England & Wales
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Name

Crvitas SFV4 Limited”

Civitas 3PVS Limited*

Civitas SPV6 Lirmuted*

Civitas SPV9 Limired®

Civitas SPv10 Limited*
Civitas SPV12 Lirmnuted*

Civitas SPVI7 Limuted*
Civitas SPV18 Limited”
Civitas $PV19 Limited*
Civitas SPv20 Limited*
Civitas SPV22 Limited®
Civitas SPV24 Limited®
Crvitas SPV26 Limited*
Crvitas SPV29 Limited*
Crvitas SPV30 Limited”
Crvitas SPV31 Lirnuted*

Crvnas SPV32 Limated”
Civitas SPV34 Limuted”®
Crvitas SPV36 Limited*
Ciwitas SPV42 Limited®
Crvitas SPV43 Limited®
Civitas SPv45 Limired*
Crvitas SPV46 Limired*
Civitas SPV47 Limited”
Civitas SPV48 Limited”
Crvitas 3PYS] Limated*

Civitas SPVE2 Limned*
Civitas 5PVES Limited”
Civitas SPV6E4 Limited*
Civitas SPY7C Limited”
Civitas SP¥71 Limned*

Civitas SPV72 Limited*
Crvitas SPV74 Limited”
Crvitas SPV75 Limited*
Cratas SPYAEC Limuted®
Crivitas SPV163 Limuted*

Civitas SPV8 Limited®

Crvitas SPV28 Limited*
Civitas SPVSS Limited”
Civitas SPY55 Limited”®
Civitas SPVS? Lirmnited®

Crvitas SPV6E0 Limited”
Cuvitas SPV6el Limued®

Cratas SPYE6 Limited*
Crattas SPYT7 Limated®

Civitas 3PV7/2 Limited®
Crvitas SPV79 Limited*
Crvitas SPVBI Lirnited?

Crv:tas SPVE2 Limited®
Civitas SPVE3 Limirted”
Civitas SPVES Limited*
Civitas SPV3s Limited®
Civitas SPY97 Limited®
Cryitas SEVICS Limited?

Cirviias Somal Housing Finance Cornpany 3 Linuied®

Registered number
10433744
10479104
10674493
10536388
16535243
10546783
10479036
10546651
10548932
10588735
10743958
10751512
10864336
10911565
10956025
10974889
HOST73
16738381
10588792
10738556
10534877
10871854
10871510
16873270
10873295
108266973
10827006
10937805
1093841
10770201
10888639
10938022
11G018ss
11601834
11001898
14527873
1099714
16536157
10895228
11021625
1056455
11091444
11111908
10937662
16937898
11166491
11170099
11236544
11192811
11380798
11371128
11300749
112C8184
1146383¢
11500596

Notes to the Company Financial Statements
Continued

Princip?l ACTIVILY

Froperty investment
Property investment
Property investment
Property investment
Property investment
Property investment
Property investment
Propefly mvestment
Property investiment
Property investment
Property investment
Property investment
Property investrnent
Property investment
Property investment
Property investment
PTORERTLY IMVESTMEDT
Froperty imnvestment
Property investment
Property investment
Property mvestment
Property investment
Property investment
Property investment
Froperty mvestment
Property investment
Property investment
Property mvesiment
Property investiment
Property investment
Property imnvestment
Property iInvestment
Property tnvestment
Property mvestment
Property investment
Property invesimernt
Finance Company
Property investment
Property investrent
Property Investment
Property investment
Property iInvestment
Property investment
Property mnvestment
Property investment
Property investmeant
Property iInvestment
Property iInvegtiment
Property :nvestment
Property investment
Procperly iInvestment
Toperty investment
Prcperty Investment
Property investinen’
Property investment

Country ol incorporation

Englanad & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
kngland & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
tngland & Wales
tngland & Wales
England & wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
tngland & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & wales
England & wales
Fngland & Wales
England & Wales
kngland & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Waies
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & ‘Waes



Notes to the Company Financial Statements

Continued

Name o .

Civitas SPV10S Limited®
Crvitas SPV106 Limited®
Crvitas SPVI07 Limited®*
Civitas SPVIlG Limited”
Crvitas SPV117 Limited*

Civitas Social Housing Finance Company 4 Limied*
Civitas SPV23 Limited*
Civitas SPV54 Limited*
Civitas SPV59 Limited*
Clvitas SPVBE9 Limuted”
Crvitas SPYYZ3 Limited*
Civitas SPV84 Limited”®
Civitas SPV86 Limited”
Crvitas 3PV87 Limited®
Crvtas SPV88 Limited”
Crvitas SPV90Q Limited*
Civitas SPV31 Limuted*
Crviras SPVS2 Limpted®
Civitas SPVS3 Limited®
Civitas SPV94 Limited®
Ciwvitas SPV96 Limnited®
Civitas SPVI00 Limited®
Civitas SPV101 Limuted*
Cvitas SPV102 Limited”
Civitas SPVICS Limited®
Civitas SPV11Z Limited™
Civitas SPV114 Limited*
Clvitas SPVILS Limited”
Civitas SPVILE Limaited”
Civitas SPVI121 Limited*
Civitas SPV122 Limited”
Civitag SPV1E6 Limited”
Crvitas SPV127 Limited*
Civitas SPV129 Lirmited*
Civitas SFV130 Limited*
Civitas SPV131 Limited*
Ciwvitas SPV1I32 Limited*
Crnitas SPV145 Limited”

SPV1S3 Limited {(previously Fieldbay Limited;*

Civitas 3PV148 Lirnited*
Crvitas SPVI43 Limited”®
Crvitas SPVIS0 Limited®
FPI CO 324 Lidr

Civitas Social Housing Finance Company 5 Limited”
Civitas SPV7 Limited”
Crvitas SPV13 Limited”
Civitas SPV37 Limited®
Civitas SPV44 Limited”
Civitas SPV4%9 Limned*
Civitas SPV36 Limited”
Civitas 5PVE2 Limited”
Crvitas SPVES Limited*
Civitas SPVE? Limited*®
Civitas SPVES Limited”
Crvitas SPV98 Lirmted®

__ _Registered number

11532177
11532179
832182
11504393
11504445
11906664
10746881
11039750
111812
11142372
10939075
11381455
11418432
10888903
10939044
10939131
10941377
11449813
11043111
11208105
11270786
10E9703
09978282
11521555
11532120
11579750
11579733
11522178
11411498
1ag9g99ry
11482646
11459821
10941401
11664594
11705074
11673132
11473735
11842306
5219012
11632633
11462691
11462555
11633019
13083077
10536368
09517692
107358450
10588783
11031349
11056465
10937528
10938467
10937929
10938263
11478635

Principal activaty

Property investment
Property investment
Property investment
Property investment
Property investment
Finance Company

Froperty investment
Property investment
Propernty investment
Propeny imvestment
Properny investment
Froperty investment
Property investment
Property investment
Property Investment
Property investment
Froperty investment
Property Investment
Property investment
Property investment
Froperty investment
Property invesiment
Property investment
Property investment
Property investment
Froperty Investment
Property invesiment
Property investment
Property investment
Fropery mvestment
Property imvestment
Property investrnent
Property investment
Property investment
Property mvestment
Property investment
Property imvestment
Holding company

Property Investment
Property investment
Property investmant
Property investment
Property investment
Finance Company

Property iInvestment
Froperty investment
Property mnvestment
Property investment
Property investment
Broperty \nvestment
Property investment
Propertly investment
Property Investment
Property investment
Property investment

Country of incorporation
mnd & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements

Country of incorporation

Continued
b-l;;ae o _ - Re”glslé;(rnun';rber _V;Pnr_uzulal actjvity _
" Civitas SPV99 Limited* 11478707 Property iInvestment
Civitas SPV104 Limited” 11532174 Property investment
Civitas SPV108 Limited* 11832135 Property investment
Crvitas SFV1L3 Limited* 11580068 Property investment
Civitas SPV123 Lirmned* 08253452 Property investment
Civitas SPV133 Limited* 11698972 Property 1nvestment
Crvitas SPV134 Limited” 11689461 Property imvestment
Civitas SPV135 Limited® 11578880 Property 1nvestment
Civitas SPV136 Limited® 11579760 Property investment
Civitas SPV143 Lirmnnted® 11546808 Property investment
Civitas SPV144 Limited® 11546696 Property investment
Civitas SPV146 Limited® 11861560 Holding Company
Bryn Eithun {2019) Limited*® 11844898 Property investment
Civitas SPV147 Lirnited* 11861974 Holding Company
Mynydd Mawr (2019) Limited* 11844917 Property investment
Crvitas SPV1I52 Limited* 11955719 Property investment
Civitas SPV155 Limited” 12044281 Property invesimenti
Crvitas SPVIS6 Limited® 12081093 Property investment
Civitas SPV157 Limited” 12188601G Property mvestment
Civitas SPV158 Limited* 12202674 Property invesiment
Civitas SPV160 Limited” 12272906 Property investment
Bedford SPV1 Lirmited* 12315518 Property investment
Bridge Property Herts Limited* 12435985 Property investment
Bnidge Propco Limited” 124434353 Prcperty invesiment
FPl Co 294 Ltd” 11519226 Prcperty investment
Chivitas SPV14 Limited*® 10479041 Property mvestment
Civitas SPV HP Lid * 12784895 Prcperty investmerit
Cwvitas SPV16 Limited” 09917557 Property investment
Civitas SPV21 limited® 10631541 Property investment
Civitas SPV159 Lirmited® 12258313 Property mvestment
Civitas Financing PLC* 13546154 Holding Comgany

England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
eEngland & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Waies
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales
kngland & Wales
England & Wales
England & Wales

* These entities are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of individual financial statements by virtue of Section 4794 of that

Act. These are all entties that have a year end of 31 March 2023

The registered addresses far the subsidianies are consistent based cn their country of incorporation and are as follows
s England & Wales entities: Link Company Matters Limited. 6th Floor £5 Gresharm Swreet, London EC2V 7NQ

e Jersey entities: 12 Castle Street, 5t Helier, Jersey JE2 3RT

Trade receivables
Prepayments and other rece.vables
Accrued income

Total

31 March 2023
_£oag

1544
420
635

2,598

31 March 2022

£Ca0
1150
1902
1258
s

Prepayments and other receivable amounts include prepaid legal and professional fees of £Nil (2022 £34 6CC) that have been
mncurred 1n cocnnectlon with acquisiions yel 1c be completed and £28€0C0 (2022 £1.54€.C00) 1n respect of uncempleted works

cn the property portfolio



Notes to the Company Financial Statements

Continued
T T T T T T T T T T T " anch 20 MMarch 202z
£'000 £000
Cash held by solicwors T e 3e
Liguidity funds 15,636 10,489
Cash held at bank 10,239 12,258
Cash and cash equivalents " 5338 23123
Restricted cash 254 315
Total cash held atbank T 7 777 28193 23438

Liquidity funds refer to money ptaced in money market funds These are highly liquid funds with accessibility within 24 hours
and subject to insigniticant risk of changes in value

Cash held by solicitors 1s money held in escrow for expenses expected 10 be incurred in relation 1o Invesunent properties
pending completion. These funds are available immediately on demand

Restricted cash represents amcunts held for specific commitrments. tenant deposits and retention money held by lawyers in
relation to deferred payments subject to achievement of certain conditions, other retentions and cash segregated o fund repair,
mamtenance and improvement works 10 bring the praperties up to satisfactory standards for the Group and the tenants.

31 March 2022

31 March 2023 Restated
i e . ___fooo £ocg
Retentions® - 20 a0
Accruals 745 685
Dividend withholding tax payable 940 1,057
Deferred income 374 358
Amounts due to subsidiary companles 316,128 271,632
Tenant deposits held* 207 228

Ted o smaw 2400

* Comparatives have been re-analysed to correct the analysis of £228,000 of tenant deposits winch had previously been included in retentions.

Share capital represents the nominal value of consideration received by the Company for the 1ssue of Ordinary shares.

For the For the

year ended yearended

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

_ - - e _ £oog _£0a9g

Share capital

At beginning and end of year 6,225 0.225
. - -

For the Forthe

year ended year ended

__ 31March 2023 31 March 2022

Ordinary_sfiéres of EEI)I each
Al beginning and end of year

622461380 622461380

Dunng the year, the Company purchased 6.050,000 Ordinary shares to be held in treasury at a cost of £4.651.00C (31 March 2022
10,025,000 Ordinary shares {or £9.259 000}

During the previcus year, the Company reissued 565,000 Ordinary shares held in treasury for £647.000 The cost of purchasing
these shares into treasury of £484 000 has been credited to the capital reduction reserve with the gain credited to the share
premiurm reserve.

At 31 March 2023, the Company held 1€ 075.000 (31 March 2022: 10.025,000) Ordinary shares in treasury. The shares will continue
o be held in treasury untl erther reissued or cancellad.

At 31 March 2023, the number of Qrdinary shares used to calculate the net asset value per share 1s 606,386,380 (31 March 2022
612.4%6,380) which excludes the shares heldn treasury.
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements
Continued

The share premium reserve represents the amourits subscribed for Ordinary share capital in excess of nominal vaiue less
associated 1ssue costs of the subscriptions

For the For the

year ended year ended

Il March 2023 31 March 2022

. o L o o _7 ___EQga

At beginning of year 292,626 292462
Premium arising on shares _YEJSSUEd_ from treasury - 164
At enq of year 292.626 292.@_26

For movements in the year, please see detais in note 12.0

The capital reduction reserve is a distributable reserve o which the value of the cancelled share premium was transferred.
Pursuant to Article 3 of The Companies (Reduction of Share Capniali Order 2008, the balance held in the capital reduction
reserve 1s 10 be treated for the purposes of Part 23 of the Compares Act 2006 as a realised profit and therefore avatlable for
distnibution in accordance with section 83C of the Compantes Act. The Company has used this reserve for the costs of buying
back shares to be held in veasury.

Far the For the

year ended year ended
31 March 2023 3! March 2022
_£'000 E000

At beginning of year " 322365 331140
Shares reigsued from treasury - 484
Shares bought back into treasury (4,651) {92589)
At ;r;iﬂgm T T 17,714 5

For movements in the year please see detallsin note 120

B ' i PR

This reserve represents the profits and losses of the Company

For the Far the

year endead yearl ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022
'ono_ £000

At beginning of year (74,204) (61473
(Loss)/profit for the year {2,791) 21362
Dividends paid (34459} {34,093}

At end of year gl b

1454  (74.204}

TR, L LTLL0TRL T, 3. .0aR

As ar 31 March 2023, there 1s nc ulumate controlling party

S O R S
rta oW oLt AR D

For all related party transactions and transactions with the Investment Adviser please make reference to notes 301 and 30.2 of
the Group's consclidated financial statements and ameounts due tc subsidiary commpantes in note 116 ahave

P

Please refer 1o note 33.0 of the Grocup Consolidated financial statements on page 110.

T et

Since the year end, Civitas Sccial Heusing Jersey 1 Limited and Civitas Social Housing Jersey 2 Limited nhave 1ssued dividends to
the Cormpany weralling £10 246 GOC.
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Appendix 1 (unaudited): Notes to the calculation of EPRA and other

alternative performance measures

The Group has chosen 1o adopt EPRA best practice guidelines for calculating key alternative performance measures, Notes 1.0
to 7.0 support the EPRA metrics disclosed on pages 28 and 29 of the Report where the definition and purpese of each metric

are outlined.

Eérﬂln)gs from operationél activities
Frofir after taxation (£'000)

Change 1n fair value of denvauve financial instrurmnents (£'000)
Changes in value of investment properties (£000)
Costs of early repayment of debt (E'OOQ)

For the year

For the year

EPRA Earnings (£'000)

Weighied average rurnber of shares in issue adjusted for shares held in treasury)

EPRA Earnmings per share (EPS) — basic & diluted

31 March 2023
Net assets (£'00C)
Fair value of denvatuve financial instruments (E000)
Adjustment tc fair value for bank borrowings (£000)
NAV (£000) i T

Number of shares in 1ssue (adjusted for shared held 1n treasury)
NAV per share

31March 2022
Net assets (E'000)
Fair value of denvative Enancial instruments (E000)
Adjustment to fair value for bank borrowings (£0C0)
NAV (£000) T

Nurmber of shares in 1ssue {ad usted for shared held in treasury)
NAV per share

Inves(men?ﬁioper(g} (E'CCO)
Allowance for estimated purchasers costs (£060)

Gross up ;qmpleted propertif port{cho (E‘GOC)

ended ended

_ o -~ 51 March 2023 51 March 2022
25,472 44,754

2,826 (2.675)

(2.640) 12.269)

1,271 -

) 26929 29810
608552681 618797942

443p  482p

o o VEE;NET - EPRA Net EPR;X Net
Retnstarement Tangibie Dnsposal

. I _Value = Assets = Value
661,909 661,909 661,909

(8,129) (8,129) -

- - 11,736

- 653780 653780  673.645

606,386,380 606,386,380 606,386,380

Annualised net rents (£'0C0)
Add nonanal rent expiraticn of rent free pericds or other lease incenuves (£'060

Topped-up net annualsed rent (E_'OQ_‘C)

EPRA NIY
EPRA Toppgg-up NiY

107.82p 107.82p 111.09p
o i EPRA Net EFRA Net E-PRA Net
Reinstatement Tangible usposal
o Value _ Assets Value
673547 675.547 675547
12131) (2131 -
- T b4
- 673416 673416 £78.191
612436380  61243€38C 612436380
109.96p 109.96p 110.74p
________ o k‘Dr the _F(;_r--lha
yeai ended year ended
_ o _ 31 March 2923 31 March 2022
978,147 368,756
. /813 Sh4E
, 1038120 1025168
57,654 54091
57654 54091
5.55% 5.28%
5.55%

5.28%



Appendix 1 (unaudited): Notes to the calculation of EPRA and other
alternative performance measures

Continued
e 0 T
vear ended vear ended
I I — - . __ __ sMacchz025 3iMarch20z
Estimated Market Rental Value (ERV) of vacant spaces (£000) 10 -
Esumatﬁ@da_rket Rgncal Va_}ue (ERVJ of whole portfolio {(£'000) . N - EZ,GSi 54.090
EPRA Vacancy Rate 0.02% 0.00%
S T T T T T T T T T T T T T e rarme
year anded year ended

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
£000 £'000

Total éd\mimstrative and opéranng expeﬁses 11,BZT 10.247
Direct property expenses 1,941 978
Less property expenses recovered through rents (1,512 (995)
EPRA Costs (incluajn\gdirect vacanrcyc\osts)' - - =/ T IT%F 10,230
Direct vacancy costs - -
EPRA Costs (excluding direct vacancycosts) 12250 10230
Rental income 54,607 51636
Less rechargeable costs received (1,512) {995)
Gross rental income T T T T 7 7 T/ 77 7T 's3p98 s064
EPRA Cost Ratio (including direct vacancy costs) _ 2507% _ 2020%

23.07%  2026%

EPRA Cost Ratio (excluding direct vacancy costs)

The Group has not incurred any direct vacancy costs

J!1 March 2023 31 March 2022

o 7 o o £900 g0
Net Debt - S S '

Borrowings from financial institutions (E000) 367,925 357.080
Cash and cash equivalents (£000) (35.588) (53337

332,337 303713

Total Propetty Value
Investment properties at fair value (E'000) 953,364 945237
Net receivables (£600) 26,743 26892

980.107 972129

3391%  3124%

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
! ~ £'00¢

Net receivables comprises

Other receivables 24,783 23.519
Trade and ather receivables 11,260 12,865
Less trade and other payabiles _{9.300) (9492

26,743 268392

Total

g
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Appendix 1 (unaudited): Notes to the calculation of EPRA and other

alternative performance measures
Continued

Eomponents of Net Assets used in EPRA LTV calculation
Investment properues at fair value

Net receivabies

Cash and cash equivalents

Less borrowings from financial institutions
Net assets used in the EPRA LTV calculation
Less amounts excluded from rthe calculation

Interest rate derivatuves
Unamortused loan issue costs
Net assets

Acquisiucns including incidental costs of purchase

Develcpment
Investment properties
Incremental lettable space
Enhancing lettable space
Tenant incenuves
Other matenal non-allocated types of expenditure

Total Capital Expenditurerdn a cash basi;

The Group has not capitalised any overhead or cperaling expenses

The Group has no Joint Ventures so there 1s ne joint venture property to disclcse 1n the above table

31 March 2023
.. _ED90

31 March 2023
~ “e'age

543

4,944

1,700
7187
(597

. 6390

31 March 2022

£000_
953,364 943237
26,743 26892
35,588 53,337
(367,925)  (357.050)
647,770 668.416
8,129 2,131
6,010 5,000
661.909 67757.547
- ‘.‘:ar r‘he For the
year ended year ended

31 March 2022
o
33466

5,818
1614

T40898
) 1.312
42210



Appendix 1 (unaudited): Notes to the calculation of EPRA and other
alternative performance measures

Continued

This is the annual growth rate. based on growth in net asset value per share since launch and dividends paid to

Ordinary shareholders.

__ $IMasch 2023

31 March 2027

NAV per share 109.1600p 110.3000p
31 May 2017 Intenm dividend 0.7500p 1.7500n
31 August 2017 Interim dividend 0.7500p 0.7500p
30 November 2017 Interim dividend 0.7500p 0.7500p
9 March 2018 Intenm dividend 0.7500p 0.7500p
8 June 2018 Interim dividend 1.2500p 1.2500p
7 September 2018 Interim dividend 1.2500p 1.25G00w
30 November 2018 Interirn dividend 1.2500p 1.2500p
11 January 2019 Interim dividend 1.1100p 1.1100p
28 February 2019 [nterim dividend 0.1400p 0.1400pn
7 June 2019 Interim dividend 13250p 1.3250p
6 September 2019 Interim dividend 1.3250p 13250p
29 November 2018 Interirn chvidend 1.3250p 1.3250p
28 February 2020 Intenim dividend 1.3250p 13250p
12 June 2020 Intenim dividend 1.3250p 1.3250p
7 Septembper 2020 Intenm dividend 1.3500p 1.3500p
4 Decemnber 2020 Interim dividend 1.3500p 1.3500p
1 March 2021 Interim dividend 1.3500p 1.3500p
11 June 2021 [ntenm dividend 1.3500p 1.3500p
10 September 2021 Intenm dividend 1.3875p 13875p
13 December 2021 Interim dividend 1.3875p 13875p
11 March 2022 Interim dividend 1.3875p 1.3875p
28 June 2022 Interim dividend 1.3875p -
9 September 2022 Interim dividend 1.4250p -
9 Decernber 2022 Interim dividend 1.4250p -
11 March 2023 Interim drvidend 1.4250p -
135.0100p 134.4875p

NAV per share at launch 98.0000p $8.0000p
6.29% 6.63%

Levefed [ER
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Five Year Financial Results

For the For the Farthe For the For the

vear ended year ended year ended year ended yeat ended

. - o 31 Marchg?l.ﬂﬂ[;ﬁ k14 Maxchf?l.gUZé. kS Marck-\gijugié T Marchg_gag 31 jiﬂzl]?ctg
Revenue ' o
Rental income 54 607 51636 49,020 46,165 35738
Less direct property expenses o (1,941} {978) {1175} {259) -
Netrentalincome 52666 50658 47845 45906 35738
Directors remuneration (211D (206) (198} (176) (163}
Investment advisory fees {6,217 {6,132) B0 {6,187 (€6.457)
General and administirative expenses ) (5.393) (3.909) (3183) (3,501 (3,022)
Totalexpenses sy aoa1y)  s4ss 985D | (3642
Change in fatr value of iInvestment properues 2.640 12,269 5,51 9,389 3.652
Operating Profit ) S "7 43485 52680 43858 45435 29748
Finance income - T was 7 2w 1o a3
Finance expenses - relating to bank borrowings {15,335) (10,608) (7759 {7,342} (3,975}
Finance expenses - relating to C share amorusation - - - - (6.400)
Change 1n fair value of interest rate derivatves (2,826) 2675 (66) (478} -
Profit befare tax S ' o 25472 44734 36075 37725 19.864
Taxation - - -
Profit being total comprehensive income 25472 44754 36075 37725 19864
Earnings per share - basic 4.15p 7.23p 580p 6.06p 4€7p
Earnings per share - diluted 4.19p 7.23p 5580p 6.06p 422p
Dividend declared (per share) 5.70p 5.55p 5.40p 330p 5.C0p

CIVITAS SOCIAL HOUSING PLC
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Five Year Financial Results

Continued
T T T T - o 31 March 22!23ﬁ 31 M;rc;lE 7 3 March 2021\31 Ma;ch zuznirﬁ;cn 2019
L0000 . £nno £nnn . £ 00
Assets T T T T S
Non-current assets
Investment property 953,364 945237 B33 684 867988 820,094
Other receivables 24,783 23519 21905 10,755 5.824
Interest rate derivatives 8,129 2131 - - -

o 986276 970887 915589 878745 826918

Non-current assets

Trade and other recelvables 11,260 12,865 12.821 10.838 5723
Cash and cash egquivalents 35,588 53,337 107,097 58,374 54,347

- T T T T aesas 66202 19918 69212 60070
Total assets T T T T T 1033424 1037085 1035507 947.955 286988
Liabilities

Current liahilities

Trade and other payables (9,300) (9,492} {9,345) {7.743) (15,324)
Bank and loan borrowings - - (59.937) {59.,730) ~
- ’ T T T T T T U e300 (9492)  (69.282) (67473 (15324
Non-current liabilities

Bank and lcan borrowings (361,915}  (352.050) (292.183F  (209.440) (205156}
Interest rate denvanves - - {544} (478) -
ST T T T T T (361918) (352050) (292727 (209.538)  (205.156)

Total Liabilities T (371215)  (361542)  (352009) (277391 (220.480)

Total net assets _ 661909 675547 573498  670.564 666508

Assets

Share capial 6,225 6,225 £.225 6225 6,225
Share premium reserve 292.626 292 626 292,463 292,405 292,405
Caputal reducton reserve 317,714 322,365 331,140 330,826 331625

45,344 54,331 43.670 41.008 36,253

Retalned earnings

Total equity 661,909 675547 673498 670564 666,508
Net assets per share — hasic 109.16p 110.30p 108 30p 1C7 87p 107.08p
Net assets per share - diluted 109.16p 110.30p 108.30p 107 87p 107.08p
Share price 53.70p 8740p 107.80p $6.40p 56.00p
Total shareholder return {on a NAV basis) 41.84% 3723% 29.56% 23.64% 17.45%
Leverage 35.61% 24.43% 34 48% 2680% 22.00%
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Shareholder Information

Share Information

The Company's Ordinary shares of 1p each are quoted

on the Official List of the FCA and traded on the premiurn
segrnent of the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange
(L3E).

SEDOL number BD8HBD3

ISIN GBOOBD8HBED32 B
Ticker/TIDM  CSH L
LEl 213800PGBGB4J8CGMEEIS

Frequency of NAV Publication

The Company's NAV is released to the LSE on a quarterly
basis and published on the Company's website:
www civitassocialhousing.corm.

Sources of Further Information

Copies of the Company’'s Annual and Half-Yearly Reports,
Stock Exchange announcements and further information
on the Company can be obtained from its website:

www clvitassocialhousing.com.

Share Register Enquiries

The register for the Company's Ordinary shares 1s
maintained py Link Group. In the event of queries
regarding your holding, please contact the Registrar

on 0371 664 0300 (calls are charged at the standard
geographic rate and will vary by provider; calls outside
the UK will be charged at the applicable internaticnal
rate). Lines are open between 9.00am and 530pm,
Monday to Fniday. excluding pubiic holidays in England
and Wales. You can also email enguines@linkgroup co.uk.

Changes of name and/or address must be notified in
writing to the Registrar Link Group, Central Square,
29 Wellington Street, Leeds L514DL

Key Dates

the 71711\@331 results agogn'cied o ) -
. _ Payment cﬁﬁ)urtﬂ@terim dl\{lcji;j 7:

September ~ Companyshalf-yearend =

i ___ Annualgeneralmeetng

7 ~ Payment of firstinterim dividend

December Half-yearly re$ﬁan£1;ced ' - 7

S Payment of second 1nterim dividend

February Payment of third L@m dwadepf

March ~ _  Companys year end i

Association of Investment Companies

The Company is a member of the AIC. which

publishes staristical information in respect of

member companies. The AIC can be contacted on

020 7282 5555, enquiries@thealc.co.uk o1 visit the website:
www.theaiccouk

Electronic Communications from

the Company

Shareholders now have the opportunity to he notified by
email when the Company's Annual Repert, Half-Yeariy
Report and other formal communications are available
on the Company's website, instead of receiving printed
copies by post. This has environmental benefits in the
reduction of paper, printing, energy and water usage, as
well as reducing costs to the Company.

If you have not already elected to receive electronic
communications from the Company and wish to do so,
please contact the Registrar.




Glossary

AJIFM means the Alternative Investment Fund Manager.

AIFMD means the Alternative Investment Fund Managers
Regulations 2013 (a5 amended by The Alternative
Investment Fund Managers (Amendment etc.) (EU Exit)
Regulations 2019) and the Investment Funds Sourcebook
forming part of the FCA Handbook.

ALMO means an arm’s length management organisation,
a not-for-profit company that provides housing services
on behalf of a local autherity.

Alternative Performance Measures (APMs) means a
financial measure of histcrical financial performance,
financial position, or cash flows, other than a financial
measure defined or specified in the applicable financial
reporting framework

Annual contracted rent roll means the annual
contractual rental income currently receivable gn a
property as at the Balance Sheet date.

Approved Provider means Approved Providers, local
authorities, ALMOs, Community Interest Companies,
Registered Charities and other regulated organisations
directly or indirectly in receipt of payment from local or
central government including the NHS.

Care Provider means a provider of care services 1o the
occupants of Specialist Supported Housing. registered
with the Care Quality Commussion.

CIM means Civitas Investment Management Limited or
CIM (formerly known as Civitas Housing Advisors Limited
until its change of narne on 7 May 2020).

Community Interest Company ot CIC means a
company approved by the Otffice of the Regulator of
Community Interest Companies as a community interest
company and registered as such with Companies House.

Company means Civitas Social Housing PLC, a company
incorperated in England and Wales with company
number 10402528,

CMA Order means the Statutory Audit Services Order
2014, issued by the Competition and Markets Authority.

Current Leverage means the percentage taken as total
bank borrowings drawn over total assets.

Dividend Yield means the ratio of total annual dividends
deciared for the financial year over market price per
share.

EPRA neans the FEuropean Public Real Estate Association.

EPRA EPS 1s the EPRA earnings divided by the weighted
averadge number of shares in issue 1n the penod.

EPRA LTV is the EPRA lcan to value ratio calculated as
debt net of cash balances divided by the market value
of property {including net receivables) as defined in the
EPRA Best Practice Guidelines.

EPRA Net Initial Yield (“EPRA NIY") is calculated as
the annualised rentzal income based on the cash rents
passing at the balance sheet date less non-recoverable
property operating expenses, divided by the gross
market value of the property.

EPRA Net Reinstatement Value (“EPRA NRV™) 1s an
EPRA NAV metric which assurnes that entities never sell
assets and aims to represent the value reguired to rebuild
the entity

EPRA Net Tangible Assets (“EPRA NTA”) is an EPRA
NAV metric which assumes that entities buy and sell
asgsety, therehy crystallising certain levels of unavoidable
deferred tax.

EPRA Net Disposal Value (“EPRA NDV”) is an EFRA

NAV metric which represents the sharehclders value
under a disposal scenario, where deferred tax, financiai
instruments and certain other adjustments are calculated
to the full extent of their liabiiity, net of any resuflting fax.

Gross Asset Value means total assets.
Group means the Company and !is subsidiaries.

Housing Association or HA means an independent
society. body of trustees or company established for
the purpcse of providing low-caost social housing for
people In housing need generally on a non-profit
making basis. Any trading surplus is typically used tc
maintain existing homes and to help finance new ones.
Housing Associations are regulated by the Regulator of
Social Housing.

Investment Adviser means Civitas [nvestment
Management Limited ("CIM"), a company incorporated in
England and Wales with company number 10278444, in its
capacity as investment adviser to the Company.
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IPO means initial Public Offering.

IRR means internal rate of return.

Levered IRR means the internal rate of return including
the impagt of debt.

Local Authority or LA means the administrative bodies
for the local government in England comprising 326
authorities (including 32 London boroughs).
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Glossary
Continued

Net Asset Value or NAV means the net asset value of the
Group on the relevant date, prepared in accordance with
IFRS accounting principles.

Net Initial Yield rmeans the ratic of net rental income
and gross purchase price of a property.

NHS means the publicly funded healthcare system of
the United Kingdom comprising The National Health
Service in England, NHS Scotland, NHS Wales and Health
and Social Care 1n Northern Ireland, including, for the
aveoidance of doubt, NHS Trusts.

NHS Trust means a legal entity, set up by order of the
Secretary of State under section 25 of, and Schedule 4 10,
the National Health Service Act 2006, to provide goods
and services for the purposes of the health service.

Ongoing Charges means the figure published annually
by the Company which shows the drag on performance
caused by operationai expenses. More specifically, 1t 1s
the annual percentage reduction in shareholder returns
as a result of recurring operational expenses assuming
rmarkets remain static and the portfolio is not traded.
Although the Ongeing Charges figure is based on
historical information, it provides shareholders with an
indication of the Hkely level of costs that will be incurred
in rnanaging the Company in the future

Portfalio means the Group's portfolio of assets.

Portfolio Valuation means an independent valuation of
the Portfolio by Jones Lang LaSalle Limited or such other
property adviser as the Directors may select from time

to ume, based upon the Portfolio keing held, directly or
indirectly, within a corporate vehicle or equivalent entity
which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and
otherwise prepared 1n accordance with RICS "Red Book™
guidelines

REIT means a qualifying real estate investment trust in
accordance with the UK REIT Regime imroduced by the
UK Finance Act 2006 and subsequently re-wrtten into
Part 12 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010

RICS means Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors

RSH means the Regulator of Social Housing. the
executive nopn-depanmental public body, sponsored
by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government, which is the regulator for Social Homes
providers in England and Wales.

Social homes or social housing means social rented
homes and cther accommodation that are offered at
rents subsidised below market level or are constituents
of other appropriate rent regimes such as exempt rents
or are subject to bespoke agreement with entities such as
NHS Trusts and are provided by Approved Providers.

Specialist Supported Housing or SSH means social
housing which incorporates some form of care or cther
ancillary service on the premises.

SPV means special purpose vehicle, a corporate vehicle
in which the Group's propetrties are held.

Target Return means the target return on investment.

Total Return means Net Total Return, being the change
in NAV over the relevant period plus dividend paid

Total Shareholder Return means a measure of the
return based upon share price movement over the penod
plus dividend paid.

Valuation means an independent valuation of the
Portfolio by Jones Lang LaSalle Limited or such other
property adviser as the Directors may select from
time to tme, prepared in accordance with RICS "Red
Book” guidelines and based upon a valuation of each
underlying investrment property rather than the value
ascribed to the portfolio and on the assumption of

a theoretical sale of each property rather than the
corporate entities in which all of the Company's
investment properties are held

WAULT or “Weighted Average Unexpired Lease Term”
1s the product of annual contracted rent 1oll at peniod end
and the time in years to when the lease expires for each
glven lease, sumimed across leases, and then divided by
the total annual contracted rent roil of the portfolio. The
result is expressed in years WAULT is a key measure of
1the quality of tne Company's portfolio Long lease terms
underpin the secunty of the Company's Income stream.
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